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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors”) (the “Board”) of
Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), | present
to you the audited consolidated final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2020 (the “Year”).

For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$127,989,000 (2019: approximately HK$75,625,000) and
gross profit of approximately HK$52,214,000 (2019: approximately
HK$31,083,000) but net loss of approximately HK$24,604,000 (2019:
profit of approximately HK$28,843,000) respectively. The Board does
not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year (2019: Nil).

Loss of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$24,604,000
(2019: profit of approximately HK$28,843,000), representing a
downturn of approximately HK$53,447,000 as compared with
last year. The downturn was mainly due to net effect of change in
fair value and gain arising from modification of convertible bond
designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") approximately HK$71,443,000 (2019: approximately
HK$29,373,000); change in fair value of contingent consideration
receivables of approximately HK$3,009,000 (2019: Nil); the
decrease of exchange loss of approximately HK$4,672,000 (2019:
approximately HK$6,175,000); the increase of gross profit by
approximately HK$21,131,000; the increase in the finance costs of
approximately HK$5,988,000 (2019: approximately HK$964,000);
the increase of administrative and other operating expenses by
approximately HK$20,723,000; the concurrence of a supplemental
resources fee of approximately HK$85,688,000 in current year
(2019: Nil) and the impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$3,831,000 (2019: Nil).
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For the Year, the Group was engaged in three business segments,
(1) coal mining business; (2) renewable energy business; and (3)
information technology (“IT”) services business. Our main business is
coal mining and sales of coal in Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region
(“Xinjiang”) of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Xinjiang
is remote from major industrial cities in the PRC, and hence coal
produced in Xinjiang is mainly consumed locally due to the logistic
and the transportation costs. On 8 October 2018, we completed the
acquisition of NEFIN Leasing Technologies Limited and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, NEFIN Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (“NEFIN
Technologies”) (together the “NEFIN Group”) which is principally
engaged in renewable energy solutions in Malaysia. We further
allocated resources into the solar energy projects during the Year
so as to enable higher efficiency together with the existing solar
assets. On 28 April 2019, we further completed the acquisition of
Harbour Group Holdings Limited (“Harbour Group Holdings”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Harbour Group”) which is principally
engaged in the provision of information technology outsourcing,
consultancy and technical services mainly in Hong Kong with
expanding business in the United Kingdom (“UK”), Malaysia and
Singapore. Our Group will continue our focus on developing the
existing business. In the long run, we will aspire and strive to grow into
an enterprise with a diversified business.

Acquisition of the New Mining Right of the Enlarged
Kaiyuan Mine

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 11
November 2011, 21 March 2012, 15 June 2012, 21 March 2014,
15 August 2017, 28 March 2018, 14 December 2018, 31 December
2018, 15 May 2019, 31 May 2019, 4 November 2019 and 15
November 2019, the Group was in negotiation with the Department
of Natural Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region* (¥7 584
BB AR B AREIREE) of the PRC (the “Xinjiang Natural Resources
Department”) regarding the Optimization and Upgrading Plan’ relating
to the Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”) (i.e. the
operating coal mine of the Group in Xinjiang), in particular, to increase
the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine and obtain the corresponding
new mining right.
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Acquisition of the New Mining Right of the Enlarged
Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

As announced by the Company on 6 December 2019 and 16 March
2020,

()  Mulei County Kai Yuan Coal Company Limited* (/K& &% 3lR
HEIRERETAR]) (“Kaiyuan Company”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as the transferee and
Xinjiang Natural Resources Department as the transferor
entered into the transfer agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”)
dated 2 December 2019, pursuant to which Kaiyuan Company
acquired the new mining right (the “New Mining Right”) of
the Kaiyuan Mine with an enlarged mining area (including the
original mining area of approximately 1.1596 km?) of 4.1123
km? in Xinjiang (the “Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine”) for 30 years
from August 2019 to August 2049 from the Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department to conduct mining activities at the
Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine at a consideration of Renminbi (‘RMB”)
160,978,000 (the “Acquisition”);

(i) the estimated coal resources of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine are
41.6433 million tonnes for the mining life of 30 years under the
Transfer Agreement;

(i) the new mining permit (the “New Mining Permit”) in respect
of the New Mining Right with mining term of 1 year from 21
December 2018 to 21 December 2019 regarding the New
Mining Right was granted to Kaiyuan Company on 3 November
2018, which has been renewed for two years from 21
December 2019 to 21 December 2021;

(iv)  Kaiyuan Company has the right to apply for the renewal of New
Mining Permit for the remaining period of the New Mining Right
under the Transfer Agreement;

(v)  the consideration of RMB160,978,000 shall be settled in
cash and paid by Kaiyuan Company to the Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department in fifteen instalments: (a) the first
instalment in an amount of RMB32,200,000 was paid by
Kaiyuan Company; (b) the second to fourteenth instalments
in an amount of RMB9,200,000 each shall be paid before 20
November of every year from 2020 to 2032; and (c) the last
instalment in an amount of RMB9,178,000 shall be paid before
20 November 2033;

g

R AEURENR 2 # ERIRE (&)

HWARAR=E-NET=ARAR=E
“EEZATRRRA

)

(i)

(i)

(V)

AAREE2EWNBRTRZEIIR
HrBREEAR(IRARL) (EA
XEA)EMEAARERE(EAHLE
F)EvASMA—E—NE+-_A=H
ZERE (T HEBE]) - Bt - 8l
BRARIMEBREREKENRE
R HTE 2 AR AIERE (B RBE A
1.1596F AR )4.1123F R E ([ 4
BRIRIEE |) 2 s ([ g
) FEHR-_Z-hAENARES
SEUAFNALEAR=1TF  URE
BEABRREBETHREES  REA
AR ([ AR¥ 1)160,978,0007T ([ Uk
BEHE])

B HE =% - SLI0FE RS M
T RBEANFEEE BT REER
(RIBFREE) A41,643,3000F

JREABR_E—N\F+—A=HE
BB SRR 2 R A B (L
HEfraE ) (ARBEEA-ZZ—N
F+-_A-+—BRBE-_ZT—HF
+—A-+—RHIAH—F) ZHF
AEEEEMT BH_ZT—hLF+=
A-+—HEE-_ZT-_—F+=-A
“+—HILtE:

RIFEHEGZ - SURR A BERIIR
TEhE 2 8 T HIR R BB R IR AR T ]

.

g

KRB A R 160,978,000 7T # A
BRI THHERAFEA RAERE
UIREEN  @F " HaBBARE
32,200,0007CHEVRA R (o) 5B
ZE+HHT S ARY9,200,000
TR BT FE T = —FHH
BFE+—AZ+HXHN : Kok
— e AR, 178,000 LR ==
==%t+—A-t+8mxH:



Acquisition of the New Mining Right of the Enlarged

Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(vi)  the Acquisition constituted a very substantial acquisition for the
Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
and further information on the Acquisition will be disclosed in the
circular to be despatched by the Company; and

(vil as part of the Transfer Agreement, Kaiyuan Company
is required to pay a supplemental resources fee of
RMB76,502,500 (the “Resources Fee”) to the Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department for 19.8 million tonnes of coal of
Kaiyuan Mine, which represented the difference between the
accumulated output of 23.65 million tonnes of the Kaiyuan Mine
at the end of 2017 and the output of 3.8819 million tonnes
(Resources Fee of such output had been paid by Kaiyuan
Company to the Xinjiang Natural Resources Department).
Based on the advice given by the legal adviser of the Company
as to the laws of the PRC, other than the payment of the
Resources Fee, Kaiyuan Company will not be subject to any
fees relating to the original Kaiyuan Mine pursuant to the terms
of the Transfer Agreement.

Temporary Suspension of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 20
December 2019 and 16 March 2020, the sales and operation of
the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine has been temporarily suspended since
21 December 2019 (the “Temporary Suspension”) due to the expiry
of the New Mining Permit on 21 December 2019 and the delay in
renewal of the New Mining Permit.

The New Mining Permit was renewed in March 2020 but the
resumption application has not been approved by the Production
Safety Supervision and Administration Bureau* (% & 4 E 85 B & 12 f5)
of the Xinjiang Zhundong Economic and Technological Development
Zone* (B RABEFMIFER) as at the date of this annual
report due to the rectification in progress in fulflment of the safety
requirements.

In light of the above, the Company wishes to inform shareholders and
potential investors of the Company that the Temporary Suspension
would have a negative impact on the financial results of the Group for
the first half of the financial year 2020/2021.

The Company will closely monitor the progress of resumption
application. The Company will make further announcement(s) as and
when necessary.

# “Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Management Restructuring Plan” in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 November 2011 and in the announcements, notices, circulars,
interim reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.
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Acquisition of shares and subscription of new shares in
Harbour Group Holdings

References are made to announcements of the Company dated 11
March 2019 and 23 April 2019 and the circular of the Company dated
1 April 2019 in relation to the acquisition of shares and subscription of
new shares in Harbour Group Holdings.

On 11 March 2019, (i) Ample Talent Ventures Limited (“Ample Talent”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with an independent third party (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which
the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, and Ample Talent has
conditionally agreed to purchase 80% shareholding interest in
Harbour Group Holdings at a consideration of HK$35,712,000 (the
“Harbour Group Acquisition”); and (i) Ample Talent and Harbour
Group Holdings entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant
to which Harbour Group Holdings has conditionally agreed to issue
and allot to Ample Talent, and Ample Talent conditionally agreed
to subscribe for 450 ordinary shares of Harbour Group Holdings,
representing approximately 4.5% of the total number of shares
of Harbour Group Holdings in issue as at the date of subscription
agreement at an aggregate subscription price (the “Subscription
Price”) of HK$2,008,800 (the “Subscription”). The Company indirectly
interests in 80.86% shares of Harbour Group Holdings in issue upon
completion of the Harbour Group Acquisition and Subscription on 23
April 2019.

The consideration for the Harbour Group Acquisition has been settled
in cash of HK$28,512,000 by Ample Talent to the Vendor and the
remaining amount of HK$7,200,000 by means of the issue of the
three promissory notes (“Promissory Note(s)”), each in the principal
amount of HK$2,400,000 by the Company to the Vendor. The
Subscription Price has been settled in cash.
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Acquisition of shares and subscription of new shares in
Harbour Group Holdings (continued)

Harbour Group consists of Harbour Group Holdings, Harbour Group
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Limited,
HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd., Mountain Managed Cloud Consulting
Limited and Vanguard Business Services Limited. Harbour Group is
principally engaged in the provision of IT outsourcing, consultancy
and technical services mainly in Hong Kong with expanding business
in the UK, Malaysia and Singapore. The Directors are of the view that
the Harbour Group Acquisition and the Subscription can broaden the
Group’s revenue base and benefit from the diversified return in future.
The Harbour Group Acquisition and the Subscription constituted
a business combination and had been accounted for using the
acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Vendor agreed
to guarantee that the audited consolidated net profit generated from
operating activities of the Harbour Group in its ordinary and usual
course of business, prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (the “Net
Profit”), for the years ended or ending 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”),
31 December 2019 (“FY2019”) and 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”,
and each such 12-month period, a “PG 12-Month Period”) shall be
no less than HK$7,200,000 per annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In
the event that the Net Profit during the each PG 12-Month Period
is less than the Guaranteed Profit, the Vendor unconditionally and
irrevocably undertakes and guarantees, as a continuing obligation, to
pay the shortfall multiplied by the ratio of 1.13 to the Group by way of
cash and/or setting off the same amount from the amount owed by
the Company under the Promissory Note(s) issued to the Vendor.

The profit guarantee for FY2018 was met but the profit guarantee
for FY2019 was not fulfilled. As disclosed in the announcement
dated 7 April 2020, the shortfall for FY2019 profit guarantee equals
to HK$2,187,091 (rounded to the nearest dollar). Such amount has
been deducted from the Promissory Note in the principal amount of
HK$2,400,000 and the outstanding amount of HK$212,909 (i.e. after
deduction of the shortfall amount) of the Promissory Note has been
paid to the Vendor as at the date of this annual report.
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The Group has been actively proceeding with the Optimization and
Upgrading Plan since 2011 in relation to the New Mining Right of the
Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine. The acquisition of the New Mining Right of the
Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine in December 2019 has substantially enlarged
the Group’s coal resources and will allow the Group to increase the
annual production volume to a range of 0.9 million tonnes to 1.2
million tonnes, ten times or more of the existing production capacity
of Kaiyuan Mine. The Directors consider that the transaction is in line
with the Group’s strategy to expand the coal mining business of the
Group.

In the coming year, there will be (i) a reasonable expected amount
of expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the new plants and
machines for the environmental protection remedial works and (ii)
substantial expenditure for works required by the Production Safety
Supervision and Administration Bureau to improve safety standard
of our coal mine. Sources of funding are expected to come primarily
from the coal sales revenue and also external banking facilities of the
Group.

In addition to coal mining, the Group has been exploring new markets
and seeking to extend its business coverage on technological and
renewable energy sectors, in particular, the acquisition of Harbour
Group in 2019 and NEFIN Group in 2018. It is one of the objectives of
the Group to diversify its business portfolio into sectors offering higher
growth momentum.

Due to the recent social and political instability in Hong Kong and the
outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) worldwide, we
are facing the most difficult business environment, which negatively
impact the growth of our business. In particular IT services business in
Hong Kong is expected to be hit hard by the prolonged social unrest
and subsistance of the coronavirus disease in Hong Kong.

The Board will continue to keep track of the latest development of
the COVID-19 and will use its best endeavors to manage the Group’s
business portfolio with a view to improving the Group’s financial
performance and enhance shareholders’ value.
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| wish to thank my fellow directors, management and staff for their
unrelentless efforts for the business development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees and business
partners for their continuing support of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2020

* English translation for identification purpose only.
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Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$127,989,000
for the Year (2019: approximately HK$75,625,000). It represents an
increase of approximately HK$52,364,000 or approximately 69.24%
as compared with the previous year.

Coal Mining Business

During the Year, the revenue of approximately HK$73,910,000 of the
coal mining business decreased by approximately HK$1,324,000 or
approximately 1.76% as compared to approximately HK$75,234,000
last year. The decrease in revenue of the coal mining business was
mainly due to the reason that the Group sold approximately 1,037,492
tonnes (2019: approximately 1,764,591 tonnes) of coal during the Year,
decreased by approximately 41.20% in volume compared to that in the
previous year.

Renewable Energy Business

During the Year, the renewable energy business recorded a turnover
of approximately HK$775,000 (2019: approximately HK$391,000).
The increase in revenue of the renewable energy business was mainly
due to the acquisition of such business segment in the previous
financial year which accounted for approximately half year time
coverage.

IT Services Business
During the Year, the IT services business contributed a revenue of
approximately HK$53,304,000 (2019: Nil).

Cost of services and goods sold

The cost of sales of the coal mining business for the Year
was approximately HK$31,765,000 (2019: approximately
HK$44,367,000). The cost mainly comprises direct labor cost, cost
for explosive works, depreciation, amortisation and cost of services
and materials, etc. The decrease in cost of sales was largely in
line with the decrease in sales volume of coal during the Year as
compared with the previous financial year.
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Cost of services and goods sold (continued)

During the Year, the cost of services of the renewable energy business
is approximately HK$306,000 (2019: approximately HK$175,000).

During the Year, the cost of services of the IT services business is
approximately HK$43,704,000 (2019: Nil).

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the Year increased to approximately
HK$52,214,000 (2019: approximately HK$31,083,000). It represents
an increase of approximately HK$21,131,000 or approximately
67.98% and gross profit margin decreased by approximately
0.31% for the Year to approximately 40.80% as compared with
last financial year. Coal mining business contributed approximately
HK$42,145,000 (2019: approximately HK$30,867,000), IT services
business contributed approximately HK$9,600,000 (2019: Nil) and
renewable energy business contributed approximately HK$469,000
(2019: HK$216,000).

Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue for the Year was approximately
HK$5,833,000 (2019: approximately HK$10,438,000), representing a
decrease of approximately HK$4,605,000 or approximately 44.12%
as compared with last financial year. This was mainly due to decrease
in interest income on bank deposits by around HK$1,158,000
and decrease in net income from selling coal gangue (E4FA) by
approximately HK$3,668,000.

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
Year was approximately HK$49,411,000 (2019: approximately
HK$28,688,000), representing an increase of approximately
HK$20,723,000 or approximately 72.24% as compared with the
previous year. This was mainly due to additional salaries and bonus
of approximately HK$6,684,000 derived from the newly acquired IT
services business during the Year.
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Loss for the Year

Loss of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$24,604,000
(2019: profit of approximately HK$28,843,000), representing a
downturn of approximately HK$53,447,000 as compared with last
year. The downturn was mainly due to net effect of change in fair value
and gain arising from modification of convertible bond designated
as financial liabilities at FVPL approximately HK$71,443,000 (2019:
approximately HK$29,373,000); change in fair value of contingent
consideration receivables of approximately HK$3,009,000 (2019:
Nil); the decrease of exchange loss of approximately HK$4,672,000
(2019: approximately HK$6,175,000); the increase of gross profit
by approximately HK$21,131,000 as explained above; the increase
in the finance costs of approximately HK$5,988,000 (2019:
approximately HK$964,000); the increase of administrative and
other operating expenses by approximately HK$20,723,000 as
explained above; the concurrence of a supplemental resources fee
of approximately HK$85,688,000 in current year (2019: Nil) and the
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$3,831,000 (2019:
Nil).

The Company completed the acquisition of 51% and 49% equity
interest in Star Fortune International Investment Company Limited,
which is the beneficial owner of the mining rights and the related fixed
assets of the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Coal Mining Assets”), on 3 July 2009
and 16 August 2010 respectively (details of which were respectively
set out in the circulars of the Company dated 12 June 2009 and 27
July 2010 and announcements of the Company dated 3 July 2009
and 17 August 2010) (the “Acquisitions”).

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment refers to the amount of impairment loss recognised in
respect of the Coal Mine Assets. No impairment loss on intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment incurred during the Year
(2019: Nil).
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Loss for the Year (continued)

The Company conducted valuation of the Coal Mining Assets every
financial year after the Acquisitions in compliance with the relevant
accounting policies. The Company has engaged ValQuest Advisory
Group Limited as its independent professional valuer for the purpose
of assessing the value of the Coal Mining Assets as at 31 March 2020.
The valuation was based on value-in-use basis, which is defined as
the present value of the future cash flow expected to be derived from
the Coal Mining Assets. When conducting the valuation, the valuer
has taken into account factors including but not limited to selling
prices and sales volume of coal, production cost and other expenses,
capital expenditure, production plan and discount rate, the current
conditions of the market and the Company and estimated trend in the
future, etc.

The table below sets out the sales volume, selling prices and gross
revenue of different types of coal of the Company for the Year as
compared with the year ended 31 March 2019:

1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020

1 Apri 2018 to 31 March 2019
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Loss for the Year (continued)

The market demand for coal had been persistently decreased
in recent years due to a decrease in large scale industrial and
infrastructure projects and promotion of the use of clean energy by
the PRC government, however due to the high demand of slack coal
and weathered coal, we focused on selling slack coal and weathered
coal during the Year and the gross sales revenue increased more than
double of previous year.

The production cost and other expenses of coal per ton remain
constant as applied by the valuer. The valuation methodology in
arriving at the discount rates as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 was
consistent. The post-tax discount rates adopted were 16.40% and
14.60% respectively as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 and the pre-
tax discount rates adopted were 21% and 22% respectively as at 31
March 2020 and 2019. The slight change in post-tax discount rates
was due to the change in market data and parameters adopted in the
calculation of discount rate as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were as
follows:
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Loss for the Year (continued)

Major assumptions adopted by the valuer in the valuation of the Coal
Mining Assets include:

a. the resource estimates for Kaiyuan Mine sourced from a
technical report as at 27 June 2010 prepared by John T.
Boyd Company and certain engineering survey reports can
reasonably reflect the reserve status of Kaiyuan Mine;

b.  the coal prices for the projection period were estimated by the
Directors with reference to the historical stability of the coal
price;

C. economic conditions will not deviate significantly from the
projections regarding the production schedule, selling volume,
operating expenses and capital expenditure provided by the
Directors;

d.  the mining permit of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine was renewed for
a period of 2 years from 21 December 2019 to 21 December
2021;

e.  the risk free rate adopted was the yield rate of the long term
China Government Bond as at 31 March 2020 as extracted
from Bloomberg.

The valuation report showed that the value-in-use of the Coal Mining
Assets as at 31 March 2020 approximates its carrying amount.

The valuation report and the value-in-use were assessed and
reviewed by the Directors.
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Loss for the Year (continued)

The zero coupon convertible bond (the “Convertible Bond”) of the
Company in the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 was issued on
14 March 2008 with a conversion price of HK$0.2 per share (subject
to adjustments) and maturity date of 17 March 2011 (details of which
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 28 January
2008 and 14 March 2008).

The maturity date of the Convertible Bond was then extended to 13
March 2014, 13 March 2017, 13 March 2020, and further extended
to 13 March 2023 (details of which were respectively set out in the
circulars of the Company dated 21 February 2011, 13 February 2014,
16 February 2017 and 24 February 2020 and announcements of the
Company dated 11 March 2011, 10 March 2014, 7 March 2017 and
11 March 2020).

As at the date of this annual report, the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bond is HK$200,000,000.
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Loss for the Year (continued)

The Company conducted valuation for the fair value of the Convertible
Bond every financial year after its issuance in compliance with the
relevant accounting policies. The Company has engaged ValQuest
Advisory Group Limited as its independent professional valuer for
the purpose of assessing the fair value of the Convertible Bond as at
31 March 2020. In assessing the fair value of the Convertible Bond,
the binomial option pricing model was adopted and factors including
stock price of the Company, specific terms and structure of the
Convertible Bond, trading conditions and liquidity of the Convertible
Bond, and ancillary effects associated with the exercise or conversion
and partial conversion of the Convertible Bond were taken into
account. The calculation for the discount rate of the Convertible Bond
is “discount rate = spot interest rate + other spread”, whereas it was
concluded that the credit rating of the Convertible Bond should be
“Below B” with the assumption that the other spread would not be
changed in a period of time, and the discount rate was 18.80% (2019:
9.40%).

The fair values of the Convertible Bond were approximately
HK$146,426,000 and approximately HK$217,869,000 as at 31
March 2020 and 2019, respectively. The amounts were assessed and
reviewed by the Directors and reviewed and audited by the auditor
of the Company. According to the relevant accounting policies, the
decrease in fair value of the Convertible Bond represents a decrease
in liabilities of the Company. The amount of the change in fair value of
the Convertible Bond of approximately HK$71,443,000 was derived
by taking the difference between the fair value of the Convertible Bond
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. The significant change in fair value
of the Convertible Bond was mainly due to the significant change in
the stock price of the Company during the Year and the expected
volatility of the stock price of the Company. The closing stock prices
of the Company were HK$0.12 and HK$0.24 as at 31 March 2020
and 2019, respectively and the expected volatility of the stock price of
the Company was 70.97% and 64.00% based on the historical price
volatility of the Company for the financial years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019, respectively.
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Business segment

Information reported to the executive Directors, being identified as the
chief operating decision makers (the “CODM”), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods delivered or services rendered. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

(1)  Coal mining business segment: mining and sales of coal mine in
the Xinjiang of the PRC;

(2) Renewable energy business segment: service income from
renewable energy services in Malaysia; and

(8) IT services business segment: provision of information
technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical services in
Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia and the UK.

Segment revenue and results
Segment revenue represents revenue derived from (i) coal mining
business, (i) renewable energy business and (i) IT services business.

Coal mining is the major business of the Group at present. It
contributed a revenue of approximately HK$73,910,000 for the
Year (2019: approximately HK$75,234,000), representing an
approximately 1.76% decrease as compared with last year.
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Segment revenue and results (continued)

Sale and Production of Coals

During the Year, the Group sold approximately 1,037,492
tonnes of coals (2019: approximately 1,764,591 tonnes) with
total sales income of approximately HK$73,910,000 (2019:
approximately HK$75,234,000). Details of sales of coals in
tonnes are listed in the below table:
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Coal Sales (tonnes) and Percentage of Coal Sales

SR S T 5
2019

1,037,492 1,764,591
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Service income from renewable energy business contributed
a revenue of approximately HK$775,000 for the Year (2019:
approximately HK$391,000).

Service income from IT services business contributed a revenue
of approximately HK$53,304,000 for the Year (2019: Nil).

Coal Sales Coal Sales
(tonnes) in %
RIS HxiHE
(18§ ) Elzisd
754,201 72.69
283,291 27.31
1,037,492 100.00
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Reserves and Resources

The Group owns a mining right, which is located in Xinjiang. The
mining right of the original Kaiyuan Mine was expired on 3 November
2019. Pursuant to the terms of the Transfer Agreement on 2
December 2019 entered into between the Department of Natural
Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region of the PRC (the
“Transferor”) and Kaiyuan Company in respect of the new mining
right with an enlarged mining area including the original mining area
of Kaiyuan Mine of approximately 1.1596 km? for a term of 30 years
from August 2019 to August 2049 (the “Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine”), the
Transferor agreed to sell and Kaiyuan Company agreed to purchase,
the mining permit in respect of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine, at an
aggregate consideration of RMB160,978,000, which shall be settled
in cash and paid by Kaiyuan Company to the Transferor in fifteen
instalments. The estimated coal resources of the Enlarged Kaiyuan
Mine are 41.6433 million tonnes for the mining life of 30 years under
the Transfer Agreement. It should be noted that the estimated coal
resources are subject to the independent review and report on the
coal resources estimation in compliance with the Australasian Code
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore
Reserves (2012 Edition) produced by the Australasian Joint Ore
Reserves Committee (the “JORC Code”) by the Competent Person
(as defined in the Listing Rules) to be included in the Competent
Person’s Report (as defined in the Listing Rules) as required under
Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual report,
the Group has engaged a Competent Person (as defined in the Listing
Rules) and in the progress to prepare the Competent Person’s Report
(as defined in the Listing Rules) in accordance with the requirements
under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules. Details of independent coal
resources estimation of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine in compliance with
the JORC Code will be disclosed in the Circular to be despatched by
the Company in relation to the Acquisition.

On 6 December 2019, the Transfer Agreement was duly executed by
the Transferor and Kaiyuan Company.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 16 March 2020, Kaiyuan
Company successfully renewed and received the renewed mining
permit (the “Renewed Mining Permit”) issued by the Xinjiang Natural
Resources Department. According to the Renewed Mining Permit, the
mining permit of the Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine is renewed for a period of
2 years from 21 December 2019 to 21 December 2021.
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Reserves and Resources (continued) HERER(E)

Estimated coal reserves for the original Kaiyuan Mine: RSURENE 2 bt RES
Average Mineable Marketable Reserves (million tonnes)
Seam Thickness (m) As of 31 March 2010
AR BRI fE AERE(EEM)
FHEE(CK) BE-Z-ZF=H=+—H
% of
Seam Total (Coal/Parting) Proved Probable Total Total
G #E
g st (B ®E) HE FE AR et ADL
North of Current Pit
(Potentially Oxidized)
RAE®R UL (Baseat)
B2 13.1 - 4.58 4.58 100.00
Mine Plan Area
ELREEE
Bs 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 25.00
B2 19.6 10.86 - 10.86 75.00
14.43 - 14.43 100.00
Total
#et
Bs 10.8 857 - 3.57 19.00
B 17.7 10.86 4.58 15.44 81.00
14.43 4.58 19.01 100.00
Approximately 75% of the total reserves are classified as “Proved”. RIEENT5% DR [FEIER -

The estimated remaining coal reserve in the original Kaiyuan Mine R-ZZ_ZE=A=+—H ' RIURER
was approximately 5.11 million tonnes as at 31 March 2020 (2019: {HEt FIBREEHEELNS MEEE (2N
approximately 6.20 million tonnes). During the Year, there were  F : £96.20 85 &M8) - AFEHEL1.095
approximately 1.09 million tonnes of coal being extracted (2019: ENI(—ZT—NF : £1.708 808 Hix -
approximately 1.70 million tonnes).

Coal Reserve as at 31 March 2020 = Coal Reserve as at 31 March WR_ZE_TE=A=+—HZEBHE=

2019 — Amount of coal extracted by the Group during the period from —ZE—hE=A=+—HAZHEHE — &%

1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. ER—_ZE—NFNA—BE-_ZT-_ZTF=A
=+ —AHRRBEZEKE



Geographical segment

The geographical location of customers is determined based on the
location where the goods are delivered or services are rendered. The
Group’s revenue and results from operations are mainly derived from
activities in the PRC, Hong Kong, Singapore, the UK and Malaysia.
Activities outside these five locations are insignificant. The principal
assets of the Group are located in the PRC, Hong Kong and Malaysia.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2020 nor material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries during the Year.

Save as otherwise disclosed, the Group does not have any future
plans for material investments. There will, however, be a reasonable
expected amount of expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the
new plants and machines for the environmental protection remedial
works. Sources of funding are expected to come primarily from the
coal sales revenue and also external banking facilities of the Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had:

° net current assets of approximately HK$127,070,000 (2019:
approximately HK$84,255,000).

° cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$235,126,000
(2019: approximately HK$416,662,000) which comprised
restricted bank balances of approximately HK$73,760,000
(2019: approximately HK$77,612,000) and the bank balances
were the major components of the Group’s current assets
of approximately HK$259,694,000 (2019: approximately
HK$432,459,000).

° current liabilities of approximately HK$132,624,000 (2019:
approximately HK$348,204,000) which comprised mainly
trade and other payables of approximately HK$54,929,000
(2019: approximately HK$58,794,000) and interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$65,345,000 (2019:
approximately HK$68,345,000).
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° non-current liabilities of approximately HK$233,637,000 (2019:
approximately HK$3,257,000) which comprised convertible
bond designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$146,426,000 and non-current
portion payable of approximately HK$80,155,000 related to
mining right payables.

The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.98 (2019:
approximately 1.55). The computation is based on total debt
(convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, mining right payables, promissory notes, lease liabilities
and interest-bearing borrowings) divided by total equity.

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2020, there were 765,373,584 ordinary shares of the
Company in issue.

Zero coupon convertible bond of the Company with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 were issued on 14 March 2008
the maturity date of which was approved to be further extended for 36
months to 13 March 2023 by the shareholders of the Company on 11
March 2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had pledged restricted bank
balances with carrying amount of approximately HK$73,760,000
(2019: approximately HK$77,612,000) to the bank as a security for
interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group mainly earns revenue in RMB and Hong Kong dollars and
incurs costs in RMB and Hong Kong dollars. The Group is exposed
to foreign exchange risk based on fluctuations between Hong Kong
dollars and RMB arising from its core operation in the PRC. The
currency exchange risk for the Year is mainly derived from the net
exchange gain on convertible bond designated as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, which is a result from the sustained
depreciation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars. In order to minimise
the foreign currency risk exposure between these two currencies, the
Group maintained cash balances in both currencies that are sufficient
to meet three to four months’ operating cash flows requirements of
the Group.
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Apart from the issuance of convertible bond at their face value of
HK$200,000,000, the Group finances its operation mainly by internal
generated resources.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 126 employees (2019: 82)
spreading amongst Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, the UK and the
PRC. Total staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments) for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$50,609,000 (2019: approximately
HK$10,913,000). Employment relationship has been well maintained
by the Group with its employees. The Group has adopted an
extensive training policy for its employees. It has also sponsored
senior executives for higher education programmes.

* English translation for identification purpose only.
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Mr. Kwan Man Fai (“Mr. Kwan”), aged 51, is an executive Director
appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Kwan has been the chairman
and managing director of the Company since March 2017 and is
a member of the remuneration committee and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kwan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and a postgraduate
certificate in laws. Mr. Kwan also holds a master degree in laws from
The London School of Economics and Social Sciences, the University
of London and a master degree in the PRC law from the City
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan is now a consultant of Messrs.
Anthony Siu & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan has over 10
years of experience in corporate finance and banking work, including
assisting various companies in their listing on the Main Board and
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Mr. Wang Xiangfei, aged 68, is an executive Director appointed
on 25 March 2008. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang Xiangfei graduated from
Renmin University of China with a bachelor degree in economics
in 1982. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is now a senior accountant. Mr. Wang
Xiangfei serves as the financial advisor of CSIH Limited. Mr. Wang
Xiangfei is also an independent non-executive director of China
Development Bank International Investment Limited (stock code:
1062), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
and Tianjin Capital Environmental Protection Group Company
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1065) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang
Xiangfei is a director of Ascent Goal Investments Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is the
father of Mr. Wong Sze Wai, an executive Director, and the brother
of Mr. Wang Xiaoyao, the alternate Director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei.
In addition, Mr. Wang Xiangfei and Mr. Wong Sze Wai have cross-
directorships in Ascent Goal Investments Limited, Alpha Apex Global
Limited, Brilliant Kirin Limited, Starry Bridge Limited, Outstanding Pro
Investments Limited, True Spirit Holdings Limited, Pallotta Limited,
CIF Petrochemical Co., Limited, CIF Airport Company Limited and
Golden Access International Limited.
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In addition, Mr. Wang Xiangfei was the independent non-executive
director of Chongqging Iron & Steel Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1053)
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from July 2002 to June 2009
and China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 998) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, from December 2006 to November 2012.
Mr. Wang Xiangfei was an independent non-executive director of
Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Limited from April 2010 to May
2013, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1812), the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was an independent non-
executive director of SEEC Media Group Limited (stock code: 205)
from June 2003 to May 2015, a company whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was also an external
supervisor of Shenzhen Rural Commercial Bank from April 2009
to May 2015. Previously, Mr. Wang Xiangfei had also served as an
executive director and CEO of China Everbright International Limited,
an executive director of China Everbright Limited and China Everbright
Technology Limited (now known as China Haidian Holdings Limited),
a director & assistant general manager of China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited.

Mr. Wong Sze Wai, aged 37, is an executive Director appointed
on 20 November 2018 and was an alternate director to Mr. Wang
Xiangfei, the executive Director, from 18 July 2017 to 16 March 2020.
Mr. Wong Sze Wai is the member of remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He was the personal assistant to Mr. Wang Xiangfei
during the period from 1 August 2018 to 19 November 2018. Mr.
Wong Sze Wai is also the alternate director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei in
several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai obtained a
master degree in Social Science from the University of Hong Kong
in 2010 and a bachelor degree in Science from McMaster University
of Canada in 2007. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is currently a director of
several private companies in Hong Kong, focusing on business
development and legal aspects. His industrial experience includes
research and development, business development, and legal and
compliance, etc. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is a director and an alternate
director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei of Ascent Goal Investments Limited,
the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is
the son of Mr. Wang Xiangfei, an executive Director, and the nephew
of Mr. Wang Xiaoyao, the alternate Director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei.
In addition, Mr. Wong Sze Wai and Mr. Wang Xiangfei have cross-
directorships in Ascent Goal Investments Limited, Alpha Apex Global
Limited, Brilliant Kirin Limited, Starry Bridge Limited, Outstanding Pro
Investments Limited, True Spirit Holdings Limited, Pallotta Limited,
CIF Petrochemical Co., Limited, CIF Airport Company Limited and
Golden Access International Limited.

AN ERRGACEGR_TE —_FLHE"
TENFNAPRREEMERDER AR
(E R B S AT (B D AR5% © 1053) & B8
BERGHEMZ RG] RER =TT NF
TRz ——F+— AHMRPERT
B An A R A B) (EL IR0 PR B S AT (AR (0 AR5
998) & EIEFEAR S T2 AE) EES
SMIEMITESR - THMAEER - —ZF
WMAZ-—T—=Fh AHBRILEEB4LZE
SER BR A E (F AR5 R BT (AR5 AR
5% 1812) « EEBHFRHMERYIEFRRZ
S EMZ AR EIBIFRNTES - T
BRELEEN BT =FE X fE_T—hF
HABMEREAEESEEERA B (ERD
REEZ AT EZ AR BB AR5 : 205) & (T
BYIEHITES - THRLENER-ZZ
NENAZE T —RHFH A BRI EN
R IBITIEEINBEESE - LAl - EIREE
MBERENXABRBERARZHAITESH
T, ~ PRI KIZRER A R P EH
AREBERAR(REBEFREESRERARA
AZHITES T AEEBEGRAAE
ERBIBRLIE o

EFWEERE 375 DRIRZE—NF+—
AZTHEZERRTEERN_Z—tF
+tATNBEZZE=_ZF =+ NAAHNT
EETAREECERES - TOBEER
RARFNEESEKE - FIO#EENEE
RARETHERARZES - RZE—/\F
NA—BE=ZZE—N\F+—A+hBHH -
BREARLEZEABIE - AL LT
RARRIETHBAREAETAREE R
RES - THBAEER T —ZFEEES
REMHERIBELTEMN  UERRZTTLF
HY 18 i1 2 K McMaster University ( 25 55 H7 32
REB)BETEN - FGFLERRETSE
BETRUARRES  SHPREBER A
FHHEAIE - K2ITELRBIEH TR
B EBBRRELEEERE  c TOBEER
RAARIERBRRERIEEERARICESER
FAREECBERESE - THOHEKERAT
EEFAREEZRT  TRENRBEE
(EAREEZBRES)NEF - I £
MELEERTFARCEAREERERR
A7) ~ Alpha Apex Global Limited ~ BF A
RRAR « 2B AFR A A  Outstanding Pro
Investments Limited -~ True Spirit Holdings
Limited * Pallotta Limited + A E BB A JH{E
TERRR - hEMISERARA B LES
B ER A RIEREESFE -



Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond, aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond is the chairman of the remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Wong Man Hin
Raymond is a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA), a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and
holds a certificate in financial management (CFM). Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond holds a bachelor degree in chemical engineering, a
master degree in economics and a doctorate degree in business
administration. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is an executive director
and deputy chairman of Raymond Industrial Limited (stock code:
229), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is also an independent
non-executive director of Modern Healthcare Technology Holdings
Limited (formerly Modern Beauty Salon Holdings Limited) (stock code:
919), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and Tak Lee Machinery Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8142) and Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 8366), companies whose shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is the vice president
and council member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association and an independent manager of TWGHs Wong
Fut Nam College.

Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 50, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Chan is a
member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and a
postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Chan also holds master degrees
in laws from the City University of Hong Kong and from the People’s
University of China. Mr. Chan is currently a partner of Messrs. David
Y.Y. Fung & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in civil and commercial crime litigation and also handles
various transactions for corporate clients and banks in Hong Kong.
Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive director of Qingin
Foodstuffs Group (Cayman) Company Limited (stock code: 1583),
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin (“Mr. Pak”), aged 56, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 19 September 2017. He is the
chairman of audit committee, a member of each of remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 25 years of
experience in finance, accounting and corporate governance affairs.
Mr. Pak had held positions as the chief financial officer and the
company secretary at various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Pak is currently (i) an independent non-executive director of Dragon
Mining Limited (Stock Code: 1712); (i) an independent non-executive
director of Convoy Global Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1019); and
(i) an independent non-executive director of China Huiyuan Juice
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1886), the shares of all of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pak is also an
independent non-executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8032), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. He had been an independent non-executive director
of Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2468) from
January 2017 to August 2018, the shares of which were listed and
were delisted on 23 August 2018 on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of Ta
Yang Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1991) from April 2016 to
October 2018, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Wang Xiaoyao, aged 67, is an alternate Director to Mr. Wang
Xiangfei with effect from 17 March 2020. Mr. Wang Xiaoyao has
been appointed as the personal assistant to Mr. Wang Xiangfei on
1 April 2020. Mr. Wang Xiaoyao graduated from the University of
International Business and Economics with a major in international
trade in 1990. Mr. Wang Xiaoyao has worked in the shipping
transportation department of COSCO Group for nearly 30 years.
He has long been holding various positions in the field of ocean
shipping, and has been engaged in shipping business, focusing
on cargo negotiation, vessel scheduling and management, ocean
freight transportation, formulation and development of transportation
plans, and leading the business of the Hong Kong shipping branch
of the ocean shipping company. Besides, he has long been making
substantial efforts in serving transportation organizations involved
in large-scale national ocean transportation projects and overseas
transportation for national projects. By successfully completing the
tasks, he has received various recognitions from the company and the
relevant national units.

Following his retirement in 2013, Mr. Wang Xiaoyao has worked for
a private shipping logistics company, where he has been responsible
for shipping logistics business. He has organized and participated in
large-scale engineering projects in overseas regions such as West
Africa, East Africa, West Asia and the Far East with respect to logistics
transportation, and has been responsible for overseas engineering
projects covering business negotiation, road surveying and cross-
border transportation. Currently, he is still working for the company.

Mr. Wang Xiaoyao is the brother and the uncle of Mr. Wang Xiangfei
and Mr. Wong Sze Wai, the executive Directors, respectively.

Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li"), aged 38, is the company secretary of
the Company appointed on 21 April 2015. Mr. Li graduated from the
Imperial College, University of London with master degree in chemical
engineering. Mr. Li is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and has extensive experience in corporate
governance and compliance matters.
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The Company is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness.

The Directors had reviewed the Company’s performance of its
corporate governance practices that the Company has complied with
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the Year, save for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Code
as set out in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive” of
this annual report.

Roles and responsibilities

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. It
should act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders at
all times. The Board sets strategies for the Company and monitors the
performance and activities of the senior management.

The executive Directors and the senior management of the Company
are responsible for the day to day operations of the Company
whereas the independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of financial and management reporting
to the Board and shareholders of the Company as well as to provide
a balanced composition in the Board so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board.
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Board composition
The members of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman & Managing Director)
Wang Xiangfei
Wong Sze Wai (alternate to Wang Xiangfei until 16 March 2020)

Wong Man Hin Raymond
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey
Pak Wai Keung Martin

Wang Xiaoyao (alternate to Wang Xiangfei)
(appointed on 17 March 2020)

After annual assessment by the nomination committee of the
Company at a meeting on 23 June 2020, the Board considers
that all the Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise so as to give a balance of skills, knowledge and experience,
and diversity of perspectives required for the running of an effective
Board. The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, three
independent non-executive Directors and one alternate Director. The
brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
and relationship among them are set out in the section headed
“Biography of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

Board diversity

In June 2014, the Company adopted a policy on diversity of the Board
members, which has been revised in January 2019. The policy is
to review, assess and recommend any appointment, re-election or
any succession plan of any Directors to the Board from time to time
after considering a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and tenure of appointment to allow for
the Company’s business model and specific needs.
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Board meetings and general meetings

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings and two
ad-hoc meetings, and the Company held two general meetings. The
attendance records of individual Directors at the Board meetings and
at the general meetings are set out below:

EEgERRRRAE

RAEERN  EF@ERTOREHEZNR
RS URARR BT RBR
RE - AR ESNEFETRALBRAG L
HERCERE T -

Number of Number of R/ HE/
Board meetings general meetings BER RER
attended/ attended/ HE i
eligible eligible 31 BRRAE
Name of Directors to attend to attend EEpH? 2 RE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Kwan Man Fai e
(Chairman & Managing Director) 5/6 212 (TEHRESLLRE) 5/6 2/2
Wang Xiangfei THAR
(with Wang Xiaoyao as alternate with (B=Z=%%=A
effect from 17 March 2020) T BRI/ NE
6/6 22 REEREER) 6/6 22
Wong Sze Wai 6/6 2/2 Ealk 6/6 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHITES:
Wong Man Hin Raymond 5/6 2/2 EXE 5/6 212
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 5/6 2/2 [y 5/6 2/2
Pak Wai Keung Martin 4/6 2/2 HE® 4/6 2/2

# Independent non-executive Directors had attended meeting(s) independently held
with the chairman of the Board without the executive Directors present on the
direction of the Group’s strategy and policies during the Year.

All Directors have access to the company secretary of the Company
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed
and all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board ensures that its members are supplied, in a timely manner,
with all necessary information in a form and of a quality appropriate to
enable the Board to discharge its duties.
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Board meetings and general meetings (continued)

The minutes of Board meetings recorded all the details of the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and are available for inspection by any Director.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by
the nomination committee of the Company. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors who represent half of the Board and with two of whom
hold appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code specifies that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. Two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey, were
appointed on 25 March 2008. Their service agreements have been
extended for one year commencing on 25 March 2020. Mr. Pak
Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive Director, was
appointed on 19 September 2017 and the service agreement has
been extended for one year commencing from 19 September 2019.
However, they are still subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and after annual assessment by
the nomination committee of the Company at a meeting on 23 June
2020, the Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Officers’ liability

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors and officers’ liabilities has
been provided to cover potential legal actions against Directors and
officers.

Training and support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. The
Group provides briefings and other training to develop and refresh the
Directors’ knowledge and skills. Details of the continuous professional
development participated by the Directors for the Year, that the
Company received, are set out below:
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Attended seminars or SHERHER
Name of Directors briefing/read materials BEENE mhe HMEER
Executive Directors: BITES:
Kwan Man Fai HE
(Chairman & Managing Director) v (XRREFHLE) 4
Wang Xiangfei v FAIR v
Wong Sze Wai (alternate to TmgE(R=E=TF=A
Wang Xiangfei until 16 March 2020) v TRBAEREAR) v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIFHTES
Wong Man Hin Raymond v B 4
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey v PR 2 pE 4
Pak Wai Keung Martin v HE 4
Alternate Director: BEREE:
Wang Xiaoyao FIRBREAR)
(alternate to Wang Xiangfei) (RZZE=ZF
(appointed on 17 March 2020) v =R+t HREEE) v

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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Code provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive (the “CE”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the Year, the Company did not have any officer with CE
title. Mr. Kwan Man Fai, the chairman and managing director of the
Company, also carried out the responsibility of CE during the Year. In
view of the size of operation of the Group, the Board considered that
this structure is more suitable for the Company as it can promote the
efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies.

The Board has established three committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Group’s affairs and to assist in the execution
of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their own
terms of reference. The views of different committees and their
recommendation not only ensure proper control of the Group but
also the continual achievement of the high corporate governance
standards expected of a listed company. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the committees
with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and experience of
individual members.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
set up in March 1999 with specific terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company have included the
duties which are set out in code provision C.3.3 of the Code, with
appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee were amended on 15 March 2016 in order to
comply with the amendments to the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and
Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey.
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Audit Committee (continued)

A total of two meetings were held during the Year and the RAFER - H£8BI7kex 0 EARKEZ
attendances of individual members are as follows: HEERT
Number of S
meetings attended/ EEREE
Name of members eligible to attend REHE g3
Pak Wai Keung Martin (Chairman) 2/2 BE®R(ER) 2/2
Wong Man Hin Raymond 2/2 =N E 2/2
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 2/2 R 2R 2/2

The Audit Committee together with the management of the Company
have reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed risk management, internal controls and financial
reporting matters including the review of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year.

The Audit Committee reviewed the interim and annual results, risk
management and internal control systems, and financial reporting
matters in conjunction with the external auditors during the Year.
The Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted
by the Company and had the best of its ability assured itself that the
disclosure of the financial information in this annual report complies
with the applicable accounting standards and Disclosure of Financial
Information set out in Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was set up in July 2005 with specific terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
have included the duties which are set out in code provision B.1.2 of
the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended on 27
March 2012 in order to comply with the amendments to the Listing
Rules.
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Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises five members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai, the executive Director, Mr. Wong Sze Wai and three
independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond
as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai
Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin.

The remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of
the Company are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to
the Board for determination, as authorised by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting, having regard to the operating results of the
Company, individual performance and prevailing market conditions.
The Board conducts regular review of the structure and composition
of the Remuneration Committee with particular attention to the skills,
knowledge and experience of individual members.

During the Year, three meetings were held and the Remuneration
Committee had reviewed the existing remuneration packages of the
Board and the senior management of the Company and to make
recommendation on the remuneration package of all Directors and
senior management. The attendances of individual members are as
follows:
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Number of HE

meetings attended/ SERLE

Name of members eligible to attend REHH SRRE
Wong Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) 3/3 EHEYHE(EE) 3/3
Kwan Man Fai 3/3 8 2 3/3
Wong Sze Wai 2/2 I PO 4 2/2
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 Per 2 4 3/3
Pak Wai Keung Martin 3/3 ShEEE 3/3

Remuneration paid to senior management
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was set up in March 2012 with specific terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company have included the duties which are set out in code provision
A.5.2 of the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary.

The Nomination Committee will take into consideration a candidate’s
qualification, experience, expertise, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives, the requirements applicable to the Company and the
structure and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee
identifies, reviews and nominates with diligence and care that
candidates suitably qualified as Board members before making
recommendation to the Board for their final appointment. Factors
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, and
professional experience will also be taken into account to maintain a
balanced composition and diversity of the perspectives of the Board.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to diversify members of the Board.
Selection of candidates will be based on a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
tenure of appointment.

The Board is currently composed of diversified members of different
gender and age, with education in economic, legal, accounting and
chemical engineering respectively from leading universities in PRC
(including Hong Kong) and England. Business and professional
experiences of the Board are even diversified which include but
not limited to, multinational entrepreneurship, listed companies
directorship in Hong Kong, Shanghai and Shenzhen, legal practices in
Hong Kong, corporation finance and investment banking, accounting
and auditing, and financial management.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, business experience, professional
experience, term of appointment and designation) of the Board
Diversity Policy is as follows:

No. of Directors

EEAY
Age group: 311040 31E405% 1
Fesa R - 41 to 50 A E508% 1
5110 60 512 605% S
Over 60 FRiB605% 1
Gender: Male B 6
1Rl Female pegi 0
Educational background: ~ Hong Kong B 5
HEE= PRC == 3
Overseas pisEIN 4
Business experience: Multinational entrepreneurship FE T 3
EEH S Listed companies directorship in =5 LER 6
Hong Kong, Shanghai and U ETRARIES
Shenzhen
Professional experience: Legal practices in Hong Kong BB ZEERD 2
BFELR Corporation finance and DERER 1
investment banking WEIRTT
Accounting and auditing FETREZ 2
Financial management MEERE 3
Length of service (year): <1 HR—F 0
BRI R R (FRERT) - 1-5 15254 2
6-10 62104 0
Over 10 HBiBm10F 4
Designation: Executive Director HITES 3
B - Independent Non-executive Director — J& / FF#{TE= = 3



Nomination Committee (continued)

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee at a meeting
on 23 June 2020, the Company considers that the Board has
achieved the following measurable objectives under the Board
Diversity Policy for the Year:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

2. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
three independent non-executive Directors namely, Dr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung
Martin.

During the Year, three meetings were held and the Nomination
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Number of HE

meetings attended/ SERLE
Name of members eligible to attend REHE =E
Kwan Man Fai (Chairman) 3/3 RSO (EFE) 3/3
Wong Man Hin Raymond 3/3 ERE 3/3
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 Per 2 i 3/3
Pak Wai Keung Martin 3/3 ShEE 3/3



The Company is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as stipulated in the Listing Rules.
During the Year, the Board committees had developed and reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and reviewed the compliance with
the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Nomination Policy
The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 9 January 2019.

° The Nomination Committee may, as it considers appropriate,
nominate a number of candidates more than the number of
directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting,
or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.

° The factors listed below could be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

- Reputation for integrity

- Accomplishment and experience in the related industry

- Relevant skills and experience to contribute to the Board

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

= Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational

background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service
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Nomination Policy (continued)

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as Directors.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

The company secretary of the Company shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members or senior management if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary of the Company.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment relating to annual and interim
reports, inside information and price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures under the Listing Rules, and reports to
regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements. As at 31 March 2020, the Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
from page 65 to page 76 of this annual report.

During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of
the Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

° Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and monitor the residual risks
persistently.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2019/20, no significant
risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures to provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

° Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

° Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of disclosure
requirements in relation to the Group, which include:

° the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations; and

° the executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2019/20, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of
these systems has been conducted semi-annually. Several areas
have been considered during the Board’s reviews, which include but
not limited to:

(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and

(i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate during the
Year. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programmes and budget provided were sufficient.
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Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited has retired as the auditor of the
Company with effect from the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 7 September 2017 (the “2017
AGM”). Mazars CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of
the Company by the approval of shareholders of the Company at the
2017 AGM, with effect from 7 September 2017.

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed by Mazars
CPA Limited.

For the Year, fees paid or payable to the auditor of the Company,
Mazars CPA Limited, and its affiliates by the Group are as follows:
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The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li"),
who has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Li has
taken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in accordance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

A shareholders communication policy was adopted on 27 March
2012 to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company. The shareholders communication policy is available on the
Company’s website. The Company has established various channels
of communications with its shareholders such as publication of interim
and annual reports, press release and announcement of the latest
development of the Company in a timely manner. The annual general
meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board. External auditor is also available at the annual general
meeting to address shareholders’ queries. Moreover, resolutions are
proposed at annual general meeting on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors.

The 2020 annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
26 August 2020. A notice of annual general meeting will be sent to the
shareholders of the Company at least 20 clear business days before
the meeting.

Dividend Policy
The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 9 January 2019.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Company could also take into
account, inter alia:

(@ the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;
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Dividend Policy (continued)
(d) the Group’s capacity from current and future operation, future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

(e) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

M any restrictions under the law in Bermuda and the Company’s
Bye-laws;

(@ the dividends received from the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates, which in turn will depend on the ability of those
subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend;

(h)  the Group’s expected working capital requirements;

(i) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
motion control business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

() any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy and the declaration and/or payment of future
dividends under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board’s
continuing determination that the Dividend Policy and the declaration
and/or payment of dividends would be in the best interests of the
Group and Shareholders, and are in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting its shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy.

The Board could continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify
and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group
in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group
to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time, there can be
no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay
dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the
abovementioned factors.
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Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. The written requisition must state the purposes
of the general meeting, signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those shareholders. If the requisition is in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene a SGM by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements
to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

Shareholder(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote
at the general meeting; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, can
submit a written request stating the resolution intended to be moved
at the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) or a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting. The written request/statements must be signed
by the shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the company secretary of the Company, not less than six weeks
before the AGM in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting
in the case of any other requisition. If the written request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the Board (i) to
include the resolution in the agenda for the AGM,; or (ii) to circulate the
statement for the general meeting, provided that the shareholder(s)
concerned have deposited a sum of money reasonably determined
by the Board sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and/or circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholder(s) concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if
the requisition is invalid or the shareholder(s) concerned have failed
to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for
the said purposes, the shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be
included in the agenda for the AGM or the statement will not be
circulated for the general meeting.
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Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
company secretary of the Company by post, fax or email. The contact
details are set out as below:

Registered office: Clarendon House,
2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Principal place of 8/F., Tower 2,
business in Admiralty Centre,
Hong Kong: 18 Harcourt Road,

Admiralty, Hong Kong

Postal address: 8/F., Tower 2,
Admiralty Centre,
18 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Tel: 3845 5790
Fax: 2110 1907
Email: info@nannanlisted.com

During the Year, there were no change in the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Company is an investment holding company. The subsidiaries of
the Company are principally engaged in (i) mining and sales of coal; (i)
renewable energy solution; and (jii) provision of information technology
outsourcing, consultancy and technical services.

The Group’s results for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 77 to 234. The Board does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year (2019: Nil).

A review of the Group’s business for the Year, a discussion on
the Group’s future business development and principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group is facing are provided in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 11 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 26 of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in Note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company promotes the culture of adhering to the high ethical
standards of business conduct and commits to complying with all
prevailing laws and regulations in all its operating regions. During the
Year, the Company did not aware of any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation.

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set
out on pages 235 to 236 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
Note 27(b) to the consolidated financial statements. The Company
does not adopt share option scheme.

Details of the Convertible Bond issued by the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Convertible Bond” of this
annual report and Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,
no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during
the Year.

The Company recognises that our management, employees,
customers and business partners (including suppliers, financial
institutions and academic bodies) are key stakeholders to the
Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging our management and employees, providing quality
products to our customers, collaborating with business partners to
deliver quality sustainable products and services and supporting our
community.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules, the Company will
publish an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
within three months after the publication of this annual report in
compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

The Company’s Bye-laws provided that all Directors and officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty. Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance is arranged to cover the directors and officers of the
Group against any potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against them.
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The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its employees
make monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme generally at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each of the employer
and the employee are subject to a maximum contribution of
HK$1,500 per month (for period after 1 June 2014) and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries contributed certain
percentage of basic salaries to the retirement benefits plan to fund the
benefits. The Group has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these contributions.
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

Remuneration policy of the Company is reviewed regularly, making
reference to market condition and performance of the Company and
individual staff (including the Directors). The remuneration policy and
remuneration packages of the Directors and management team are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board which are
detailed in the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 38 to 39.

The Directors consider that those related party transactions disclosed
in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements did not fall under
the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

During the Year, save as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Convertible Bond” under the Report of the Directors on page 55,
the Company did not have any connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The major events of the Group are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 11 of this annual report.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed
surplus of approximately HK$128,013,000 may be distributed under
certain circumstances. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account with a balance of approximately HK$191,534,000 may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

For the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 41.74% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 17.22%. Purchases of goods
and services from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
15.08% of the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 6.26%.

AEBEANEHINANERE
R |8 e

AB11BZ[E

ARRRZ R AR A RE LG EA R E
FTERBER IR BRARRMARRE K
RIZELOIBITHRALD

AR RS EAEIM B A RN AN FEGEE
A HESBEARFER EHES

ARBRAKRERANFERE Z HRHEBFED
RIER AR A M ISR 27 MR S R E B
% o

RZZE-_FF=ZA=+—8 ' AARIWEA]
EREDEEREWH IR ZFRBEF - 1B
BARE—NN—FQ8E  KARZHA
BER#)5128,013,00008 7T » RETHERT
AR o AN - AR B 2 R EBIERAR
#9/5191,534,0007 7T + 7] AR AT IR =0
DK ©

RAFE  AEERARFZHEEHE MR
FEAHERMNTI%  METRAEP
ZIHEEANE17.22% - NEE T AME
Az EmMREHBREOATERRERSE
15.08% * & F &AM IER 2 HERE AL
6.26% °



The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman & Managing Director)
Wang Xiangfei
Wong Sze Wai (altenate to Wang Xiangfei until 16 March 2020)

Wong Man Hin Raymond
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey
Pak Wai Keung Martin

Wang Xiaoyao (alternate to Wang Xiangfei)
(appointed on 17 March 2020)

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin will retire
by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 92 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Wang
Xiaoyao shall hold office as an alternate Director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei
only until the next annual election of Directors, or if earlier, the date on
which Mr. Wang Xiangfei ceases to be a Director, or until Mr. Wang
Xiangfei removes him as an alternate Director. Mr. Wang Xiangfei, has
confirmed to re-appoint Mr. Wang Xiaoyao as his alternate Director.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 27 to 31 of this annual report.
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Changes in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules subsequent to the
publication of the 2019 interim report of the Company are set out
below:

(1)  Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions, the executive
Directors’ emoluments were approved and revised by the Board
with effect from 1 January 2020. The monthly emolument of
Mr. Kwan Man Fai was changed to HK$137,659. The monthly
emolument of Mr. Wang Xiangfei was changed to HK$112,677.
The monthly emolument of Mr. Wong Sze Wai was changed to
HK$112,677.

(2)  The service agreements of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan
Yiu Fai Youdey, entered with the Company expired on 24 March
2020 and their service agreements had been extended for one
year commencing on 25 March 2020; and

(8) The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Kwan Man Fai and Mr. Wang Xiangfei, entered with
the Company expired on 24 March 2020 and their service
agreements had been extended for one year commencing on
25 March 2020.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

No Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly in any transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was party at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.
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As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to

the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long positions e}
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
share capital of
Number the associated
of shares corporation
Name of interested AR EE
Name of Director Note  associated corporation Capacity BEERZZ B BITIRA
EEnA Mzt AEECEEEE g4 R EE BROADL
Mr. Wang Xiangfei 1 New Bright International Interest of spouse 3,000 (L) 30%
EARSEE Development Limited B (B dEE 25
(“New Bright”)
EEBRERAR AR
(ren#l)
(L) denotes as long position L TR
Note: MisE -

1. Ms. Lo Fong Hung is interested in 3,000 shares in New Bright, representing
30% of the issued share capital of New Bright, which currently owns 70%
shareholding interests in CSIL Limited (formerly known as China Sonangol
International Limited) (“CSIL”). CSIL, the holding company of Ascent Goal
Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company. The shareholding interests of Ascent Goal in the Company is set
out in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” of this annual report. Mr. Wang
Xiangfei is the husband of Ms. Lo Fong Hung and is deemed to be interested
in 3,000 shares of New Bright under the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2 4%

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, neither the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate at any time during the Year or at the end of the
Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Group has not adopted any share option scheme during the
Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, the following persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the

RARBROVBERD 257 -

Company
Approximate
percentage of
the total
number
of issued
shares of
Total number  the Company
Number of of shares (Note 6)
underlying and underlying N
Number of shares held shares held BT
Name of Shareholders Notes  Nature of interest shares held i ROk BEBAEIL
RRER HE M BEtE FERAEE HEROEE AEROEH (H=E6)
Ascent Goal 1,4 Beneficial owner 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
2 ERBBA
CSIL 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
ZHER corporation
BN
New Bright 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
gl corporation
XEEE R
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica 3,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
st corporation
A s
Mr. Lev Leviev 5 Beneficial owner 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.13%
Lev Levievi & BREEA
8 Interests of controlled 65,808,000 - 65,808,000 8.60%

corporation
REEE  m



Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the

Company (continued)
Notes:

1. Ascent Goal was directly interested in 569,616,589 shares and further
1,000,000,000 underlying shares which may be fully allotted and issued
if the Convertible Bond are converted at the conversion price of HK$0.20
per share. These 1,569,616,589 shares were held by Ascent Goal directly
as beneficial owner. It includes (i) interests in 569,616,589 shares and (i)
the Convertible Bond giving rise to an interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying
shares.

2. Since Ascent Goal is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSIL which is beneficially
owned as to 70% by New Bright, the interests of Ascent Goal is deemed
to be the interests of CSIL and in turn the interests of New Bright under the
SFO.

3. Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica is deemed to have interests in the shares and
underlying shares through her 70% interests in New Bright.

4. The 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares under the
Convertible Bond represent approximately 74.42% and approximately
130.66% of the total number of issued shares of the Company respectively,
thus the total of 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares
represent approximately 205.08% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company. The conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond will
not be exercised and the Company will not issue the conversion shares if,
immediately following the conversion, the Company would be unable to meet
the public float requirement under the Listing Rules.

5] For the shares held by Mr. Lev Leviev, of these shares, 36,866,000 shares
were held by Africa Israel Investments Ltd., a company controlled by Mr.
Lev Leviev through his approximately 48.13% interests in Africa Israel
Investments Ltd.; 28,942,000 shares were held by Memorand Management
(1998) Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Lev Leviev through his 100%
interests in Memorand Ltd. which holds 100% interest in Memorand
Management (1998) Ltd.; and 1,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Lev Leviev
directly.

6. The approximate percentage of shareholdings is based on 765,373,584
shares as at 31 March 2020, not the enlarged number of issued shares of the
Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above), who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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No Director had interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information that
is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, over 25% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company is held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars
CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 23 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nan Nan
Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 234, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Mazars CPA LiMITED
PR BR (i) et B A IR A A

42™ Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
UG TE 18 SR IR R, 42 1
Tel Erfi: (852) 2909 5555

Fax 2. (852) 2810 0032

Email T info@mazars.hk

Website A841k: www.mazars.hk
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets

Refer to Notes 2, 3, 4, 12, 13 and 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
BREXSEE
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BRMGAUEHRENFE2 341213
%20 -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMzERNAEE@RRERSER

As at 31 March 2020, the Group held various coal
mines related non-current assets, including property,
plant and equipment, prepayments for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in
the People’s Republic of China with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$69,990,000, HK$1,093,000 and
HK$127,360,000, respectively.

In view of significant net loss of coal mining business
incurred during the year ended 31 March 2020, the
management identified the existence of impairment
indications on certain coal mines related non-current
assets. The management engaged an independent
valuer (the “Valuer”) to assess the value-in-use of coal
mines related non-current assets. The impairment
assessment involves the management’s estimates
in certain areas including the discount rate and the
underlying cash flow projection based on the future
market supply and demand conditions. Any changes in
the management’s estimates may result in significant
financial impact to the Group.

We have identified the impairment assessment on coal
mines related non-current assets as a key audit matter
due to significant estimates made by the management
in determining the recoverable amounts of the
corresponding cash-generating unit.

As set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management concluded that the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was
higher than its carrying value and no impairment
provision was required for the current year.

Our key audit procedures included:

(@)

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer engaged by the management
to assess the value-in-use of coal mines related non-
current assets;

assessing the valuation methodologies adopted in
the valuation with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

challenging the suitability of the source data as the
basis for the valuation by comparing key financial
information in the source data with the financial
statements and operational forecast prepared by the
management;

challenging the key assumptions underlying the
operational forecasts by comparison with historical
financial performance together with market and other
externally available information;

challenging the discount rates applied in the cash
flow forecasts, by benchmarking against those of
similar companies in the markets; and

re-performing the management’s calculations of
the sensitivity of the key assumptions adopted in
the cash flow forecasts and considering possible
management bias in the selection of assumptions.



Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets (continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREXEE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Impairment assessment on goodwill for information
technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical
services business (“IT Services business”) and related

non-current assets

Refer to Notes 2, 3, 4, 12 and 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
BRELER

BB E - B REMIREER
([EMBERERES ) RBEFRBE
E2EE 2 RERE

BE2MEAMEREME2 34 12
14 o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Rz ER N EERERERSE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had goodwill of
HK$24,148,000 (before any impairment) in relating to
the acquisition of 80.86% equity interest in Harbour
Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the (“Harbour Group”)) and the Group
held various IT Services business related non-current
assets, including property, plant and equipment mainly
in Hong Kong with carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,280,000.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
management engaged an independent valuer for IT
Services business (the “IT Services Valuer”) to assess
the impairment on goodwill for IT Services business
and related non-current assets. The impairment
assessment involves the management’s estimates
in certain areas including the discount rate and the
underlying cash flow projection based on the future
market supply and demand conditions. Any changes in
the management’s estimates may result in significant
financial impact to the Group.

We have identified the impairment assessment on
goodwill for IT Services business and related non-
current assets as a key audit matter due to significant
estimates made by the management in determining
the recoverable amounts of the corresponding cash-
generating unit.

As set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management concluded that the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was
lower than its carrying value and impairment loss on
goodwill of approximately HK$3,831,000 arising from T
Services business has been recognised for the current
reporting period.

Our key audit procedures included:

(@)

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the IT Services Valuer engaged by
the management to assess the value-in-use of IT
Services business and related non-current assets;

assessing the valuation methodologies adopted in
the valuation with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

challenging the suitability of the source data as the
basis for the valuation by comparing key financial
information in the source data with the financial
statements and operational forecast prepared by the
management;

challenging the key assumptions underlying the
operational forecasts by comparison with historical
financial performance together with market and other
externally available information;

challenging the discount rates applied in the cash
flow forecasts, by benchmarking against those of
similar companies in the markets;

re-performing the management’s calculations of
the sensitivity of the key assumptions adopted in
the cash flow forecasts and considering possible
management bias in the selection of assumptions;
and

considering the appropriateness on the recognition of
impairment loss on various classes of assets.



Impairment assessment on goodwill for information

BB E - B REMIREER

technology outsourcing, consultancy and technical ([EHRIEREER ) REBEIERBE

services business (“IT Services business”) and related

non-current assets (continued)

Key Audit Matter
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E2EE 2 RENE (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Bz ER N REERERSE
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Valuation of convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (the

“Convertible Bond”)

Refer to in Notes 2, 3, 28 and 34(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter
BREXSE

EBEARATFEIRIEERANEE 2
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMzERNmEE@RRERSER

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of the Convertible
Bond was approximately HK$146,426,000.

The management engaged the Valuer to estimate the
fair value of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2020.

We have identified the valuation of the Convertible
Bond as a key audit matter because the amounts
involved are significant and the valuation of the
Convertible Bond and the related disclosures require
market data and modelling techniques which rely on
a range of inputs. Where observable market data are
not available, or where instruments are not liquid,
estimates must be developed based on the most
appropriate source data. These estimates are subject
to significant judgement. In addition, we have identified
the disclosure of the fair value of the Convertible Bond
in the fair value hierarchy as an area of focus. Besides,
the recognition and measurement of the Convertible
Bond involved significant judgement and estimates by
the management.
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Our key audit procedures included:

(@)

inspecting the deed of amendment with the holder
of Convertible Bond to understand the amendment
arrangements and to assess the accounting
treatment were in accordance with the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, and the reasonableness on the key
inputs used and assumptions by the Valuer and
agreed by the management including the discount
rate and share price; and

evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
Valuer in relation to the fluctuation on the discount
rate and share price of the Company’s shares.
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Acquisition accounting for Harbour Group

Refer to in Notes 2 and 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
BREBELEE

BeEEWEETHE
B2 BR A M HRA M 2 36(b)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMzERNAEERRERSEE

The Group completed the acquisition of Harbour Group
on 23 April 2019 at a consideration of approximately
HK$37,285,000 (the “Harbour Group Acquisition”).
The Harbour Group Acquisition constituted a business
combination for accounting purposes.

The initial accounting for the Harbour Group Acquisition
required the Group to identify the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed and measure their amounts. In
particular, the management engaged the IT Services
Valuer to provide assistance in measuring the values
of identifiable assets and liabilities. Goodwill of
approximately HK$24,148,000 arising from the Harbour
Group Acquisition was recognised at the date of
acquisition.

We considered this matter as a key audit matter due to
the significance of amounts involved and the significant
estimates made by the management in estimating the
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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Our key audit procedures included:

@

(b)

evaluating management’s assessment of the terms of
the acquisition agreement;

understanding the valuation processes and
methodologies, significant assumptions adopted
and key inputs used in the valuation of assets and
liabilities;

challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge and understanding of the
businesses of Harbour Group and markets;

assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies
and the reasonableness of significant assumptions
used by the management in determining the value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed including fair
value adjustments as at the date of acquisition;

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the IT Services Valuer; and

performing legal search on Harbour Group and
obtaining confirmation from the Group’s lawyer to
identify any contingent liabilities and evaluate the
impact.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s 2020 annual report but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

HEFRABBEKESTERZAE
HIEH Eim - WIRRFTES ZEZE
& REEAFEEENNBEREH
ZEARTHEERR  tMAkY &
SEZFELERIBRERRE
HEMAREERSFEEATHEER
= AR ZBMREPIRGEERE
TR A MBRER ZAREEKE -
ERERENTR  AIRMACLEE
R o ZAERASERBEREENRE R
IEPRERIS 2 BEBEFRED - 1M -
AREMFXBERAEEH EEEE

BRETON=R b T ek YE Y
BERAR  BREEEER UK
EBUBHRERETERBERAR S R
ER

B BEEERNERIXKEB MG
BHERTRMEE ZEZERE - N
HEEPBHRREREL - RMBE
BE  BEBYHTEREZEFR ° 3
RESRERAEZHEE -



We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 23 June 2020

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: P05510
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEE

Revenue
Cost of services and goods sold

Gross profit

Other revenue

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses

Exchange loss, net

Finance costs

Supplemental resources fee

Change in fair value of contingent consideration receivables

Change in fair value and gain arising from modification
of convertible bond designated as financial liabilities
at FVPL

Impairment loss on goodwil

(Loss)/Profit before tax
Income tax expenses

(Loss)/Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss, net of nil tax
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of functional currency
to presentation currency

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to:

- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

(Loss)/Earnings per share (expressed in
Hong Kong cents)
- Basic

- Diluted

The notes on pages 84 to 234 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2020
e

HK$'000
TR

127,989
(75,775)
52,214

5,833
(367)
(49,411)
4672
(6,952)
(85,688)
3,009

71,443
(3,831)

(18,422)
(6,182)

(24,604)

(7,844)

(32,448)

(25,306)
702

(24,604)

(33,089)
641

(32,448)

(3.31)

(5.87)
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As at 31 March 2020
R=-B-EBF=A=+—H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Security deposit
Non-refundable deposits

Prepayments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Contingent consideration receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets measured at FVPL

Trade and other receivables
Restricted bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Convertible bond designated
as financial liabilities at FVPL

Trade and other payables
Mining right payables, current portion

Interest-bearing borrowings
Promissory notes

Lease liabilities
Tax payables

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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32
16

18

19
20
22
23

28

25
26
30
31

2020

ot ot Y-
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HK$’000
TR

96,856
128,886
24,546

1,093
2,065
6,186

259,632

8,179

16,389
73,760
161,366

259,694

54,929
3,348
65,345
2,400

1,905
4,697

132,624

127,070

386,702

2019
—Z—NF
HK$’000
F#T

51,370
18,505
4,229
5,506
2,431

19,635
2,009

103,685

7,573

60,236
8,224
77,612
278,814

432,459

217,869
58,794

68,345

3,196

348,204

84,255

187,940



As at 31 March 2020
R-Z-_ZTF=A=+—8

2020 2019
bt 353 —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET

Capital and reserves B R
Share capital R 27 76,537 76,537
Reserves & 74,013 107,102

Equity attributable to owners of the EATEEAELER

Company 150,550 183,639
Non-controlling interests JEVERR A 2,515 1,044
Total equity AR 153,065 184,683
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Convertible bond designated as financial &7 Az A ES BRI FE

liabilities at FVPL BaNREseRaEs

R ES 28 146,426 =
Provision for close down, restoration and  E8E] - 182R RIRIBAK AN

environmental costs B 29 2,726 2,870

Mining right payables, non-current portion  JFE{~ SR IBHE R IE
FERNERES 25 80,155 =
Promissory notes AHER 30 2,211 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 1,333 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIIEE(E 32 786 387
233,637 3,257
386,702 187,940

These consolidated financial statements were approved and ZEGEEAUBEREN_SE_EFA_-_+=
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2020 and ~ HHREE S E RIEETIEE - WAL

signed on its behalf by REHRZ
Kwan Man Fai Wang Xiangfei
B AR
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 84 to 234 form an integral part of these &N FS4E234 B ~ i sT# k% & 454 Bt
consolidated financial statements. BRRZ—3 D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAREBB%

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAFRRNER
Exchange Non-
Share Share Capita Statutory ranglation Specal  Accumulated controling Total
captal premium Tesere TESeIes TESeNe Tesere [osses Totdl interests equiy
e Rir&R ErGR HERE EXGE HiRE  ZnEE gE o HRER 3]
Mes27e)  MoeZie)  Desel)  MosZE)  Noediel)
(Wkor) — (Worn)  oskomi)  (Rbskon)  (Bbskni)
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Tin Thm Thn Tén T Tin Tin Thn
Asat 1 Apri 2018 1-5-)\¥RA-A 16537 191,534 14882 20424 2,110 2,143 (184,914) 165,716 - 165,716
Puoftfor e yer R - - - - - R LT ) B )
Totalother comprehensive income: ~ £ 2 FUHEAE
Item that meybe recassfed Bkugahikzhal
subsequenty o proft or loss Ef
Exchange dfference on trangion o~ € ERA27IE% Y
functiondl curency topresentation 3 £8
curency - - - - (10920 - - (10920) 11 (10909
Total compreensive Ioome EMAENREE
forthe year - - - - (10920 - 28,843 1793 11 17934
Transactions with owners: EREARGRG
Appropiaion of tatutory esene.— EEREZDE - - - 2,562 = = 2562 - - -
Aporopraion for mantenancsand  EHREEESAE
production funds - - - 2,612 - - (26612 - - -
Utlsaton of meintennce anl EEREEES/HR
production funds - - - 26612 - - 2,612 - - -
- - - 2602 - - ) - - -
Changesnoweshpineresls ~ AFEERS
Non-contoling nerests arsng from R RAHEER
busness comoineton Note 36)  JEETRTER (0600 - - - - - - - - 103 10%
Asat 31 March 2019 N-F-NE=A=1-H 16537 191,534 14882 2,936 9190 18 (158,633 183,639 1,044 184,083
The notes on pages 84 to 234 form an integral part of these &N ESL4E 2348 7 M sH B Z S5 A BT

consolidated financial statements.

BwKR 2z 2D °

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED SR &REXER A F



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTERARE

Exchange Non-
Share Share Capital Stafutory ~ translation Special  Accumulated controlling Total

capital premium reserve TESeNves resene resene losses interests equity
jied BiE LY HERf EfiRf GhRE  RiER B2 I i
(Note27(@))) ~ Mote27(alii)  (Note27(alfil)  Note27fal)  (Note 27(a)fy)
(Wean)  (hsoram) () (Bekorae)  (E27@)
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Tin Thn Tin Tn Tin Thn Thn Thn Tin Tn

Asat 1 Aprl 2019 HZ8-NERR-B 16,537 191,534 14,882 2,986 9,190 U048 (198638 183639 1,044 184,683

Loss for the year FMEE = = = - - - 30 (253 2 (24504
Total other comprehensive loss: ~ EH2EEBEE
e thet meybe reckassfed subsequenty 4T E A EEER 7
toproftorfoss Ef
Bxchange diference on tranglion o~ &g ERA27IE%Y
functiond curency topresentafion R ES

cunency - - - = (7,783) ° ° (r,783) (61) (7.84)
Tota comprehensive oss for e year ~ ER2EEIEES - - - - (7,783 - (25,306) (33,089) 641 (32448)
Transactions with owners: HREAETZRS
Aopropreton of statutoryresene.  EEEE7 AR - - - ] - ° (rs1) 2 = -
Aporopraion for mantenancsand  EEREEES R

production funds - - - 16,534 - - (16,534) - - -
Utlsaton of maintenance and EBREEEL DR

production funds - - - (16,534) - - 16,534 - - -
Dividendss paic o non-controling TTEERER RS

nerests - - - - - - - - (1,010) (1,010)

- - - ol - - 51 N 1 Y1)

Changes in onnership teests FrEEREY
Noncontoling teressarsng fom ~ EEBASE e
busiess combination Note 36) s (36 = = = - - - - - 1840 1840

As at 31 March 2020 W-E-EE=fR=1-R 16,587 191,534 14,882 PANKTS 1407 703 (184690 160,550 2515 153,065

The notes on pages 84 to 234 form an integral part of these  ZI|EH AR E84ZE 234 E 7 M sFHERK
consolidated financial statements. Rz 2 —EB5 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEE

Notes

P aE

Operating activities
(Loss)/Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets which was
included in “cost of services and goods
sold”
Change in fair value of contingent
consideration receivables
Change in fair value and gain arising
from modification of convertible bond
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL

Charge of loss allowances of trade
receivables

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss on goodwill

Net exchange loss

Finance costs

Interest income

Operating cash flow before movements in
working capital

Changes in working capital:
Security deposits
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Cash (used in) /generated from operations
Interest paid
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Prepayments for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment

Refundable deposit paid for acquisition of
subsidiaries

Net outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries

Purchases of financial assets measured at
FVPL

Redemption of financial assets measured at
FVPL

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

REXHK
kbR (B58) s Al
L NHITR B (R
W - B RRETE

BVEAEBHGIATEE
R R Emm A ])

ﬁgg%ﬁwgza%

e AR ATERIED
EEAEE Y SRS

ZARBES Y AT
BE Rl
RS B R 2

agg%»%%&&ﬁz
AERERE

B EE

BERA

FlBRA

EEESRHACKETERE

BEESE
Rk

FE
M E SR e B FE WA TR
FERTE TR E AR 3RIE

KEXB(RA),/ RS
ERAE
ERAEM

REXB(MA),/ FERLFR

REXHK

BEEVAE

WEDE - BERRELZ
FBITHR

WEEMB AR ENATRE
e

WEEHB AR R

BERLFEIIRLAEEA
RIEZERMEE

BN FESIRTFEREA
REZERERE

BYA B

REXBFTRESFE

36

19

19

2020
= B

HK$’000
TEr

(18,422)
7,373

2,956

(3,009)

(71,443)
7

170
3,831

14,344
6,952
(3,185)

(60,426)

5,232

(721)
6,910
(8,573)

(57,578)
(4,433)
(5,141)

(67,152)

(24,709)
(39,838)

(533)

(24,492)

57,247
3,185

(29,142)

2019
—T-NE
HK$'000
FHET

34,593

2,356

4,685

(29,373)
979
15,448

964
(4,343)

25,309

(704_1)
269
(7,214)

17,660
(964)
(10,124)

6,572

(40,441)

(19,635)

(3,571)
(10,323)

(60,236)

4,343

(129,363)



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Financing activities

Inception of interest-bearing borrowings
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings
Repayment of lease liabilities

Repayment of promissory note

Increase in restricted bank balances

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year

Effect on foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash
equivalents

Bank balances and cash

Short term deposit with an original maturity of
three months or less

Cash on hand

The notes on pages 84 to 234 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

2020
—E_EfF
Notes HK$’000
BisE FET
mE K
SEEEEN =
BETEEE (3,709)
BEREAE (1,422)
BEAS R (2,400)
SR ISR THERRIE AN -
BMELKFTARSTE (7,531)
REeRBSSEEBRDFHE (103,825)
FHNzRERREEEER
278,814
EXREE) B (13,623)
FRZBEERRESEEER 161,366
ReRRESEEE BB
BITREBEIRE 95,746
FEEBEA=EASARNZ
ySLIEEH 64,365
FoEE e 1,255
161,366

B#R 2 —8D °

2019

—E-NEF

HIE A E 84234 B 7 M sE A E

HK$'000
TAT

69,577
(1,160)

(77,612)
(9,195)

(132,486)

440,437

(29,137)

278,814

43,968

234,705
141

278,814

AN
Z%nﬂ'\ (=] E?f



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEE

Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, its holding
company is Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with
limited liability and its ultimate holding company is New Bright
International Development Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability. Its ultimate controlling party is
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, Veronica. These entities do not produce
financial statements available for public use.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the
subsidiaries of the Company are principally engaged in (i)
mining and sales of coal; (i) renewable energy solutions; and
(iii) information technology (“IT”) outsourcing, consultancy and
technical services (together referred to “IT Services”). The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Basis of compliance (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
2019 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption
of the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as set out below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs:

HKFRS 3: Previously held interest in a joint operation

The amendments clarify that obtaining control of a business
that is a joint operation is a business combination achieved
in stages. The acquirer shall therefore apply the requirements
for a business combination achieved in stages, including
remeasuring its entire previously held interest in the joint
operation.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 11: Previously held interest in a joint operation

The amendments clarify that when an entity that participated in
a joint operation which is a business obtains joint control of the
joint operation, its previously held interest in the joint operation
is not remeasured.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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BRERAN T SOPTE B AN SR [ B R AL 0 A

FEAEB IR IRMEFT BRI
FEAIN  RFLEAMBERRTIRE

BT NFRAMBERRMRAZ

SRR B EERH -

RFE] G BB MR ELE
=[]

ANEE E R FERI TR &8
BTSRRI

BB HEERFES - THIREE

B H IR
%EE ;J$Zé‘na ;ETHX SHAE LXK
MIEFIESDERBERNEBEH

BRI ERA ﬁfab%% LR EBE B
ZEXR  BREHFEELINGE
EBRENREELE

RAZ BT AH R M RREL

TTEﬁ?&L

BB EERE11 - EFIRE
EXBI R

REEARRE E-RBEEEHE
BOERISZA & XK RIES

HES B RTARA BER R A
HTREHE -

4
W

SR AR A MR EE



For the year ended 31 March 2020
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FoRF-A=t-HLEFE

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKAS 12: Income tax consequences of payments on financial
instruments classified as equity

The amendments clarify that (a) the income tax consequences of
dividends are recognised in profit or loss, other comprehensive
income or equity according to where the past transactions or
events that generated the distributable profits were originally
recognised and (b) these requirements apply to all income tax
consequences of dividends as defined in HKFRS 9.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 23: Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

The amendments clarify that (a) if a specific borrowing remains
outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for its
intended use or sale, it becomes part of the funds an entity
borrows generally and (b) funds borrowed specifically to obtain
an asset other than a qualifying asset are included as part of
general borrowings.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 supports the requirements in HKAS 12 Income
Taxes by specifying how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in
accounting for income taxes.

The adoption of the HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

The amendments require the use of updated assumptions to
determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder
of the reporting period after a change is made to a plan.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The amendments clarify that long-term interests in an associate
or joint venture, to which the equity method is not applied, are
accounted for using HKFRS 9.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets with
negative compensation can be measured at amortised cost or
at fair value through other comprehensive income instead of at
fair value through profit or loss if specified conditions are met.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 and related Interpretations
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It
significantly changes, among others, the lessee accounting by
replacing the dual-model under HKAS 17 with a single model
which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for the rights and obligations created by all leases
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset
is of low value. For lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two
types of leases differently. HKFRS 16 also requires enhanced
disclosures to be provided by lessees and lessors.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied HKFRS 16 for the first time as at 1 April 2019 (i.e.
the date of initial application, the “DIA”) using the modified
retrospective approach in which comparative information
has not been restated. Instead, the Group recognised
the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the balance of accumulated profits or other
component of equity, where appropriate, at the DIA.

The Group also elected to use the transition practical expedient
not to reassess whether a contract was, or contained, a lease
at the DIA and the Group applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
to contracts entered into or changed on or after the DIA that are
identified as leases applying HKFRS 16.

Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts were
classified as operating or finance lease in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies applicable prior to the DIA.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted for the
leases in accordance with the transition provisions of HKFRS 16
and the Group’s accounting policies applicable from the DIA.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
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Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

As lessee — leases previously classified as operating leases

The Group recognised right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) and lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases at the DIA, except for leases
for which the underlying asset is of low value, and the Group
applied the following practical expedients on a lease-by-lease
basis:

(@ applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics.

(b) adjusted the right-of-use assets at the DIA by the
provision for onerous leases recognised immediately
before the DIA by applying HKAS 37, as an alternative to
performing an impairment review at the DIA.

(c) did not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
to leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months
of the DIA.

(d)  excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the
right-of-use assets at the DIA.

(e)  used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease.

At the DIA, right-of-use assets were, on a lease-by-lease basis,
measured at either:

(@  their carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 had been applied
since the commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the DIA; or

(b) an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the lease recognised immediately before the DIA.

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate at the DIA. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities at the
DIA are ranging from 5.39% to 5.91%.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)

As lessee — leases previously classified as operating leases
(continued)

Reconciliation of operating lease commitments disclosed
applying HKAS 17 as at 31 March 2019 and lease liabilities
recognised at the DIA is as follows:

BRanEET
A (48)

SR BB ERE

TEBARMN —EFI 7 B EHER
HEE)

RZBE-—NWF=ZA=+—HBREER
BEEGENFI7THRNEEHERE
HREAERARERNEESEDN

HERMAT -
HK$’000
FAET
Operating lease commitment as at RZE-NF=A=+—RHZ
31 March 2019 f‘“%fﬁ S 2,936
Less: Short-term leases with remaining lease B B THERN T EF=A=+—H
term ending on or before 31 March 2020 R AIERCREHEE (386)
Less: Future finance charges B RRMIEE A (211)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFMA— AR ZHEA
discounted using the lessee’s incremental EAAEEEEFERIR 2
borrowing rate HEBE 2,339

At the DIA, all right-of-use assets were presented within the

RERERBH MAXAEEER

line item “property, plant and equipment” on the consolidated IREBMBIRNE [ - BE k&
statement of financial position. IHEWZ5 -
As a result, the impacts for the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 are it FIFRNE B SR EERE
as follows: 165 EIAT ¢
31 March 2019 Adjustments 1 April 2019
T—NEF —NF
=A=1+—8 = mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT FHT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets, presented £ FAREEE - R
in property, plant and B KR ERT
equipment - 2,339 2,339
Current liabilities nREBaE
Lease liabilities MEGE - 708 708
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 1,631 1,631
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Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except
for the contingent consideration receivables, the unlisted
investments in principal guaranteed funds, which are classified
as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL”), and the convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL, which are measured at fair value as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice
of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when
control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis
as would be required if the parent had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary
are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or
others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.

mElREEE(E)

BahEtzElas B HEBN
ARAHEE ARIFERER - 2HEK
SAAERBR AR R EE ARIFER
s BB RS EBIHTRES D
BB AR

AEERWBAR 2 A RERED
LFEREWRETHIE - AEEERS
AFR o PR s N IR A s 2 AR
BEFHAZE  WARRERKBARZ
MERAESEE) o FFERERED K
BERREAFEZRZEREZEEE
RigmER  WERBNAABRHEAA °

i 75 5 1B 25 25 S B I 8 R e R 6 4
HEREENBERIR NIMENEZER
FE (R KREEGIEE AR RAER
RNFEREARE DD TFENE
Mo RNAREZHIEE BB AR
REMGEEREENEE(RERE)
RAENREE - TR ALK
SR BRMEENBARNSHE
RERKS AR ERHEHEBEES
BEMR—EEIIR - RATHER A
REHERIRE MATMB AR B RK
RAS R B~ R I 2 5 B R 5T
HHEE BERERBRIIRSERE
B BEQR AEhXSHEM -



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Incomes
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Business combinations (continued)

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income where appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount
of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If some or all of
the goodwill allocated to a CGU was acquired in a business
combination during the current annual period, that unit shall
be tested for impairment before the end of the current annual
period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of profit or loss on
disposal.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed
in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

M -~ BERERRE

ME  BELERBEERIELESLM
fEE MR ETTH AR 2
ErRBT - THRAABER R
FEMERRBREBR(WNE) T
B M% - BERREBEB ZKAE
BREBEEMEMBEEZHAE
BERZ ZEFBL R 2 TAE
BEIEIERA - EMRETRNEESE
HIRN B8 -

YE - BELERBEB ZNENEE
BOEREAFT AIME A F AL L R
B RSEERAE - AMEENX
ZIS E-EYE  BEMRENHERE

2B TR AR F B - %A B B
AR BEARERH D ZEIE
& &b T ERI T EE -

BEBEABR 2 ARRLEBENRE A BE
MAREE KZIEEB 2K AR A SEaT
SR HIERAGTTAEE ZRE B
Eﬁu RBNEE(WER) o #ERE

52 BREE T AR LR - FTB HAM
HERREDNEEARANBERY

WE  BEERERERHERIRN
BT TEUREEAZBEETES
RREBEN s 42 EHERR - EE
EXERYE - BELRBEBME
2 ek B IR IR H B PR 1S SR B
ﬁ?Z%ﬁ@%Z%%EE W

=7
E[]] e ©



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses and is amortised based on the units of
production method utilising only recoverable coal reserves as
the depletion base.

Exploration right is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Cost of the exploration right is transferred to mining right
upon the government’s approval of the mining license and the
commencement of the mining activities.
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Intangible assets (continued)

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for
mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and
the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises costs which
are directly attributable to:

research and analysing historical exploration data;

- gathering exploration data through topographical,
geochemical and geophysical studies;

= exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

- determining and examining the volume and grade of the
resource;

- surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements;
and

conducting market and finance studies.

Expenditure during the initial exploration stage of a project
is charged to profit or loss as incurred. Exploration and
evaluation assets are recognised at cost on initial recognition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, exploration and evaluation
assets are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of
acquiring licenses, are capitalised as exploration and evaluation
assets on a project-by-project basis pending determination of
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project.

The capitalised costs are presented as either tangible or
intangible exploration and evaluation assets according to the
nature of the assets. Tangible and intangible exploration and
evaluation assets that are available for use are depreciated/
amortised over their useful lives. When a project is abandoned,
the related irrecoverable costs are written off to profit or loss
immediately.

Renewable energy service contract is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 25 years.
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Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial
asset.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially
measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) Mandatory fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); (i) Designated FVOCI;
or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual
reporting period following the change in the business model.
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Financial instruments (continued)

(1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as

at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment derecognition or through the amortisation

process are recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
security deposit, trade and other receivables, restricted

bank balances and cash and cash equivalents.
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Financial instruments (continued)

@

Financial assets measured at FVPL

These investments include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial
assets that are otherwise required to be measured at
FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant
gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does
not include any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented
separately from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a host
is an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated
from the host. Instead, the entire hybrid contract is
assessed for classification.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include the contingent consideration receivables
and the unlisted investments in principal guaranteed
funds.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings, promissory notes, lease liabilities,
mining right payables and convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL. All financial liabilities, except for
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL, are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain
and loss recognised in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair
value changes of financial liabilities designated at FVPL that are
attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which is presented
in other comprehensive income unless such treatment would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The
amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be
subsequently transferred to profit or loss. Before the adoption
of HKFRS 9, all the fair value gain or loss of financial liabilities at
FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)

(i)

incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL
only if:

(i)

(i)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases;

they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or

they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

The convertible bond issued by the Group (including related
embedded derivative) is designated as financial liabilities at
FVPL on initial recognition. Subsequent to the initial recognition,
the entire convertible bond is measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for the changes in fair value attributable
to the changes of the credit risk of the liabilities.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at
FVPL.

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Financial instruments (continued)

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments
as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group measures
a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the past due information or
other credit risk characteristics.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria:

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
except for which the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) thelender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

THMITAEGE)

(FEEERR
SHMTARUTER TS RET AL
BIEEERR -

() EBRHERBRIE :

(i) BERAEEERNBEEENET
HENBHERE® &

iy FERBARGHEREZTHE
b F—EeREERABITE
WHRTREH 8T °

BHEEER 2 BIET%
HEKRERREHNEEMS » AKE
RAMBLETDEAERREERER - &
SERNEREAHEN YRR EER
EBREGAEEREE YT —EE
REBSLEEERERNBERELY -
I AR B ARH A M AL IR IF 5 T # A1 BE
MRZETHE -

ZEBEE# A E
BERA-ERZRETREEM R
KREREETFEELENE > &
MEELREERE - eREEREE
MEZEBEBEATEHZABEH
I’

(@ BTARERABAEAHBER
5 -

b) BRELD  WEROSEBHEMN -

© BRAZBRAREERALR
MBREEREEBERAHER
M TERABRKATTRITE
B2 BEARF -



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Financial instruments (continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset (continued)
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

()  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts (if
any) that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Revenue recognition

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the
Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while
it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Nature of goods or services

The nature of goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

(i) sales of coals;

(i)  renewable energy services;

(i)  sales of IT hardware products;

(iv) T outsourcing services; and

(v)  IT consultancy and technical services.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identify
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@)

(b)

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@)

the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of coals and IT hardware products are recognised at a
point in time at which the customer obtains the control of the
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when
the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Service income from renewable energy services, IT outsourcing
services and IT consultancy and technical services are
recognised over time when services are rendered.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on
the direct measurements of the value to the customer of the
goods or services transferred to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract) to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of
the Group’s performance and reliable information is available
to the Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such
time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation.

The principal outputs applied in the output method for service
income of renewable energy services and IT consultancy and
technical services are based on the unit of energy produced and
the appraisals of progress achieved, respectively. The principal
input applied in the input method for IT outsourcing services is
the usage of staff hours by customers.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component
(i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the
time value of money. The effect of the significant financing
component is recognised as an interest income or interest
expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components (continued)
The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate
with the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and its customer at contract
inception by reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate
implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the
cash selling price of the goods or services to the amount paid
in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the
Group’s borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness
information of the customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the
effect of the significant financing component if the period of
financing is one year or less.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.
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Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)
For the Group’s businesses, it is common for the Group to
receive from the customer the whole or some of the contractual
payments before the services are completed or when the goods
are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such
transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until it
is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

The Group’s billing to its customers which are largely in line with
the timing of revenue recognition and no significant contract
assets are recognised. Contract liabilities in relation to advances
from customers are recognised under “Trade and other
payables”.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$") for the convenience of
the shareholders as the Company is listed in Hong Kong. The
Company’s functional currency is Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Foreign currency translation (continued)

The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate at the
end of each reporting period;

o income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate;

o all resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity;

o on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;

° on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified
to profit or loss; and

o On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

- right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;

— prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
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Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use (“VIU”). In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a CGU).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the CGU to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect
of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or VIU (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.
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Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill
(continued)

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is
reviewed at least annually and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired. Impairment test is performed in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets whenever one
of the following events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (the list is not
exhaustive):

= the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

- substantive expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

— exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
or

— sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence caused
by the resettlement of the land at the mining sites. Depending
on the circumstances, the Group may relocate inhabitants from
the mining sites prior to conducting mining activities or the
Group may compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage
from close down and land subsidence after the sites have been
mined. The Group may also be required to make payments for
restoration, rehabilitation or environmental protection of the land
after the sites have been mined.

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling and
demoalition of infrastructure and the removal of residual materials
and remediation of disturbed areas. Close down and restoration
costs are provided in the accounting period when the obligation
arising from the related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs
during mine development or during the production phase,
based on the net present value of estimated future costs. The
cost is capitalised where it gives rise to future benefits, whether
the rehabilitation activity is expected to occur over the life of
the operation or at the time of close down. The capitalised cost
other than that is included in the cost of inventories is amortised
over the life of the operation and the increase in the net present
value of the provision is included in borrowing costs or other
items where appropriate.

Where there is a change in the expected decommissioning
and restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded against the
carrying value of the provision and related assets, and the effect
is then recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on a prospective basis
over the remaining life of the operation except for the portion
included in the cost of inventories. Provisions for close down
and restoration costs do not include any additional obligations
which are expected to arise from future disturbance. The cost
estimates are reviewed and revised at the end of the reporting
period to reflect changes in conditions.
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Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

AS lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
COMprises:

(@  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d)  anestimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantliing
and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives
of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term
or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of
the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero
and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.
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Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)
When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

@)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of
the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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Leases (continued)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a

lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, with the following

exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis and, if classified
as investment property, is accounted for as if held

under a finance lease; and

- land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being
held under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that
the lease was first entered into by the Group, or
taken over from the previous lessee.
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Leases (continued)

(i)

(i)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are included in property,
plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations
under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates
which write off the cost of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset. Impairment
losses are accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy. Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.

(i)

(i)
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Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group’s entities established in
Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the employees of the Group’s
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to those plans are expensed as
incurred and other than these monthly contributions, the Group
has no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits
to its employees.

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payment

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.
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Share-based payment (continued)

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or
other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can
be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(@)

(b)

(i)
(ii
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the holding company of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

@M

(i)

(i)

(V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to holding company of the Group.
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Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(o)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive
directors for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial period.

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that can
be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s
coal reserves. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. Estimating the
quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and
depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgements and
calculations to interpret the data.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations,
estimates of reserves may change from period to period.
Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial
results and financial position in a number of ways, including the
following:

(i) asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in
estimated future cash flows.

(i)  depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to
the profit or loss may change where such charges are
determined by the units of production basis, or where the
useful economic lives of assets change.

(i)  decommissioning, site restoration and environmental
provisions may change where changes in estimated
reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of
these activities.

(iv)  the carrying value of deferred tax may change as a result
of changes in the asset carrying values as discussed
above.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

The Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (exclude exploration and evaluation
assets classified as intangible assets) are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortisation and impairment
losses, where appropriate. These carrying amounts are
reviewed for impairment whenever internal and external sources
of information indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and VIU. In estimating the
recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions, including
future cash flows to be associated with the non-current
assets and discount rates, are made. If future events do not
correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will
need to be revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s
results of operations or financial position. The impairment
assessment of the Group’s mining right and exploration
and evaluation assets included in intangible assets is further
discussed below.

The Group assesses each CGU annually to determine whether
any indication of impairment exists, which included internal
and external sources of information for mining right, and facts
and circumstances for exploration and evaluation assets.
Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered
to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and
VIU. These assessments require the use of estimates and
assumptions such as long-term commodity prices, discount
rates, future capital requirements, exploration potential and
operating performance. It is difficult to precisely estimate fair
value because quoted market prices are not readily available.
In determining the VIU, expected cash flows generated by
the asset are discounted to their present value, which require
significant judgement and estimates such as sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. The management
has assessed its CGU as being an individual mine site, which is
the lowest level for which cash flows are largely independent of
other assets.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the VIU of the
CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the VIU
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected cash
flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of the estimates used to calculate the recoverable
amount are given in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables and other receivables by using various inputs
and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss
rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which
is based on the Group’s historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade receivables. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s contingent consideration receivables and
convertible bond are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The directors of the Company have to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The directors of the
Company work closely with the qualified external valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 16 and
34 to the consolidated financial statements provide detailed
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various assets and liabilities.

Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate.

The directors of the Company determine the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. The management will increase the
depreciation charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or it will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

The directors of the Company review the ageing analysis of
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for use in production or
sales. The directors of the Company estimate the net realisable
value for consumables and coals based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group carries
out an inventory review on a item-by-item basis at the end of
each reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete items.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs is determined by the directors of the Company based
on their past experience and best estimation of future
expenditures, after taking into account existing relevant in the
PRC regulations. However, in so far as the effect on the land
and the environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future periods, the estimate of the associated costs
may be subject to revision from time to time.

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets which arose
from deductible temporary. The realisability of the deferred tax
assets mainly depends on whether it is probable that future
taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
against which the assets can be utilised. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences
generated are less than expected, a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which will be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such reversal takes place.
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Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being identified as the chief operating decision
makers (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods delivered or services rendered. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

(1) Coal mining business segment: mining and sales of coals
in the PRC;

(2) Renewable energy business segment: service income
from renewable energy services in Malaysia; and

(8) IT Services business segment: IT consultancy and
technical services (including sales of IT hardware
products) and IT outsourcing services in Hong Kong,
Malaysia, Singapore and United Kingdom.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from (i) coal
mining business; (i) renewable energy business; and (iii) IT
Services business.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance, represent the profit
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of change in fair value of contingent consideration receivables
and convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL,
impairment loss on goodwill and exchange loss or gain.
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Segment revenue and results (continued)

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill, security deposit, deferred tax
assets, contingent consideration receivables, inventories,
financial assets measured at FVPL, trade and other receivables,
restricted bank balances and cash and cash equivalents.
All assets are allocated to operating segments other than
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities include convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL, trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings, promissory notes, lease liabilities, mining
right payables, tax payables, provision for close down,
restoration and environmental costs and deferred tax liabilities.
All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

In addition, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s place of domicile is Hong Kong, where the central
management and control is located.
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Segment revenue and results (continued)
The followings are analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

7 RRH

by reportable and operating segments:

BN EED

Coal Renewable IT
mining energy Services
business business business Unallocated Total
EERER BN
BREEK % PR % OB @t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TEL TEL TEL TAL
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-E-SF
ZA=t+-HLEE
Revenue from external customers and R BINER P 2 Wz K
reportable segment revenue RESBlE 73,910 775 53,304 - 127,989
Gross profit EH 42,145 469 9,600 - 52,214
Seling and distrioution expenses ~ $HERDHER (367) - - - (367)
Segment results NEEE 4,778 469 9,600 - 51,847
Other revenue HitMas 4,215 - 15 1,603 5,833
Administrative and other operating 1T R AL ER
expenses (21,559) (1,005) (4889) (21958  (49,411)
Finance costs RERAK (6,228) - (349) (375) (6,952)
Supplemental resources fee BRERER (85,688) - - - (85,688)
Change in fair value of contingent ~ JEWEAREZ AT EES
consideration receivables - - - 3,009 3,009
Change in fair value and gain arising ~ 3%4EE BIR A FE BT
from modification of convertible bes v WF‘IEZHE% Ez
bond designated as financial R ESF D THEEDR
liabilties at FVPL B2 Wigs = = = 71,443 71,443
Impairment loss on goodwil HERERR - - = (3,831) (3,831)
Exchange loss, net EREETE - - - (4,672) (4,672)
(Loss)/Profit before tax A (B518),/ 5 A (67,482) (536) 4,377 45,219 (18,422)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FER(E%) /e (5,764) 23 (441) = (6,182)
(Loss)/Profit for the year (B8) /&7 (783,246) (513) 3,936 45,219 (24,604)
Additional segment information: EtnBEr
Amortisation By 2,890 66 - = 2,956
Depreciation nE 5,215 229 789 1,140 7,373
Additions to property, plant and NENE  BEREE
equipment 32,634 18,937 1,479 870 53,920
Additions to intangible assets NEEVEE 116,115 - - - 116,115
Charge of loss allowance of trade ~ FEWEFE BB 2 2 1
receivables - - 7 - 7
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. HBER(E)
Segment revenue and results (continued) DN R FEE(E)
Coal  Renewable T
mining energy Services
business business business  Unallocated Total
EEMRE  AARE
BRE 2% RBES RO 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL THL
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-_ZT-hF
ZA=+—RBILFE
Revenue from external customers  RESNFEFE 2z R
and reportable segment revenue  A] R4 S RENGES 75,234 391 - = 75,625
Gross profit E7 30,867 216 - - 31,083
Selling and distribution expenses ~ $HERHHER (474) = = - (474)
Segment results DEEE 30,393 216 - - 30,609
Other revenue Hipls 8,865 - - 1,573 10,438
Administrative and other operating {TH K Ef4E & E
expenses (14,099) (261) - (14,328) (28,688)
Finance costs BARA (964) = = = (964)
Change in fair value of convertible 157 A /ATEZBRITE
bond designated as financial BRENREZeBERZ
liabiliies at FVPL aRES D TEREY - - - 29,373 29,373
Exchange loss, net i 5 B8 5 - = = (6,175) (6,175)
Profit/(Loss) before tax BBATET,/ (B518) 24,195 (45) - 10,443 34,593
Income tax expenses FEHRX (5,750) = = = (5,750)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FRaEF/ (B18) 18,445 (45) = 10,443 28,843
Additional segment information: B 7 BEN -
Amortisation B 4,659 26 - - 4,685
Depreciation e 2,141 117 - 98 2,356
Additions to property, plantand ~ REWE « BE k&
equipment 40,199 = = 242 40,441
Additions to intangible assets NEEVEE - 1,618 - - 1,618

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED SR &REXER A F
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Segment assets and liabilities PHEEENRERE
The followings are analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities U TAREERREMEEDENE
by reportable and operating segments: E;BEST
Coal Renewable IT
mining energy Services
business business business Unallocated Total
ABERE  EARHE
REEK 5% REBEEK ROE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT T THT
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-BF=A=1+-A
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 69,990 23,244 1,280 2,342 96,856
Intangible assets EVEE 127,360 1,526 - - 128,886
Goodwill S - 4,229 20,317 - 24,546
Contingent consideration I ARE
receivables - - - 6,186 6,186
Other assets Hin & 171,618 6,638 12,850 71,746 262,852
Total assets BaE 368,968 35,637 34,447 80,274 519,326
Convertible bond designated as  185E AR ATFEFIBR T
financial liabilities at FVPL BEAEEZeRARY
R ES - - - (146,426)  (146,426)
Promissory notes R EE - - - (4,611) (4,611)
Mining right payables JE R RIRRETR (83,503) = = = (83,503)
Other liabiltties HingE (110,024) (9,510) (6,133) (6,054)  (131,721)
Total liabilities mar (193,527 (9,510) (6,133)  (157,091)  (366,261)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=1—H
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENRE 45,507 5,618 - 245 51,370
Intangible assets BHEE 16,913 1,592 - - 18,505
Goodwil B - 4,229 - - 4,229
Other assets Hin & 327,299 1,340 - 133,401 462,040
Total assets BEE 389,719 12,779 - 133,646 536,144
Convertible bond designated as 387 A& A FES|BRI7E
financial liabilities at FVPL BRAEERERL
AR ES = = - (217869  (217,869)
Other liabilities HiafE (129,435) (1,084) - (3,073 (133,592)
Total liabilities BaR (129,435) (1,084) - (220942)  (351,461)
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Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers
and (i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, goodwill, non-refundable deposits and prepayment for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment (“Specified Non-
current Assets”). The geographical location of the revenue
is presented based on the location of the customers. The
geographical location of the Specified Non-current Assets is
presented based on the physical location of the assets.

Revenue from external customers

IR E R
TRESN()ANEER B INPERF 2 Wz
RAEREYE - BFER&H - B
BE AR FTURERERKEY
¥ BEMEEZBENFTA(EEF
MEBEEHEUE 2 ER - Wi
BUEBREPMUEZY - HEFRD
BEZHWEVEREECERUES
5l) o

KESINBEF 2 Has

Year ended 31 March
BZ=B=1+—HILEE

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
The PRC =8 73,910 75,234
Hong Kong B 32,537 =
Malaysia SRR 14,160 391
Singapore N 3,891 =
United Kingdom T 3,491 =
127,989 75,625

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T T
The PRC H 198,442 84,486
Hong Kong B8 29,695 -
Malaysia =P it 23,244 11,439

251,381 95,925
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Information about major customers EBEFrEREFZER
Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or more of 1HBILZE10% 3k DA _ERSNER R P Y Uk
the total revenue is as follow: WA

2020 2019
—ECEF —FNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TET

Customer A and its affiliated companies & 8 & AR IRFE #1508

from IT Services business segment BEPEANMEB B AT 22,112 =
Customer B from coal mining business 3 BETE%%5HE Y X FB

segment * 56,661
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the * BHE_Z-_TF-A=+—HLFE"

total revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020. biE|
BA

Y
& W o 3 A AN SR AR U510 % 3K
£

o

2020 2019
—EEF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET T

Revenue from contracts with customers Z i B 76 i 45 R 851558

within HKFRS 15 KEEFARZ W
Coal mining business RIEER

— Sales of coals —HER K 73,910 75,234
Renewable energy business A E4ERRER

— Service income from renewable — ] A REIRARTS < BRIG UL A

energy services 775 391

IT Services business ERMBREER

— Sales of IT hardware products — HE BB E m 13,893 -

— IT outsourcing services —EMEHRINBIRTE 32,028 -

— IT consultancy and technical services — & sARHE A R MRS 7,383 -

53,304 =

127,989 75,625



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

In addition to the information shown in segment disclosures,
the revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is
disaggregated as follows:

By BB FEFTIIRZ BRI -
BREEFISHRRETL AL 2K

BRATHADH

2020
—ECEF

HK$’000
FH

Timing of revenue recognition: W s ARSI -

- at a point in time - RE—FEZ

Sales of coals SHEBLIX

Sales of IT hardware products HE BB EHEm

- over time —HEREER

Service income from renewable energy 7] B4 2R ARTS 2 ARFE U A
services

IT outsourcing services BRI RS

IT consultancy and technical services &z RHR A 8 MM IR

73,910
13,893

87,803

775
32,028
7,383

40,186

127,989

2020
—E-BE

—=—=

HK$’000
FER

Guaranteed profit compensation REB=HMEE

(Note 36(a)) (PFH3E36(a))
Interest income on bank deposits RITFER A BEMA
Sales of coal gangue HERTA
Others HAftb

435
3,185
2,041

172

5,833

BB

2019
—ZE-hEF
HK$’000
THET

75,234

75,234

391

391

75,625

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHET

4,343
5,709
386

10,438
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This is stated at after charging/(crediting):

BBiAT(BR), 8 FEMR,(GtA)
TIBEEKRZS

Finance costs

Interest on interest-bearing borrowings

Interest on mining right payables
Interest on promissory notes
Interest on lease liabilities

Staff costs
Staff costs (excluding directors’
remuneration (Note 11))

Basic salaries, allowance and other

short-term employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution

retirement plan

Other items
Amortisation of intangible assets

(charged to “cost of services and

goods sold”)
Auditor’s remuneration

— audit services

— other services

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
Charge of loss allowance of trade

receivables
Exchange (gain)/loss on financial
liabilities at FVPL, net

Other exchange loss/(gain), net
Operating lease payments

BMEARA
FREENS

& 1~ SR AR SRR A B
A HEREFE
HEREFE

SIHE

BTRA(EEME (1)
BRSO

EARFS  RMLEMEH
B

FEBRHRET B

Hitt®E
B EEEHE (R [EERB R
B IR H0ER)

Gl
— 2B
— B A RS

HEFEMRA

W - RS KAk i S E
BENE

FEE SRR R 2 X

BAFEIRYEBRREAERE L
EREEREY (k)
BRI

H AL E1E, (Ueak ) F 8

REHEEHIE

Expenses recongnised payments under %8 8378 & 5 iERAI B

short-term leases

Loss on disposal of property, plant and

equipment

HEWE - BB LREZER

2020 2019
Dok i —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR FAT
4,251 964
2,272 -
247 -

182 -
6,952 964
48,725 9,885
1,884 1,028
50,609 10,913
2,956 4,685
1,310 1,080
360 1,080
1,670 2,130
75,775 44,542
7,373 2,356

7 =
(6,802) 16,340
11,474 (10,165)

- 2,318

1,756 -
170 979
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2020 2019
—B-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Income tax expenses comprise: FrSBimaiE :
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax R ZEFTIS R 5,922 5,948
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEH 370 -
Singapore corporate income tax FANE A EPTIST
(“Singapore CIT”) ([ ZERMSH ) 38 =
United Kingdom corporate income tax & B> 3 FriS 57 296 -
6,626 5,948
Deferred tax (Note 32) RIEFRIE (MI7E32)
— Reversal of temporary difference — R EE O] (444) (198)
6,182 5,750
The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and is exempted PAN/NEI ) ER S 2 3 i IR AVAR /- Sk
from income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the WEHETB - KRR RBE LB
British Virgin Islands and Samoa are exempted from income tax SREEDN 2MB A ERRH
of the respective jurisdictions. N RERERPTIS ©
In March 2018, the two-tiered profits tax rates regime was RZE—NF=F  BBEMNEZFS
signed into law of Hong Kong, under which the first HK$2 AMETRES - B RBEZT
million of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25% —EFZRA=+—HILFE AE%K
(the “graduated tax rate”), and profits above HK$2 million will be % B #5 7t B 2,000,000 7 7T 2 S5 Fll 3%
taxed at 16.5% for the year ended 31 March 2020. The profits 8.25% ([ R#EF X |) BBITE - M
of corporations in the Group not qualifying for the two-tiered #2,000,000/8 7T 2 ' F1) 1§12 16.5% 41
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of MEE  HE_T_FTF=A="1—
16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year ended BIEFE @ TNHFAEFSHMAG &S
31 March 2020. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% ZAREEEE 2 F AR B R A
of the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March JERF a F 2 5 — T EAB.5% BT
2019. B-BE_ZT-hF=A=+—H1It
FE - BAFNEB IR ERE G
216.5%51 & o
Under the Law of the Mainland China on Enterprise Income Tax RIFEFR B A ERERA(BER
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, BEZE] RPEMBBEZERK
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. B - RSB A R W EFE 2 f

£25%
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Malaysia corporate income tax is calculated at the rate of 24%
of the estimated assessable profits of the Group’s entities in
Malaysia arising from Malaysia during the years ended 31 March
2020. Malaysia incorporated entities with paid-up capital of
Malaysia Ringgit (‘RM”) 2.5 million or less enjoy tax rate of 18%
on the first RM500,000 and remaining balance of the estimated
assessable profits at the standard rate for the year ended 31
March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Malaysian subsidiaries
are eligible for a reduction of between 1% and 4% on the
standard tax rate for a portion of their income if there is an
increase of 5% or more in the entities’ taxable income from
a business, compared to the immediately preceding year of
assessment. The reduction in the tax rate will apply to the
portion of taxable income representing the increase. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, no provision for Malaysia corporate
income tax has been made as the Group had no assessable
profits arising in or derived from Malaysia.

Singapore CIT is calculated at the rate of 17% of the estimated
assessable profits of the Group’s entities in Singapore arising
from Singapore with Singapore CIT rebate of 20%, capped at
Singapore Dollars (“S$”) 10,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Singapore incorporated
companies can enjoy 75% tax exemption on the first S$10,000
of normal taxable income and a further 50% tax exemption on
the next $$290,000 of normal taxable income.

The Group’s entity established in United Kingdom is subject to
the corporate income tax at a statutory rate of 19% for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

BRALEMSHIZAEBRER
A ERBREEZE S -_TF=7
=t BIFEEERADEENMG
HEEBUEFIR2A% K E o B
BT _TF-A=Z1+—HILFE -

BHE AN A2500,000F KfosSH
([ FE¥s 1) s AT /9 55 2R P 28 s A 32
HEEA AT FERRED R M) 2 B500,0005
EEIZ18% M B R B - T #R 58 BIIRAE
HETH YT o

HE-_Z-_ZF=A=1+—HL*HF
G BB —IEEFBRERBWA
REEFHFEANIER% K E

AERADHBRARNITHBAEE
BEAEIRERERBI%E4%MH T
Ko HEREBEARBERHEMAE R
Hpy - HE2—_T-_TF=_A=+—H
IHFE BARAEETEREAFR
POonEEERBURF - iR R 2R
FRgn S EEFTISTRME LA -

FAN O EE PSR TR A S B RN FT AN
W2 BREIEF N E £ W BT ERRFL
mAIE1TH NIRRT E  REE =
T _ZEF=F=1+—HItFEETE
20%FT IS EFBFRIER » LRA
10,0005 p3 e ([ #Frhn3soe ) o

HE_Z-FTF=-A=1+—HIEF
&+ #Ans sk A 32 H9 A B 8 10,000
FMETHEFERRBRATEZS
75% B FRIEFA R, ¢ T £ 1£290,000%7 11
¥ ITHY IE # FE R U A B A] = B B Ah
50% MBI IEFA R ©

BE_T-_ZTF=-HA=1+—
g $EIF§I&¢ZEEE
19%HDETE B R G XS
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The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before tax as follows:

REEMB B LR A (B
18),/E A SRR

(Loss)/Profit before tax BRELAT(E1E), 5

Notional tax on profit before tax, LRI ES BN 2
calculated at the rates ARG ERBANERN 2
applicable to profit BEDE

in the countries concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible  TMEHIFI X 7 TS &
for tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable for BAZRRBA 2 S 2
tax purposes

Tax effect of graduated tax rate and 2EBMRNFERERZ

tax concession ms e
Others EA
Income tax expenses for the year REEFBEHAY

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the current reporting period (2019: Nil).

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FET
(18,422) 34,593
(8,169) 7,772
26,661 2,572
(12,842) (4,855)
(207) =
739 261
6,182 5,750

RBE-T-BE=A=t+—ALF
ERBAEN MR RS -
B AR AR DA A N A BN £
BRE(ZE-NE ) -
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(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is

based on the following data:

BREX(EHE) BT
AR RRE AEEFRNERER
(B518),/ BAITiRIE T 5 Bogat

Eanli

(GY)

(&518) %7

R E SR EA (&
18),/ BNz (&R,
wA(RATEE A

(Loss)/Profit

(Loss)/Profit for the purpose of basic
(loss)/earnings per share ((Loss)/Profit
for the year attributable to owners of
the Company)

FEEFER(ER),aFl)

Weighted average number of EER INET I E
ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic

(loss)/earnings per share

R ESBRER

A5 28

(&), Bf 2 EaAk

2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET T
(25,306) 28,843
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NF
Number of Number of
shares shares
BHEE B
765,373,584 765,373,584
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(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) SREE(ERER) BT
The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earnings per share RARHEE ANEHFATIRES
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is (38) /B JH iR N5 &8sst
based on the following data: i

2020 2019
I = s
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT FET

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable XA &#EA AEGHFR

to owners of the Company (B18), % H (25,306) 28,843
Change in fair value and gain arising 15 E AR A TE

from modification of convertible SRR IR R N ERIE 2

bond designated as financial ERBE TRRES
liabilities at FVPL ZRFERREEL
W5 (71,443) (29,373)
Exchange (gain)/loss on convertible A ¥ A% (& % 2 [ i,
bond (z), &8 (6,802) 16,340

(103,551) 15,810

2020 2019
—E-EE —Z—NF
Number of Number of
CHETES shares
BB & E
Weighted average number of R E G REREF]
ordinary shares for the purpose 2 AR i 15 &
of basic earnings per share 765,373,584 765,373,584
Effect of conversion of convertible ¥ r[ Ak ES 2 2
bond 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Weighted average number of FRAFTE GRS
ordinary shares for the purpose (EB8), /B
of diluted (loss)/earnings LA R 8L

per share 1,765,373,584 1,765,373,584
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(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEFHN
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and ARaEFE U M EW 2 i E
receivable by the directors of the Company are as follows: FRIAE

Other emoluments

Hit#s

Salaries,

allowance
and other  Retirement
short-term benefits

employee scheme
benefits contributions
e 2ER
Hith 5 H RIAER
e  EEEH AT EIfR B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THET THET THET FERT

Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 HBZE-Z-—Z&

ZA=t+-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE .
Wang Xiangfei EAR - 1,341 - 1,341
Kwan Man Fai e 1,632 - - 1,632
Wong Sze Wai (Note a & d) T (ffiFakd) - 1,248 18 1,266
Alternate director: ERES:
Wang Xiaoyao (alternate to FR(BREIR)
Wang Xiangfei) (Note b) (HizED) = = - -
Independent non-executive directors: BV FHTES :
Wong Man Hin, Raymond BV 336 - - 336
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey GigE 336 - - 336
Pak Wai Keung, Martin SEE: 336 - - 336

2,640 2,589 18 5,247
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11. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF "N FEEEREFAREZBBREHA
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID T2ER(E)
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) () ESFHFMGE)
Other emoluments
Hiie
Salaries,
allowance
andother ~ Retirement
short-term benefits
employee scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
e EER
Hixa BRIER
we  EERF  FEIEXR FEtA]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THT THT
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE_Z-NE
ZA=T-BILEE
Executive directors: HITES
Lo Fong Hung (Note ¢) BAHI(FizEc) - - - -
Wang Xiangfei (with Wong Sze Wai ITAR(ENEEHE
as alternate director) (Note d) BREE)(iEd) = 781 = 781
Kwan Man Fai B 1,049 - - 1,049

Alternate director: BREE:

Wong Sze Wai (Note a & d) T (Hista & d) = 218 6 204

Independent non-executive directors: BV FFHITES -

Wong Man Hin, Raymond BEXE 336 - - 336
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey PR 336 - - 336
Pak Wai Keung, Martin HE® 336 - - 336

2,057 999 6 3,062

Note: M3 -

(@  On 20 November 2018, Wong Sze Wai was appointed as an @) RZZE—-—NF+—A=+8"
executive director of the Company. THREZTABARNRBRNITE

=.

(o)  On 17 March 2020, Wang Xiaoyao was appointed as b)) RZE-_TF=ZA+tAH
an alternative director (alternate to Wang Xiangfei) of the NNREZTAARBZERE
Company. EBREAR) -

() On 20 November 2018, the office of Lo Fong Hung was © R—_ZE—NE+—HA=+8"
vacated. ZE 7 AL ©

(d)  On 17 March 2020, Wong Sze Wai ceased to act as an d W=ZT=ZTF=A+tB F
alternative director (alternate to Wang Xiangfei) of the MEFBEITERARRZERE
Company but remains as an executive director of the E(BRIAR)  HEDHAERD
Company. RIZBITES °

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED SR &REXER A F
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(b)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2019: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments
of the remaining two (2019: three) highest paid individuals
were as follows:

(b)

e
BE®EH

TE R HRET IR

Salaries, allowances and other
short-term employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution
plan

The emoluments of the two (2019: three) highest paid
non-directors fall in the following bands:

~ RN N B RS HA

Nil - HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000

Z21,000,000/87T
1,000,001 7L E
1,500,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. There
was no arrangement under which a director or the five
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

EERSHAL

RAEEREZREHALF » =
#2(ZE-NEF : MB)RAEART
B HMEHN L3 - %R T

Z(ZE-NF  ZR)RSFA
TMEwmT

2020 2019

—_ 7 —= ﬂE —j‘LE‘E

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHET

1,663 1,862

36 52

1,699 1,914
ME(ZE—NF : =ZR) &=

FEEZHMENTTIMNEEH
& :

Number of individuals

2019

—E-NF

1 2

1 1
REBEE-Z-_TER -_T—AF
;H:+—E¢¢E REE
ERIANBEZHRAGRD A

IXNRERNME - MERKRSE
PR B N IR AK B 2
RE) - JERWF ZBERAE -

RBE_ZT_ZFER_F—NF

ZA=ZT—HLFE - HEEA
FREFHRALREHALRE

XA BB H B < 225k
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11.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(©)

(d)

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour
of the directors of the Company that were entered into
or subsisted during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

After consideration, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company, or connected entity
of the directors of the Company, had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year ended 31 March 2020 or at any time during the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED SR &REXER A F

1. EBREEEFREBREEFA
T2 ER (&)

(c)

(d)

LESASRAZER %
BERREMR S
BE_ZT_TFER_T-NEF=
A=1t—HBLLFE - I\
FERARRAEERZBAZE
K EERSHEHMZS

EERRG - ZHIEHH
2B RKERS
RAREELERERE  REL
E_FE-_FF=-A=+—HIt
FEARBE T -_TFEL T
—WEZA=+T—HIEFERNE
AR - MEFEARTRAR
RIESFIRISL - MARRESK
RREERE BAEERBEEZSME
BERERBEEAERZEAR
5 BHEREH °
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Furniture,
Leasehold equipment
Right-of-  land and Leasehold ~ Plantand ~ andmotor  Construction-
useassets  buildings  improvements  machinery vehicles in-progress Total

BELHR EER &H - SRR
ferEgE g7 il L hE ERIR ]
HKS000  HKS'000 HKB000  HKS000  HKS'00 HKS000  HKS'000
TR TEr TR TAr AR TRt AL

(Note 31)
(Kttar)

Cost A
Asat 1 April 2018 R=E-\EMA-A - 11,136 - 28,293 8,730 - 48,158
Bxchange realignment iR - (741) - (1,766) (723 (33) (3.263)
Additions through acquistion of ~ EBKENERTFE

subsidiaries (Note 36(a) (HizE36(a) - - - 5,621 15 - 5,636
Addtions RE - 4135 - 3,066 87 32,383 40,441
Disposals hit= - ul - 9 (1,379 - H13%9)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-H - 14,458 - 25,09 7,500 32,350 79,606
Asat 1 Aprl 2019 RZE-NEMA-A - 14,458 - 25,298 7,500 32,350 79,606
Fxchange realignment B AR - (1,049) 0 2,109) (256) (1,888) (5,306)
Adjustment on transtion to HBREE AR RE R

HKFRS 16 (Note 2) F16% ML

(Rizt2) 2,339 - - = - - 2,339

Additions through acouisiion of  FBRENBARIFE

subsidiaies (Note 36(0) (HizE3610)) 565 - - - 2% - 589
Addtions RE 1,768 248 297 2,147 301 49,159 53,920
Transfers fFd - 19,216 - 40,455 - (59,671) -
Disposals i = - - = (500) - (500)

As at 31 March 2020 WZBZEE=f=1-A 4,672 32,873 293 65,791 7,069 19,950 130,648
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(continued)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B iR Rzt
For the year ended 31 March 2020
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12. MI% - MERRE(E)

Fumiture,
Leasehold equipment
Right-of-  land and Leasehold ~ Plantand ~ andmotor  Construction-
useassets  buildings  improvements  machinery vehicles in-progress Total
RELHE BER il RBR
fRELE ge HELE He HE ERIE g
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
THL Thr Thr THL T T TEL
(Note 31)
(Kizta1)
Accumulated depreciation ~ BHTERHESE
and impairment losses
Asat 1 April 2018 R=E-\EMA-A - 8,062 - 25,014 5,026 - 38,992
Bxchange realignment AR = (534) - (1,773) (419 = (2,725)
Charge for the year AEETH - 287 - 1485 584 - 2,35%
Eiminated on disposals HERHH - (49) - (6969 (1371) - (10387
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=A=t-H - 7,787 - 15,758 4721 - 282%
Asat 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA-A - 1751 - 15,758 472 - 28,236
Exchange realignment 3 = (402) ) (840) (244) - (1,487)
Charge for the year MEESH 1,677 1,010 55 3,981 650 - 7373
Eliminated on disposals e - - - - (330) - (330)
As at 31 March 2020 W-E-E£=fA=1-H 1,677 8,365 54 18,899 4,797 - 33,792
Net carrying amount BEFE
As at 31 March 2020 RZB-8%£=A=1-A 2,99 24,508 239 46,892 2,212 19,950 96,856
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ-AEZA=1-H - 6,701 - 9,540 2,719 32,350 51370

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED SR &REXER A F
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The above property, plant and equipment, except for BEZTRI - L% - BE KK
construction-in-progress, are depreciated on a straight-line BABEREIE TS FRTRITE -

basis at the following rates per annum:

Right-of-use assets Shorter of useful live ranging FREEE R RN T2
from 2 years to 5 years or FESFHMHEER
over unexpired term of lease B HRF HA 2 FIER

&

Leasehold land and buildings  Over the shorter of the term of HELH R R EF HI5k3.33%
leases or 3.33% gF AR S

Leasehold improvement 20% HEEE 20%

Plant and machinery 4% to 25% R 55 To i 2% 4%ZE25%

Furniture, equipment and 10% to 25% R~ BB 10%E25%

motor vehicles T

The Group’s leasehold land is under original lease term of 48 AREBZHETHRERHEEE@F

years. The leasehold land and buildings were situated in the B A48 - HE L MIEFHM R F

PRC. o

No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31 BE_Z_ZFR_ZT—hLF=A

March 2020 and 2019. = +—BUIFE  BEERREEE -
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Exploration Renewable
and energy
evaluation Mining service
assets right contract Total
BERR AEERER
THEE PRiERE REEH i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FET TET
(Notes ii &iii)  (Notes i &iii) (Note iv)
(B Reii) (PR i Reiii) (FtEiv)
Cost B
As at 1 April 2018 R-ZZ—\FMA—H 49,776 105,361 - 155,137
Exchange realignment bE AR (3,292) (6,969) = (10,261)
Additions arising from acquisition of  UBBHT B A AlE 4 2 10
subsidiaries (Note 36(a)) (Ffi336(2)) - - 1,618 1,618
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=A=+—H 46,484 98,392 1,618 146,494
As at 1 April 2019 R-Z—-NFMNA—H 46,484 98,392 1,618 146,494
Exchange realignment bE AR - (6,871) - (6,871)
Additions NE - 116,115 - 116,115
Write-off s (46,484) - - (46,484)
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=A=1+—H - 207,636 1,618 209,254
Accumulated amortisation and 2 BENRESSE
impairment losses
As at 1 April 2018 R-Z—\FMNA—H 49,776 82,266 - 132,042
Exchange realignment bE AR (3,292 (5,446) = (8,738)
Charge for the year RNEETH = 4,659 26 4,685
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE-AF=R=+—H 46,484 81,479 26 127,989
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFNA—H 46,484 81,479 26 127,989
Exchange realignment bE AR - (4,093) - (4,093)
Charge for the year NEETH - 2,890 66 2,956
Write-off s (46,484) - - (46,484)
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=A=1+—H - 80,276 92 80,368
Net carrying amount IREEE
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=A=1+—H - 127,360 1,526 128,886
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE-AF=R=+—H = 16,913 1,592 18,505
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Notes:

The mining right and the exploration and evaluation assets acquired as
part of a business combination during the year ended 31 March 2010 were
initially recognised at their respective fair values on acquisition with reference
to a professional valuation using discounted cash flow method based on the
operating environment of each of the operating entities.

(i

Mining right

The directors of the Company conducted impairment
review of the mining right at the end of each reporting
period or when impairment indicator exists. In such
connection, the Company engaged ValQuest Advisory
Group Limited (“ValQuest”), an independent professional
valuer, to assess the VIU of CGUs of the non-current
mining assets, including property, plant and equipment
and mining right of the individual mine site, of the coal
mining business of the Group (the “Coal Mining Assets”)
for the purpose of impairment testing as at 31 March 2020
and 2019.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
with reference to valuations conducted by ValQuest
using discounted cash flow method, the directors
of the Company expected that the VIU of the Coal
Mining Assets approximates its carrying amount and thus
concluded that no impairment loss was recognised during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

In assessing the VIU of the CGUs, the future cash
flows of the coal mining business which covers the
remaining periods of the mining right of the mine are
discounted to the related present values using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current assessment of
the time value of money and the risks specific to such
business. Parameters used in the projected cash flows
included but were not limited to selling prices and sales
volumes of coal, production cost and other expenses,
capital expenditure, production plan and discount rate,
respectively, which reflected the current conditions of the
market and the Group and estimated trend in the future.

MiaE

HE-T—FF= A=+ B I FRRBRE
AR ER T EAEERRIEA G55 -
TEBEEEEEBEERE DRRRER
B AR 2 B - SRR EE 2
AFERR -

(@i

PRIERE

A& 3R 45 HA RS A5 SR B 3R R (E B
RE - AAREBHIRBIEET
AR - Bt - R=E=FF
r—ZE—NFZA=1+—8" &
RAIEZEB Y SEGEMBLE
HABRAR (%) T EER
SEEEES ZIERBFKELE
(BRESBSZME  BE K&
AR RERE) (HEEE])R
SELBMNZFERER  AER
BRI -

HEZ-_TFER-_T-NF=
A=+—HILEE  &28H
HERAERIRB S REHAED
ZIEE  ARAREEREPEEE
EZfFRAERLERMERS
AmEcEEzE—_E_TFRK_F
—NE=ZA=1+—HILEFETE
MR R EEIE -

Rt ReELEEL 2 EREE
B REXBZAXRERE
CREFESIREE 2 RISRHME ) 5%
FAR] R E A et il 2 & 5B A
18 KBRS M545 E A R 2 BR AN
REIRERLIR S AARAIRE - FERER
EREMERZ 28D RIBHEE
PRI R R T35 B AN 6= B 3R A
B R AGFT EEE 2 PR E(E M3
B AERAREMRAS - BX
FASC ~ AERTBIRARRE
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(i

Mining right (continued)

When evaluating the appropriate discount rate for each
of the CGUs, the Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”)
had been used. Under CAPM, the appropriate expected
rate of return was the sum of the risk-free return and the
equity risk premium required by investors to compensate
for the market risk assumed. In addition, the expected
rate of return of the CGUs was expected to be affected
by other firm specific risk factors that are independent of
the general market. The cost of equity was determined by
the risk-free rate, market return and estimated beta of the
CGUs and firm specific risk factors. The pre-tax discount
rate of 21% and 22% was used in assessing the VIU of the
CGUs of the Coal Mining Assets as at 31 March 2020 and
2019, respectively.

Details of the Group’s mining right at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Mining right Location
RiERE i B

(@i

PRIERE (48)

R SR eEESBA 2 EARL
REE  DRABLAEETEE
BR(EREEEEER]) - R
BEAEBETEREN  GECE
BRI AER R R REATEE
AR FTRET SRR M ARS
2R RERE 2 8RN o It
SN - TEEAIR S E B 2 TEHAM
WMEAGZ R BREETIGAINZ HAth
TPEFTRBERMZE - #n
PR Ty IRERR AR - miZE R
MRS EEBM Z i BEERH
UARGEFERBEZREE - R
ZETEFERZF-NF=A
=+—H HEREEEZRS
EEXBM 2 RAEERER
Z BRI ATREIR KD Bl B21% Kk
22% °

BRAEEN TS A R
T

Expiry date
[& % B 58

Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine
(the “Kaiyuan Mine”) and
the Enlarged Kaiyuan
Mine (as defined in
Note iii below)

Area in Xinjiang

SURERER(TSURERE])
REBERIBREBE(EER
T B R

FsB K AP R IR RIE R

Inside Zhundong Meitian Xiheishan Coal Mining

Mining right expired
in August 2049
with existing
mining permit until
21 December
2021 (renewable)

RIBER —TUNF
NRE® - MIRA

BRAERT 7] 38 5 2 Hf
EE-—F+—
A-+—8BAIt

(B4)
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(ii)

Exploration and evaluation assets

The exploration and evaluation assets represented the
exploration right possessed by the Group. For the year
ended 31 March 2013, the exploration and evaluation
assets were fully impaired based on a professional
valuation, which concluded that no defined or reliable
future economic benefit could be drawn due to the
following facts and circumstances:

the exploration right had been renewed twice and
the expiry date of it would be on 20 February 2014;

according to a legal opinion obtained by the Group,
that under PRC law and regulation the exploration
right could only be renewed twice, and no further
renewal for period beyond 20 February 2014 could
be obtained;

the directors of the Company re-assessed the
status and considered that the Group was not able
to obtain a mining right prior to the expiry of the
exploration right; and

that no defined or reliable future economic benefit
could be drawn based on the current progress
relating to the Optimization and Upgrading Plan (as
defined in Note iii below).

(ii)

BIERHEE

RN EERAERHRE 2

HiFEE BHE_ZT—=%=A8

=t+—HIEFE  BHERTEE

ECRBESEMETERAE - &

HEEAEERERUNTEER

B EAES A A 55 2

BN

- BEHECEEMRK e
RZZTE—NF=-_A=+H
FIHR

- BEAEEMBZEEE
B BmBAHREEERE
B OUWEEETEEM
Ko AERZE—NFE =
B-ZtBHREEIBEEHY
AR

- ARREFTEHMNMGERE
N RBAEERER
BRAEDI B AT S R IR 4R
&

-  HRBILEAZHIR(EER
T B EEii) < B ATEE
SEEF::979:) RET: R A

(BRI -
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(ii)

Exploration and evaluation assets (continued)
Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2013, the
following facts happened in relation to the exploration and
evaluation assets:

on 19 March 2014, the relevant government bureau
exercised an administrative discretionary right
and granted a renewed exploration right with valid
period from 25 February 2014 to 25 February 2016;

on 19 May 2016, the Company further obtained
a renewal permit from Department of Land and
Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region
(the “Xinjiang Land Department”) granting the
renewal of the exploration permit of Zexu Open Pit
Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”) (“Exploration Permit”)
with valid period from 5 April 2016 to 5 April 2017;
and

on 16 May 2017, the Company further obtained
a renewal permit from Xinjiang Land Department
granting the renewal of the exploration permit with
valid period from 16 May 2017 to 16 May 2019.

on 6 December 2019, the Optimization and
Upgrading Plan was executed and completed and
the Exploration Permit was written-off.

(ii)

R HEEE ()
BE_ZE—=F=H=+—HIE
FRK - BETIIARMEERET
MEBEEZEMN

RZZE-—WF=A+TAI
H BB HEATET
BB IS T EE MR
o AWMR T —F
“AZt+RBAE=ZZ—RX
F-A=-+HH:

RZE—RFREA T
B ARRBENERES
MEAEBE T ERE(TF
BT ERE]) EEEE
BERMEFTAIE @ #hE=E
BERERE(DEREE])
BEERMETE(#E
EERMEHNAIE]CE
B BRBHR-Z—RF
MARRRBRE-ZT—+F
WMARA &

R-B—tFHZA+RN
B AARBEMERL
ERBREBBEERYE
AR HERERRY
EHABCES  ARH
H-T—tFAA+KH
BE_Z-AFHATRK
H o

RZE—NLF+ZAR
B - #$17 REREL AR
FE  BBEEERMBER
AIBEE T o
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(iii) Optimization and Upgrading Plan

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Xinjiang Land
Department informed the Group that pursuant to the
instructions of the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC, the Xinjiang Land Department
is planning a management restructuring of different coal
mines in the Xiheishan Mining Area (the “Optimization and
Upgrading Plan”), where the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine and
Zexu Mine are situated.

On 14 March 2012, a proposal (the “Proposal”) was
issued by the People’s Government of Mulei Kazak
Autonomous County, where the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine
is located, to the Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry
of Changji Prefecture (the “Changji Administrative
Bureau”). According to the Proposal, which is part of the
Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the mining area of the
Kaiyuan Mine, where the Group is now conducting mining
activities, is proposed to be increased to 4.12 square
kilometers, with the estimated additional coal resources
of approximately 131.18 million tonnes. In the Proposal, it
is also stated that the production capacity of the Kaiyuan
Mine will increase from 0.9 million tonnes per year to 3
million tonnes per year.

The Group received a letter dated 13 June 2012 issued
by the Changji Administrative Bureau (the “13 June
Letter”) informing the updated status of the Management
Restructuring Plan (as defined in the announcement of
the Company dated 11 November 2011). According to
the 13 June Letter, the following proposals in relation to
the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine and Zexu Mine (the “Updated
Proposals”) have been submitted to the working group
head office for coal industry structural upgrade work of
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region for consideration and
approval:

- the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine will be restructured and
upgraded, and the exploration rights in the Zexu
Mine granted to the Group will be terminated; and

(iii)

BILARFR

Hz—2——F=A=+—H1I
FE - FEETIEREASAE
B REFBEERERNRES
Bg ViR MERLEREE
AR ILEERATRKEBIELE
BEARS([EBEARFR])
NEE Z SRERE MOZBIEIR
REZBEERA o

R-ZEBE——F=F1+WAE - K&
B S RETEFTE 2 REIGTER B
BBRARBREE MR T
EER(ETEERELE:S
([&&]) - REAEBEARAR
— & n 2 iEE - ANEBIEETH
FEE 2z IRERR FAREERE
FEEA12F AR - (HEHEESIN
HIEERAA131.18 B BHE o 1A
B PIRRSUR N 2 E R
HEFOOEENMIEEEFIES
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AEEZEESTEERRBNE
BEHBAI(TEERARR A
BZE——F+—A+—HBZA

I EIBERMELZBHA
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(iii) Optimization and Upgrading Plan (continued)

= the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where
the Group is now conducting mining activities,
is proposed to be increased from 1.1596
square kilometers to 4.12 square kilometers,
with the estimated additional coal resources of

approximately 131.18 million tonnes.

Pursuant to the terms of the transfer agreement
(the “Transfer Agreement”) on 2 December 2019
entered into between the Xinjiang Land Department and
RBZRH K BREEZAF (Mulei County Kai Yuan
Coal Company Limited*, “Kaiyuan Company”) in respect
of the new mining right with an enlarged mining area for
a term of 30 years from August 2019 to August 2049
(the “Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine”), Xinjiang Land Department
agreed to sell and Kaiyuan Company agreed to purchase,
the mining permit in respect of the Enlarged Kaiyuan
Mine, at an aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB160,978,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$177,221,000), which shall be settled in cash and
paid by Kaiyuan Company to Xinjiang Land Department
in fifteen instalments over a period of 15 years. As part
of the Transfer Agreement, Kaiyuan Company is also
required to pay an additional supplemental resources
fee of approximately RMB76,503,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,688,000) to Xinjiang Land
Department within 30 days from signing of the Transfer
Agreement for the accumulated unpaid output of 19.8
million tonnes of coal of Kaiyuan Mine up to 30 April 2019.

The amount was fully settled in November 2019.

On 6 December 2019, the Transfer Agreement was duly
executed by Xinjiang Land Department and Kaiyuan

Company.

The estimated coal resources of the Enlarged Kaiyuan
Mine are 41.6433 million tonnes for the mining life of 30

years.

*

English translation for identification purpose only.

(i) BIEARFERE)
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BERLTIERERE LS MR
RRIREE B SEANIRERED
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R # 160,978,000 7T (18 & 1 4
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(ivy Renewable energy service contract (iv) ITB4RERREEL

The renewable energy service contract relates to the
Renewable Energy CGU (as defined in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements) and represented a
legally binding service agreement entered into between
NEFIN Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (“NEFIN
Technologies”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of NEFIN
Leasing Technologies Limited (“NEFIN Leasing”) (together
referred to as “NEFIN Group”), and its customer, which
was acquired as part of the Group’s acquisition of NEFIN
Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 and was
initially recognised at its fair value at acquisition date
with reference to a professional valuation conducted
by ValQuest using discounted cash flow method. The
remaining useful life of the renewable energy service
contract is determined by the Group to be 25 years.

The renewable energy service contract is tested for
impairment at least annually and has been included in the
Renewable Energy CGU for impairment assessment of
goodwill.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the directors of the
Company expected that the recoverable amount of
renewable energy service contract exceed its carrying
amount and thus concluded that no impairment loss was
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

e REERIRBR AR ([#ae
REE]) K2 E M E A RINEFIN
Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn.
Bhd. ( [ NEFIN Technologies | )
(i [ RERE ) BERP
AN SR BARRIREELSE
i (ERRAZE VB mEME14)
KA B ARRRBEE (KA
BIERDRE IR HHE
ZEFPREBE-_ZT—HNFE=ZA
=+ —HILEFEEWBIEARE
B EFEEREEN—& 5 - I
NHERMBRSREEL2 R
HETHEEGHEZRERER S
AT EER AEEEENH
A REIRARTE & # RO FIER BT R S 2B
255 o

ABLERRGANSFELA
BTREAR - YEHATEE
RS B BIE TR EAE
Sk o

RZE_FTFR_F-NF=H
=t+—H ' ARFEZEHTH
A BEIRIRTE & A9 R] B U X8R
HIFAE e EEz—ZE =%
ER-_T-AE=A=+—H1t
FEWRERBERRE -
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Coal Mining Renewable IT Services

CGU  Energy CGU CGU Total
RERS TBERR  EARERE
ELE HEeELEN HEELEMQ g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH THL T THL
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))

(Fi&E(a)) GE) (F&E()

Cost KA
As at 1 April 2018 WZ-Z-\FHWA—-H 37,469 - - 37,469
Avrising from acquisition of WEEHB A RE A (MFE36()
subsidiaries (Note 36(a)) - 4,229 - 4,229
As at 31 March 2019 RZE2-NE=A=1-H 37,469 4,209 - 41,698
Asat 1 April 2019 RZZ-NFMA—H 37,469 4,209 - 41,698
Arising from acquisition of WER B AR E 4 (F336(0)
subsidiaries (Note 36(0)) - - 24,148 24,148
As at 31 March 2020 W-E-EFE=A=+-A 37,469 4,229 24,148 65,846
Accumulated impairment losses 2 HESE
Asat1April 2018, 31 March 2019and ~ N=F—\EWA—H  —E—N&E
1 April 2019 ZA=T-AR=Z-N&mA—H 37,469 - = 37,469
Impairment loss on goodwil HEREER - - 3,831 3,831
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-EE=A=1-A 37,469 - 3,831 41,300
Net carrying amount RERE
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-EE=fA=1+-A - 4,229 20,317 24,546
As at 31 March 2019 R=E-N&=A=+-H = 4,229 - 4,229
14(a) Coal Mining CGU 14(a) RIBESELEEN
The goodwill arising on acquisition of 21 & &2 /B & HE-_ZT——F=A=+—H1t
AR EEAT (Qitai County Zexu Trading Company FE - WETABREEEERR
Limited*, “Zexu Company”) and Kaiyuan Company was EAERARI(ERRAR D RIEA

fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2011. AIEAMNEEDELBERE -
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14(b) Renewable Energy CGU

140b) AIBLRRBEEELEN

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 90% equity
interests in NEFIN Leasing and its subsidiary on 8 October
2018 (as mentioned in Note 36(a) to the consolidated
financial statements) with CGU engaged in renewable
energy solutions and solar farm development (the
“Renewable Energy CGU”).

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the directors of
the Company assessed the recoverable amount of
the Renewable Energy CGU with reference to VIU
calculations using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets and forecasts covering a five-year period
and extrapolation of cash flows beyond such period
conducted by ValQuest (2019: ValQuest).

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to
Renewable Energy CGU are as follows:

Growth in revenue year-on-year AFHE T RRER

during the five-year period

Budgeted gross profit margin HiEEF|=E
Perpetual growth rate SKAEIL R &

Discount rate (pre-tax) 838 = (B AT)

RZZF—N\E+ANB - KFEH
BEIRAE & K HL P8 2 ®190% i #E
(B an#z & B 7% R MY £36(a) AT
) i R =R AT B A RE IR AR
VEYSUNGE 2Lk 3
MR SELBEM( A BEERE
TELBEMDELRE -

R-ZB_ZEFER_T-hF=A
=t—B  ARRAEFL2RER
MBRERAFHAAERARE
mERAFENEREERGEA
BARRREELEMNATIKRD
TR - MRESREFRREH MG
“TF-NEF O BHEIIIEL 2R
RFRZEERSRENE -

ROMEFBERRESESLS
iz 1) 7 B TTREDRI Bl 7
ReEneRAMAz EEREN
T

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2020 2019
Ros-f SR
= =RA=+—H
1.00% - 1.50% 1.49%
74.68% 60.00%

3.00% 3.00%

6.58% 6.04%
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14(b) Renewable Energy CGU (continued)

14(c)

The directors of the Company determined the growth
rates based on past performance and the expectation
of market development. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Renewable
Energy CGU.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the recoverable amount
of the Renewable Energy CGU is higher than its carrying
amount. Accordingly, there was no impairment on the
goodwill during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

IT Services CGU

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 80.86% equity
interests in Harbour Group Holdings Limited (“Harbour
Group Holdings”) and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as “Harbour Group”) on 23 April 2019 (as mentioned in
Note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements) with
CGU engaged in IT Services (the “IT Services CGU”).

As at 31 March 2020, the directors of the Company
assessed the recoverable amount of the IT Services
CGU with reference to VIU calculations using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets and forecasts
covering a five-year period and extrapolation of cash flows
beyond such period conducted by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited (“Peak Vision”).

14b) IBLERRREELEEN

14(c)

(%)
AAREFRBERB LTS E
RIEHETEEREX - FIARKIRE
RBAT - RS K A B AR
ReELBEUNARER -

R-BE_TER_TE-NF=A
=+—H8 AB4YEERBRESE
EBMHA WO S RES N ERE
E-RAlt HE-_Z-_TFK—
T-NFEZRA=1+—HILFEL
ERERE -

BRI REEEEEEN
R-ZZT—AFWA-—+=H" &K
BEESZERERAG([E G
B D R EB AR (455 (855
& |)80.86% % # (3 4R & B 7%
AR FE360)FTil ) ERYEEE
B RISHRSEEEMN([E
MBI RISIR S EE BN ) EL
G

R-ZE-_THF=FA=+—H" K
NAEEZ2REANBEERA
FHIFERAFE AR RETRRFE
R R EE A E M RS IR
CELEBENMNITKREISCE  mE
RETRARE RS HERA
AR DIEH Z2BBREFE 2
HEIRSREFTE -



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

14(c) IT Services CGU (continued)

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to
IT Services CGU are as follows:

14c) EMBRBRBREEELEEN

(&)
ROREEARRRBESEE
B EETIRENFmEL
RenE8TRAMAZ EERRN
I

As at

31 March

2020

R-ZZZEF

=BA=+—H

Growth/Decline in revenue year-on-year RSz RFREE R, T -23.64%
during the five-year period 3.00%
Budgeted gross profit margin HiZEF=X 18%
Perpetual growth rate KB R R 3%
Discount rate (pre-tax) BRIR R (FiAT) 12.73%

The directors of the Company determined the growth
rates based on past performance and the expectation of
market development. The discount rate used is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the IT Services CGU.

As at 31 March 2020, in light of keen competition from
the IT Services sector and the recent development
of COVID-19, which are expected to have a negative
impact on the revenue and growth rate of the IT Services
CGU, the recoverable amount of the IT Services CGU
of approximately HK$28,314,000 fell below its then
carrying amount. Accordingly, the goodwill allocated
to the IT Services CGU was impaired by approximately
HK$3,831,000 during the year ended 31 March 2020.

AAREFRBERB RN HE
RIEMBEERR - AAREIRE
RTAT - IR K B AR AR
BReELEMMARER

R-BE-_TF=A=1+—H &
REMEH D P AR 5 BB A
K COVID-19/ T Hi 88 R fE 00,
FEHSHEARERERESEE
BAMKE MG REELEBEY
2 WEMEEREREELE
iz /9 7] Uk 5] & %8 49 28,314,000
BITEREERZERMEE -
I BE_T-_TF=A=+—
BILFE » HEEENRERTE
ReELBENNBERENE
3,831,000/ 7T °

The balance represented a deposit denominated in RMB placed EREAEEREREH IEREGE
with a bank to secure the Group’s obligation to restore the TEREMREEFMRIEBTEEUAR
environment when mining activities ceased. The deposit bared WA B TZR c BRI B 2 R176
interest at the prevailing bank saving interest rate and can be ERR:AE - W R AREBE 2 FRIERE
withdrawn upon the expiry of the Group’s mining right and fEm M BITRBIRES TIEIRER

fulfillment of environment restoration obligation.
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2020 2019

bt St 22 —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET

Reconciliation of carrying amount BREERNY R
At the beginning of the reporting period 7 $R45 BARE B 24 B
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries  [E| st Kt B 2 71 2 A=

(Note 36(b)) (P5E36(0))
Transfer to guaranteed profit 2 ER B AR ERUR
compensation receivables (B5E20(c))

(Note 20(c))
Change in fair value recognised in
profit or loss

Ba AR A HEES

At the end of the reporting period PR BRRE A4 R A

As part of the acquisition consideration upon the completion
of the acquisition of Harbour Group, the vendor of Harbour
Group (the “Vendor of Harbour Group”) has agreed to
guarantee to the Company that the audited consolidated net
profit generated from operating activities of Harbour Group
in its ordinary and usual course of business (i.e. the net profit
after tax of Harbour Group as to be shown in the audited
accounts of Harbour Group), prepared in accordance with
HKFRS issued by the HKICPA for the relevant financial period
by the auditors appointed by the Company (the “Net Profit”) for
each of the financial years ended/ending 31 December 2018,
2019 and 2020 (each such 12-month period is referred to as
a “PG 12-Month Period”) shall be no less than HK$7,200,000
per annum (the “Guaranteed Profit”). In the event that the
Net Profit during the PG-12 Month Period is less than the
Guaranteed Profit, the Vendor of Harbour Group unconditionally
and irrevocably undertakes and guarantees, as a continuing
obligation, to pay such shortfall multiplying the ratio (1.13) (the
“Shortfall Amount”) presented as below:

Shortfall Amount=1.13 x (Guaranteed Profit — Net Profit)

5,364 =

(2,187) -

3,009 =

6,186 =

EBERKRESSERZKBREZ
—Hn BEEEZEH([BEEE
Eﬁnﬁﬁﬁ$“ﬂ%% (2=
—N\F - —NER_ZT_TF
+_H:+—E¢Mﬁig%¢0%
+=@ A 8B A DaFIRF+ =M@ A
HE ) - AR AR TS A A
M BREREE ST AT E
Mz BBMERELENRR 2 ESE
ER—BEABEKARERLCLETD
EEMEEZEAMF (TR - BE
HEELERREARYZAEEE
Brfi g 4 F)) # S DR &4 7,200,000
BT (MRFREF ) o EFURE+=
1IH%W#WHWJWﬁMmJU/%@
&= (85 7 B AR R N AT b R &
RE - ERBEERY  HBEXNTX
FTRIAE RS ER & BB 3R DA LL R 1,135
gz eB((TREE])

NREF=113x(RFRFN-4EF))
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The initial valuation of the contingent consideration receivables
is valued by Peak Vision in accordance with HKFRS 13 and
is mainly based on the latest audited financial information of
Harbour Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
Harbour Group’s financial performance forecasts for the years
ended/ending 31 December 2019 and 2020 prepared by the
management of the Harbour Group. Accordingly, the fair value
of the contingent consideration receivables was estimated to
be approximately HK$5,364,000 as at the acquisition date
(i.e. 28 April 2019). Monte Carlo Simulation Method is used
for the valuation of contingent consideration receivables which
is commonly-adopted in the market. It was first introduced to
finance in 1964 by David B. Hertz through his Harvard Business
Review article, and in 1977, Prelim Boyle pioneered the use
of simulation in derivative valuation in his seminal Journal of
Financial Economics paper.

The value of contingent consideration receivables is derived
from the cash flow compensation as a result of the possibility
of failure to meet the Guaranteed Profit by Harbour Group.
As such, Peak Vision adopted the Monte Carlo Simulation
Method, which is a path dependent model to consider the
probability weighted distribution of the possible outcomes
and factors the volatility of these outcomes. The Monte Carlo
Simulation Method is one of the most commonly adopted
valuation methodologies to value contingent receivable or profit
guarantee.

The Vendor of Harbour Group shall pay to the Group the
Shortfall Amount by way of cash and/or setting off the same
amount from the amount owed by the Company under the
Promissory Notes (as defined in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements) after the audited financial statements are
issued by the auditors of Harbour Group for the relevant PG-12
Month Period.

In the event that the Net Profit for the PG-12 Month Period
exceeds the Guaranteed Profit, such excess amount shall
not be carried forward to meet the Guaranteed Profit for the
subsequent period.

EWSHARB 2 IFEETREER
BREAVMBHREERFE1STETH
B EEEDFERBESEEEES
—E-N\F+ZA=T—HLFEZ
RIS ERUBERN RSB EEEE
BEMGRESEEEHE_Z—NF
RZZE_ZTF+_A=+—HItHF
BB RIBEAED - Bt - B
WEBS(AI—E—hAFmA-+=
H)  BURIAREZATFEBELD
5,364,000/ 7T ° FEU S AR E Z &
BENFEAMBSEERAZEERE
¥ % o % 73 % B David B. Hertz ?
— AN FEERCRE TR
( Harvard Business Review ) # & #J
NEFHRS|APBKED  HER
—N++%  Prelim BoylefE £ (&
Al 4% 8 2 5 55 ) (Journal of Financial
Economics ) 3 3= & Bl 7R S K e 3t
PTET Bfh{EFAREEE -

EUHARBZEBEDENESEHE
AREARERREFRANMEELZRE
MEMESE - At - RERARE
REBHE - HA—BERERCHE
BER - UERA ARV NME
D ERRRZEEROIBE -
B RERRZARERZGEELZ
=+ AR A FE U SR A RIE 0 FU AR
& B

PAE & B R BN T 2 A RE 1218 A &
MRBHRE < EBEZHBEHRRR - 8
BEBRENREBREE R /HEAR
AIRA R R (ER RRE M REHM
HAB0)E TR BENERESR LT
ARAEEZ N TR

fisi 1248 7 g A R 78 HA R 2 A R R 4B AR
Al BB NE T AGEIA
ERHRBEZREGHN
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According to the audited financial statements of Harbour
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 issued on 12
April 2019, the Net Profit of Harbour Group was approximately
HK$7,299,000 and higher than the Guaranteed Profit by
approximately HK$99,000.

According to the audited financial statements of Harbour
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 issued on
31 March 2020, the Net Profit of Harbour Group was
approximately HK$5,265,000 and lower than the Guaranteed
Profit by approximately HK$1,935,000. The Shortfall Amount
calculated based on the above formula equals to approximately
HK$2,187,000 and the Shortfall Amount was transferred to
guaranteed profit compensation receivables and it was settled
by setting off the same amount from Promissory Note 2 (as
defined in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements)
subsequent to 31 March 2020.

Key inputs adopted in the calculation of the fair value of
contingent consideration receivables are summarised below:

Discount rate BRI
Volatility ]
Time to maturity FlRaHY

BEESSEER -_ZT—NAFMA+=
BRI zH#HEZE-_ZT— \E+_-A
=t+—HIFEZREBZTHRE
BB ERE Z 4R 457,299,000 7T
BRI R F114999,0008 7T ©

BESSEEAR_ZE_TF=F7
=t BABZBE-_T—HhF+=
A=T—RALLFEZEEZMBR
% BEEEZHF L E5,265,000
BT AR RMRE & A 491,935,000 78
T BEBELERAXGTEZTRESELY
2,187,000 * BTN £EEEHE
FEBURBE R FEERE  HRZF =
TFE=A=+HRBBAEFRILERER2
(& R EMBEHMARMEI0) P HEH
RIS AT AER °

AAERUWEARERHERRRZE
2R AT

As at As at

31 March 23 April
2020 2019
R=F=%F RZFT—NF
=A=+—H mA=-—+=H
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FET
8.1% 6.65% — 6.78%
59.46% 58.62% — 61.40%

1.06 year 0.67 year — 1.67 year

1.065F 0.67% - 1.674F
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The description of sensitivity of changes in unobservable inputs
for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements, are as follows:

Assets

&E

Valuation of technique

HESE

T

Unobservable inputs

THEERARE

HEEUEE=RAFEFAEZTAE
R \BURE S 2 BURE G M

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value

TR B Em A B iEHE
DNHEZBEAR

Contingent consideration

receivables

U AKE

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the profit
guarantee is for the exchange of control for the Harbour
Group and therefore considered as contingent consideration
receivables and measured at fair value. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration receivables of
approximately HK$3,009,000 was recognised in profit or loss

Monte-Carlo Simulation

SR REREDE

during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Discount rate

TEES

Volatility

]

Unlisted shares, at cost

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non

FE LR - A

interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

KAREERE
RWEGEB ZIEGIE AR A
EWHARBRIEATFENE - 4
3,009,000/ T 2 E W s AR B A F
ENHEEIREE T _TF=A
=+ BIEFEEERSAER -

The higher the discount
rate, the lower the fair
value, vice versa

BRI EME - BIAFER
K RZIFA

The higher the volatility rate,
the higher the fair value,
vice versa

RIBEA - BIAFE-
= RZINA

& MRE T B

2020 2019
= —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
TR TET

FEUF B A R R R E AR - B K

BRERHESE -



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March ARABRZE_EFR_T—LF=
2020 and 2019 are as follows: B=+—RBEEZHBAT:SEMT
Place of
Class of shares  incorporation/
held/paid up registration and Issued shares and Percentage of equity
Name of subsidiary capital operation paid up capital ~attributable to the Company Principal activities
FERAER/  HREL/ ERARAR
MEARAR B4kx ARSI BfRx  AQRAEERERSL  TEEER
Directly held:
BB
Lasting Power Investments Limited ~ Ordinary share ~ The BVI United States Dollars 100 100 Investment holding
NERBERAT LR RERLHS (US")1 REBR
E )
Indirectly held:
BiEes
Star Fortune Intemnational Investment ~ Ordinary share ~ The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited (“Star Fortune”) 3% ABRAHE 100£7T REBR
ENERERRERRAA]
(BN 1)
Ming Kei Kai Yuan Investment Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited LEk A 60,000,000%7C REER
RENRRAARAR
Kaiyuan Company (Note i) Paid up capital  The PRC RMB30,000,000 100 100 Coal mining and sales
SRR (HH) LG lhes G AR30,000,00070 RBREE
Zexu Company (Note i Paid up capital  The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 100 Holding of an exploration
ERAR (ki) AR i AR2,000,0007T right of coal mine
HEARRRE
Radiant Day Holdings Limited Ordinary share ~ Samoa US$1 100 100 Investment holding
(‘Radiant Day’) TR BED 1% AR
RAERERAR(HER])
NEFIN Leasing Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 90 90 Investment holding
HREE LRk B 1,000,000 RERR
NEFIN Technologies Ordinary share~ Malaysia RM1,000 920 90 Renewable energy solution
NEFIN Technologies LRk SRR 10005 % ABARREANR
Ample Talent Ventures Limited Ordinary share ~ Samoa US$1 100 100 Investment holding
(‘Ample Talent') LER BED 3 REAR

WEERARAR(HEAR])
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Place of
Class of shares  incorporation/
held/paid up registration and Issued shares and
Name of subsidiary capital operation paid up capital
FEROER,/  SREL/ BRTRAR

WEAFAR Bak= Baed L1

Indirectly held (continued):

BE () :

Harbour Group Holdings Ordinary share  Hong Kong HK$2,018,800

BER TR B 2,018,800

Mountain Managed Cloud Consulting ~ Ordinary share  Hong Kong HK$10,000
Limited (“Mountain Managed Lk £ 10,0007
Cloud”)

KEERERERAR(KEEE])

Vanguard Business Services Limited ~ Ordinary share  Hong Kong HK$10,000
(“Vanguard Business") Lk & 10,0007

FEEERHERARN(EEHE])

Harbour Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. ~ Ordinary share  Singapore S$1
(“Harbour Group Singapore”) &3k il g

Harbour Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

(Harbour Group Singapore )

Harbour Group Consulting (UK) Ordinary share nited Kingdom Great Britain Pound
Limited (“Harbour Group Ldk itz 100
Consulting”) 10054

Harbour Group Consulting (UK)

Limited ([ Harbour Group
Consulting])

HGH Technology Scn. Bhd. Ordinary share  Malaysia RM350,000
(“HGH Technology”) LAk ERAR 350,000

HGH Technology Sdn. Bhd.

(THGH Technology)

Note:

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprise

(ii) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the

reporting period.

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company Principal activities

FAFEERERDL

2019

“ENE
%

IERE

80.86 - Provision of IT Services
REEARERS
80.86 - Provision of IT Services
REERRERS
80.86 - Provision of IT Services
REEARERS
80.86 - Provision of IT Services
REEARERS
80.86 - Provision of IT Services
REEARERS
80.86 - Provision of IT Services
REEARERS
FtaE

0 REFEAPIFEMAIEBELSE

(ii) BEPEEGIFMABERRE

PSR & BA R A SR A X i AR (AT
i - BN E QR BEA A2 #1T
ZEBES -
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 17. RBABZRE(HE)
Financial information of subsidiaries with individually BEEEEERIE IR ER ([ 3E
material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) ZERER ) 2B AR 2 HBEER
The following table shows the information relating to the non- TREF AR ERNIFERER 2 I
wholly owned subsidiary, Harbour Group, that has material 2EMBRAABEEEEHECER -
NCI. The summarised financial information represents amounts B 75 & R L B2 51| W BB 14 N 7)) B S
before inter-company eliminations since acquisition. EIEDE:6EI0

Harbour
Group

2020
BEEE
BB

=y

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests IR FTE RSN 19.14%

At 31 March
2020
R-EB-=F

=Z=A=+—8H
HK$’000
TERT

Non-current assets IEmENEE 1,326
Current assets mBNEE 12,802
Current liabilities MEAE (5,111)
Non-current liabilities EmEIAE (950)
Net assets BEFE 8,067

Carrying amount of NCI FEPER R 2 AR EE 1,544

176 NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REX4ER A 7
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 17. ABARIZIRE (&)
Financial information of subsidiaries with individually BEEEEERIE IR ER ([ 3E
material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) (continued) R |) 2 B A R 2 B &k

(#8)

From 23
April 2019
(date of
acquisition)
to 31 March
2020

—E-hEF
MA=+=H
(WA=

—ECEF
=B=+—H

HK$°000
FExT

Revenue for the period R 53,304
Profit for the period B A& ) 3,936
Total comprehensive income for the period BAasmE ke 3,732

Total comprehensive income for the period JEFERS RE R FE (R B A 2 E R 4B 5

attributable to NCI 714

Net cash flows used in: UTRIEFAREMEFE -

Operating activities KR 2T (204)
Investing activities WEEK 1)
Financing activities B E (2,090)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, dividends of HE-Z-_ZF=-A=+—H1t*#F
approximately HK$1,010,000 were paid to NCI. € - BRZHERER X 491,010,000

BT °

% 177
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Consumables HE M
Coals R

No inventories were written down for the years ended 31 March

2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FETT
292 305

7,887 7,268
8,179 7,573

WENBE-—_ZE-_BER_ZT—HIF
A=+ HIFERREE -

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—AF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET T

2020 and 2019.

Financial assets mandatorily BEIRAFEYIREEREA
measured at FVPL EECemEE

Unlisted investments — principal JELEHIRE —RAES

guaranteed funds

As at 31 March 2019, the unlisted investments in principal
guaranteed funds (“Principal Guaranteed Funds”) were placed
with a bank in the PRC. The Principal Guaranteed Funds carried
interest at floating rate with expected return ranging from 1.90%
to 2.95% per annum. The Principal Guaranteed Funds had
no fixed maturity period and the amount of such investment
can be redeemed at any time with minimal cost. The Principal
Guaranteed Funds mainly invested in treasury bonds and
debentures, money market funds and equity-linked notes and
were denominated in RMB.

- 60,236

RZZE-—NAF=ZA=+—H ' IRA
HES(IRAES D2 EHREDTF
AR B —HRT - RAESRFHH
KB FHRAENFEF1.90%
£295% 2 - RAE S EEEE
MR - BEREZ SRR
REKAERLD - FAEEETEREN
BEMEER  EFEHEESURK
RHINER - WAARKEHE -
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The movement of the unlisted investments in the Principal
Guaranteed Funds is analysed as follows:

RRAEES ZIF EMRENZEFH DN

LI

2020
—B-FF

HK$’000
FTERT

At the beginning of reporting period

Additions
Redemption
Exchange difference

At the end of reporting period

60,236

(57,247)
(2,989)

2020
— i

Notes HK$°000
s TEx
Trade and bills receivables from BWE=FERREE
third parties 20(a) 8,663
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ JBNFIE ~ 184 R EAM
receivables FEWEIR 4,997
Refundable deposit paid for MWEEFEELF2
acquisition of Harbour Group AREES =
Other taxes receivables H U E 1B 107
Non-refundable deposits TAREBILZ S 20(b) =
Guaranteed profit FEUR B S A A EFE
compensation receivables 20(c) 2,622
Prepayments for acquisition of WEEYEE - BB NMRIEZ
property, plant and equipment TERIR 1,093

17,482

2019

—E-NF

HK$’000
TAET

2019
—NEF
HK$'000
TAT

4,040
3,671

613
2,431

19,635

30,290
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180

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

20. FEWE R H fFE WK ()

Analysed by: SWE -
2020 2019
—_ 7 —= ﬂi > _j-LE'E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFET
Non-current assets EMBNEE 1,093 22,066
Current assets MBEE 16,389 8,224
17,482 30,290
All of the trade and other receivables that are classified as BN EAERHEEZENERKE

current assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

20(a) Trade and bills receivables from third parties
Loss allowance
The Group’s sales to coal customers are largely done on
payment in advance basis. For certain well-established
customers, the Group allows an average credit period of
90 days.

The Group grants credit period up to 60 days from
the date of issuance of invoice to its customers from
renewable energy business segment and IT Services
business segment.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED B & REZAR A A

i F& W R TR TR B — S A UL (B SRR

RFIX

20() BRE=FEMKEWRREE

iR E

AEEBRRREF 2 #HEXE D

BB RAELEEL

° LA TRE

BRREZEFPME @ AKEAR

ZFHAEEHR/OX -

AEERTEHAIBARE

REBD

BREARMBRBEGAIEER
ZIEEHBERH L RHEM &

%60K °
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20(a)

20(b)

Trade and bills receivables from third parties
(continued)

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables (presented based on the invoice date)
and bills receivables (presented based on the issuance
date of relevant bills), net of loss allowance, was as
follows:

200 BRE=ZFERKEY

Within 30 days 30KA

31 - 60 days 31 RE60K
61 - 90 days B61RZE0K
Over 90 days 90KIA E

B R

Less: Loss allowance

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and loss allowance for trade and other receivables
is included in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Non-refundable deposits

As at 31 March 2019, non-refundable deposits
of approximately RMB2,099,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,431,000) were paid to two
independent third parties in accordance with respective
undisputed agreements regarding the acquisition of areas
of the coal mine held by the third parties to extend the
coal mine of the Group. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 August 2017. The
Group was required to go through official procedures with
the relevant land and resources departments to obtain
the exploration right and then the mining right in respect
of these extended areas. The non-refundable deposits
were transferred to intangible assets upon the execution
of Transfer Agreement during the year ended 31 March
2020.

B

3B

(%)

MR E R ERE - BUIER
(REZRH2I) RERRRE
(REAERERLBH25) R
BRERBERZRESITIT :

2020 2019
—EF-FF —FTNF
HK$'000

HK$’000
TR TAET

2,882 =
2,602 =

239 =
2,991 =

8,714 -
(51) -

8,663 =

AR SEEE 2 SERRKE
W& R N E A IR 2 1R
W2 BREN G M RERMT
34 -

20(b) FARERE

RZZE—HhFE=A=+—H8" 1
BEBKREF=HAFEZ2ER
DIERASEEEE SRR E
W& BERMBEBIYE=ZAX
R AR #2,099,0007T (FE R
#92,431,000% 70 ) 2 NAJRE K
© o BRE—SHBIHRNADT
B A—ZT—+E\A+HAZ
NE - AEEARMEBRLIER
EPIHE R F ARG % SEE
R E 2 By R R B 1 2 5
- HBE_E_TF=-A=1+—
HIEFE @ MAIREBIRENERT
TR EAELEE -
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20(c) Guaranteed profit compensation receivables

20(c) FEURIR B BA i E TR

Vendor of NEFIN Group (Note 36(a)) #TagiR5 B = 75 (fi5£36(a))
Vendor of Harbour Group (Note 16) 8 £EE /5 (MiiE16)

The guaranteed profit compensation receivables from
the Vendor of Harbour Group was setting off the same
amount from Promissory Note 2 (as defined in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements) subsequent to 31
March 2020.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks (the “Banks”) in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order to
settle the trade payables due to these suppliers with a total
carrying amount in aggregate of approximately HK$8,282,000.
The Derecognised Bills will mature in one to six months
after the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the
Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of
the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the
Group if the Banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards relating to
the Derecognised Bills, because it is remote for the Banks to
default the payment. Therefore, it derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated trade
payables. The maximum exposure to loss arising from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and
the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised
Bills equal to their carrying amounts.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from
the Continuing Involvement, during the year or cumulatively.

2020 2019

— 7 —% ﬂE :;ﬁ_j-bf'z
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT

435 =

2,187 =
2,622 -

FEUE B R B H 7 2 ARTE 4 F) 48
BRERA_ZE_EF=A=1+—
HEBSHEALZBR2(ERRE
& TS EmEMIFES0)HEH o

R=ZFE—h=A=+—H0  A%£E5
HETHERELZRFABRERT(MIR
TDEMzETREKERE (4R
ER|ETEE  UEMEAZEHE
FERBR M R E A 5 #%)8,282,000 7
TTZEMNER - RIEERZEASNRR
EHMERE—Z A AR - BiE
FERIZERE - WERITIER AR - B4R
IEEREBEREASREEERER
E(HEESET]) - ARAEER
% BRRITIE R 2 0] 88 M &
B WAEECECEBRILERE
BZRAE AR KEER - Bt - &
B IERERK IR ER RAEEEN
ERZ2E2HERE - AEEMARXE
BIERERE 2 RFEESEAULE
ElZEFRIEERER 2 KRR SR
EMEKBRZZEARR - BERZ
EEE VRMAE °

BE_2 2K _F—NLF=A
=t—HIEFE  AEBEUWEREE
BIFrERER S B ERTMRESE
B - WERRRKABFEESELZF
[k Rt a kB 18 -
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Pursuant to the loan agreement signed with a bank in the PRC, RIEHEPE—RRITEBZEXRH
the amounts represent bank balances in the bank in the PRC F XS HEPRHEBEITTZRITE
maintained solely for the purpose of settlement of outstanding %O EAEERAEEREFEEEMS
interest-bearing borrowings and are restricted for use by the ¥ WRNRAEE B EEMAE B
Group for any other purposes. The restricted bank balances are 7o XBHIRITEBIUARESEL
denominated in RMB and carried interest at prevailing market RIBITHBANERERS

rates.

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounting to AREBZHSRERBESEEIERY
approximately HK$161,366,000 (2019: approximately 161,366,000 T (=T — LF : 4
HK$278,814,000) comprised bank balances and cash held by 278,814,000 7T) * BEAEERA
the Group and short-term deposits with an original maturity of ZHRITEHEESUREREIHA A=
three months or less. The bank balances and bank deposits A A AR Z REITFR - SRITEH K
carried interest at market rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.60% RITEFURN F0.01%E2.60%( —Z
(2019: 0.01% to 2.41%) per annum. —NE : 0.01%E2.41%) Z TH 5 & F

EETE o

2020 2019

- —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Bank balances IR1T4E SR 95,746 43,968

Short term deposits with an original ~ RE|HIE A=@K AR

maturity of three months or less RHIF R 64,365 234,705

Cash on hand FERS 1,255 141

Cash and cash equivalents BE MRS EEEE 161,366 278,814
Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following B4

amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional =
currency of the entity to which they relate:

2019

SR =~
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T

HK$ BT 68,350 129,262
uss$ ETT 22 67
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group had balances amounted
to RMB142,901,000 (equivalent to HK$157,320,000 (2019:
approximately RMB128,307,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$148,630,000) that were placed with banks in the PRC.
Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange
controls imposed by the PRC government.

At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of the trade
payables (presented based on the invoice date) is as follows:

RZE_EF=A=+—H ' K
EEERTREREBITZESR B
A R ¥ 142,901,000 7t ( 8 & B
157,320,000 L) (ZE— & : 4
A R # 128,307,000 ¢ *© HE R L
148,630,000 7L ) ° [ A BIEIN 2
B AXPRBFEIT ZINEE FIFT
PR o

RS ARERE - BNERORER
HEIZS) ZRRE AT

Within 90 days CFNA
91 — 180 days 91 RKZE180K
181 — 365 days 181 KXE365K
Over 1 year HBiB1F
Trade payables FERTER
Contract liabilities BHBE
Government levies payable BB EE

— Economic development fees in — B R BRI T

coal resources areas BERE

— Others —HAth
Accrued expenses fEETE A
Non-refundable deposits received B IRERS

Payables for construction-in-progress 15 T 12 F& {5 28
Other payables E At 5RIE

All of the trade and other payables that are classified as current
liabilities are expected to be settled within one year.

The average credit period of purchases of goods is up to 180
days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.

2020 2019

—EEHF —E-NF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

715 11

1,488 10,523

3,993 80

2,840 75

9,036 10,689

24(a) 2,023 564
26,819 27,307

445 3,845

5,813 3,906

24(b) = 5,673
8,952 =

1,841 6,310

54,929 58,794

B BARDEEZERNEREE
IR R —F RSB °

REmm FHEERKZ180K - &
SECHEMBRREERE - IR
PrERNREREEHRABE -
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24(a)

24(b)

Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019 are as follows:

At the beginning of the reporting Rk & Hi#)
period

Receipts in advance TEU AR

Recognised as revenue R AW

At the end of the reporting period PR HIZR

The Group applies the practical expedient and does
not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of one
year or less.

Non-refundable deposits received
Non-refundable deposits received of approximately
RMB4,897,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,391,000) were received from two independent
third parties in accordance with respective undisputed
agreements signed during the year ended 31 March
2018 regarding the disposal of areas of coal mine
held by the Group. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 August 2017. These
transactions were completed and executed during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

2 EHEE

BE_T_THEN_FT-NF=
A=+t—HLFE FEUHR
SEAFISREFANELNS
MAEERH(FTERRFELN
I INEOR A S| BE B E) AT

2020 2019
—E_EHF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
564 1,534
2,023 564
(564) (1,534)

2,023 564

AEERAATHEESE LM
BEAWRSREENENA
— PN B TR E
#t o

24(b) EWAFAIREEZ S

BRERBE-_ZTE—/\F=A
=+ —BHIFETLZEEE
F2HhE BEREELAEHE
FriEEEmR MM G S
ZHUBAAREZRS YD
AR #4,897,0007T (B E R4
5,391,000/7T) - BRAE—FF
BERAARBHA-ZT—+F
NATHEBZAE - 25X 58
REBEE-_TE-_THF=-F=+—H
IEFETER RHETT ©
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Current mEp
Non-current JETRED

Pursuant to the terms of the Transfer Agreement relating to
purchase of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine for a term of 30 years from
August 2019 to August 2049 as set out in Note 13(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements, the consideration totaling
approximately RMB160,978,000, which shall be settled in cash
and paid by Kaiyuan Company to Xinjiang Land Department in
fifteen instalments:

(i) the first instalment in an amount of approximately
RMB32,200,000 shall be paid within 30 days upon
signing of the Transfer Agreement;

(i)  the second to fourteenth instalments in an amount of
approximately RMB9,200,000 each shall be paid before
20 November of every year from 2020 to 2032; and

(i) ~ the last instalment in an amount of approximately
RMB9,178,000 shall be paid before 20 November 2033.

The amounts due are unsecured and interest-free. The carrying
amount is determined based on the present value of the future
cash flows stated in Transfer Agreement discounted using the
effective interest rate of 8.47% per annum with reference to
valuation report issued by ValQuest.

2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$000 HK$'000
TR TET
3,348 -
80,155 -
83,503 -

RIRER G B 75 R 2% B 53 1 3ii) ATk 5 8
BECBAINREE HEihz (T8
AT NAFNABRZE_ZTOAFN
BIEAB=+F) 215K - RIEBFELD
A AR#160,978,0007T ¢ #EHEVEA
Ao T REIER L ERERS
1

() F—HLFELH ARE32,200,000
LR ERE H R EE0R A
=

iy FZETHHSHHOARE
9,200,000 TR —_E=_FFH
—E-_FHREF+—A=1
HRTZ A &

(i) HE—HEBHAREQ178,000
TR _E==F+—HA=+H
BISZ AT o

e AEARLRE - RE T
SERRBL 2 GEERS  ERNES
BERFNEBATRIA Z LB G
FARKAEERELREERE °
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2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET

Current portion FRENI D
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured zHEfEE - HiKHA

The interest-bearing borrowings with a clause in their terms that
give the banks an overriding right to demand for repayment
without notice at their sole discretion are classified as current
liabilities even though the directors of the Company do not
expect that the bank would exercise their right to demand
repayment. As at 31 March 2020, the interest-bearing
borrowings are secured by restricted bank balances (Note 22)
with carrying amount of approximately HK$73,760,000 (2019:
approximately HK$77,612,000).

The interest-bearing borrowings are repayable from within two
years to five years since their inception. The average effective
interest rates on the interest-bearing borrowings were ranging
from 4.9% - 8.0% (2019: 4.8%) per annum. All the interest-
bearing borrowings are denominated in HK$ and RMB (2019:
RMB).

65,345 68,345

&R B FIRITR AR A] 2R TE
BABMERERZTBEELISE
AERBEAE  REAQAREREHRE

ﬁﬂqW\EhﬁExﬁﬁxz&éﬂ w=

T_TFE-A=+—8 EEE
AR HIRITE R (M rE22) (EIEIR -

BREEX) A73,760,000 T(—Z— N,

& #977,612,000/87T) °

ﬁgf%é% RAEMERFEE RAFAE

cFEBBEZEHEBRENENT
4.9%:.:8.0% TE—NF 1 48%) °
FrEst BIEEYUBTRARE(ZZ
—nF  ARB)FHE -
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=N 2 S

REHH BB
rEBZGEEREERY 2F
MR FEREHRE RN GRS
BER - ARBNFAERIEE
Mo 2 BBFFHIIWT ¢

(@ Movements in components of equity (@)
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity during the year are set

out below:
The Company b /N
Exchange
Share translation  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
REE B AR ZitER @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AL TAT TAL TAL
(Note i) (Note v) (Note vi)
(Bitz) (Fitzv) (Pitstvi)
Asat1 Aprl 2018 HW=Z-\EmA-B 191,534 16134 128013 (B1587) (1590
Profit for the year EREH - - - 20,646 20,646
Total other comprehensive loss: A2 EEEAE
Item that maybe reclassffied R a7 82k %8H
subsequently to profit or [0ss
Exchange differences on translation of S ERAZIIEH 2
functional currency to presentation EREH
currency - (4,032) - - (4,032
Total comprehensive income ERrENHER
for the year = (4,082) = 20,646 16,614
Asat31 March 2019and 1 April 2019 R-E-h&E=A=t-HRK
ZZ-NENA-A 191,534 12,102 128,013 (330,941) 708
Profit for the year ERGF - - - 59,604 59,604
Total other comprehensive loss: A2 EEEAE
Item that maybe reclassffied Rh a7 82k BH
subsequently to profit or l0ss
Exchange differences on tranglation of ~ HESERAZIIEH 2
functional currency to presentation EREH
currency - (4,856) - - (4,856)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FR2ARHEE - (4,856) - 50,604 54,748
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-ZE=f=1-H 191,534 7,246 128,013 (271,337) 55,456
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@

Movements in components of equity (continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium
The application of share premium is governed by Section 40 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve arose from the acquisition of the additional
equity interest of subsidiaries in prior years. It represents the
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets of
the subsidiaries attributable to the additional interest at the
dates of acquisition and the fair value of consideration paid by
the Group.

Statutory reserves

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer part of their
profit after tax to the statutory surplus reserve, which are
non-distributable, before profit distributions are made. The
amounts of the transfers are subject to the approval of the
boards of directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

Specific reserve for maintenance and production funds
Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is
required to transfer maintenance and production funds at fixed
rates based on relevant bases to a specific reserve account.
The maintenance and production funds can be utilised when
expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance
and safety measures are incurred. The amount of maintenance
and production funds utilised would be transferred from the
specific reserve account to retained earnings.

Exchange translation reserve

Exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of functional currency
to presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(GY)

= N

D
3T -

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

SRR B (&)

B RE
BABRGOEEASBERE
—NN—FRAVEFIEEE -

A

B A R IR B 1 R R I
B AR EINEHE o R ER
Y B B B AR O b o P 1 %
EHBARNEEFEREE
HAKRERANREATFEZR
ZER -

EERE

ETE BB
RIBREDER - AEEMBE
B Y A BB 53 IR i A
Al E AR D BRI N E RS
EEBBRE  ZREBEHTH
DR - BEREEARLH
ZERAZETSRREBRE
SRAAHE -

HEREEESZ ERFRE
R ERRER - AKREZA
12 IR AR 8 & 2 DA B 5E b R 3
HENEERSEHEHFE
fR-#BREERESNEEL
EEABRLZ2EEIAX®K
EARXKEBA  EHAEMN
REEESKHERFBRE
BERERARN -

bE 5
EXREeEEREDREE S
2IEEBELE 2 2RINEE
B ZRERESEMBHRER
FfsEorE e st BRI
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(@ Movements in components of equity (continued) (a)

Notes: (continued)

(v) Special reserve

The amount in special reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid for acquiring a further 49%
equity interest in Star Fortune and the decrease in the carrying
amount of the non-controlling interests of Star Fortune in a

previous year.

(vi)j  Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange for the issued shares of the
companies being acquired and the value of net assets of the
underlying companies acquired at the time of the Group’s
reorganisation in preparation for its listing in 1995. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in

certain circumstances.
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(b) Authorised and issued share capital (b) EERDEITERR
Number of
ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each Amount
SREE0.108 T
ZEBEREE -
HK$'000
FHL
Authorised: JETE ¢
Balance as at 1 April 2018, RZE—N\FMHA—AH -
31 March 2019 and —“Z2—-NF=A
31 March 2020 =t HRZZE-ZTF
=A=1+—Bz&% 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
Balance as at 1 April 2018, RZZE—-NFMA—A -
31 March 2019, and —E-NF=A
31 March 2020 —t+—BAEkZZE=TF
—A=t+—RHz&# 765,373,584 76,537

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regards to the

Company’s residual assets.

E9 A RS R -
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()

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its
shareholders.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly
review and manage its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders’ returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic condition. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividend or the issue of new debt. No
changes were made in the objectives or policies during
the year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, total debt
represented interest-bearing borrowings, mining
right payables, promissory notes, lease liabilities and
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at FVPL.
Equity comprises all components of equity.

(c)

EXEE
AEEEREAZBEZRIZENR
BAEERMEERBERERLE
EAZE - PREREUE 597E A
HEFHE R - WAEKRRBEURE
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RRARMEEERTE g R EE
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BT ARz RS EEKF
BRRSHE B AHR I 5 2 2 4 B B R
IR 2 S P - WRBRA B
MBCHERNEBIELRAE - F
SR AREREBIKTRE
SBITHEG FEEEREANE
B RERLEY B RHBERIE
HEmEE

AEE AR B AL RIEREE
HEARBZEE - BULTME -
RAEENEE A RIER - BN
REERIE A HEE  HES
BRI A AR AR SN R
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27. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 27. BARf#E(H)
(c) Capital management (continued) (c) EBEAXREHE(E)

The debt-to-equity ratio as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 NR-EBE_TEFER_T—NF=A1

are as follows: =T —HBZERBELEERNAT -

2020 2019

—z-zs LRI

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 65,345 68,345

Mining right payables e PR HE TR A 83,503 =

Promissory notes A EIR 4,611 =

Lease liabilities HEBE 3,238 =

Convertible bond designated as & E AR A TESIBRI I
financial liabilities at FVPL BENEEZSREEL

AR ES 146,426 217,869

Total debt waE 303,123 286,214

Total equity HarEay 153,065 184,683

Debt-to-equity ratio EmBELE 1.98 1.55
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are RAalHEAMBRAREES
subject to externally imposed capital requirements. EISNERREIN 2 B AR TE 2 PRI ©
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On 14 March 2008, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible bond with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 to Ascent Goal simultaneously upon
completion of the issue and allotment of 400,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each. The bond was denominated in HK$
and entitled the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
bond and its settlement date on 13 March 2011 in multiples
of HK$1,000,000 at a conversion price HK$0.20 (subject to
adjustments) per share. The shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversions shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with all other ordinary shares in issue by
the Company on the date of such allotment and issue. If the
convertible bond has not been converted, the Company should
repay the principal amount of the outstanding convertible bond
to Ascent Goal at 13 March 2011.

On 11 February 2011, the Company entered into a deed of
amendment with Ascent Goal (“1st extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of the convertible bond
for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly be
extended for 36 months from 14 March 2011 (date of extension)
to 13 March 2014. Apart from the extension of the maturity date
and the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond
remain unchanged from the original terms.

Following the change of functional currency from HK$ to
RMB, the directors of the Company are of the view that the
convertible bond upon extension of maturity date (“Convertible
Bond”) was no longer convertible at a fixed for fixed relationship.
Accordingly, the Convertible Bond was designated as a financial
liability at FVPL in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

On 21 January 2014, the Company entered into a second deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“2nd extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of 1st extended Convertible
Bond for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly
be extended for 36 months from 14 March 2014 (date of
extension) to 13 March 2017 (“2nd extended Maturity Date”).
Apart from the extension of maturity date and the conversion
period, all terms of the convertible bond remain unchanged from
the original terms.
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SERk 31T I ER 400,000,000 & B @
BOAB T2 E@mR 2 R - MEEE%
17N & #8258 /200,000,000 T2 E B
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THEABINRZESFZTRHELR
BERAH-_ZE——F=A+=HHMH
BE By 12 B A E B A% 0.2078 7T (A T
Bz Ei AR NG TR - SR
78 /1,000,00078 0 2 & 81 o 8RR
FEETT RBLEE 2 0 1 bk 2 ) R B A
e RETABAQRMAEME 2
TEBRRETEEZERSER °
i AT AR B A AR R - NQR]ER
T —F=ZAt+=-HEBEZAE
WA AR ES 2 RS 58 o

R-ZB——F_A+—H ARAHE
BRAI AT RE(E—REH &
BefEsx]) - AR RIBERESR 2 2B B
EHSEEA BB AKHERRE_-F
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REMB REHREIN - A ARRE
TR R G T -

DeEEEEETESARKER AR
FIEFERR/IYBTEMR 2 R E
Z (A& ) T A B A EERE
@i o [t - ATBBRESNERE TS
RARAETE RIR L FEFIRILEE
sNEEZEBEAIE -

N-E—NE—A=-+—H &ARQR7
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The 2nd extended Maturity Date was considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of 1st extended Convertible
Bond as the discounted present value of the cash flows of
the 2nd extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the cash flows
of the outstanding 1st extended Convertible Bond prior to
the extension of maturity date. As such, the 1st extended
Convertible Bond was derecognised and the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond was recognised. The fair value of the 2nd
extended Convertible Bond as at 14 March 2014 amounted to
approximately HK$200,000,000.

On 25 January 2017, the Company entered into a third deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“3rd extended Convertible
Bond”), to further extend the maturity date of the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 13 March
2017 (date of extension) to 13 March 2020 (“3rd extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

The 3rd extended Maturity Date was considered to be
a substantial modification of terms of the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond as the discounted present value of the cash
flows of the 3rd extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the outstanding
2nd extended Convertible Bond prior to the extension of
maturity date. As such, the 2nd extended Convertible Bond
was derecognised and the 3rd extended Convertible Bond
was recognised. The fair value of the 3rd extended Convertible
Bond as at 14 March 2017 amounted to approximately
HK$264,904,000.

ARE ZREHARRES Z2RER
ECMRAEBBRY B LR < W
RITHEE— wL@Tﬁkf%Zﬁi
MEEMBIREI0% N L WE=
AR EA R4 AR RS — mL%T@&
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HWRE —IRCHRAI MR ESF W ERE
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On 3 February 2020, the Company entered into a fourth deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“4th extended Convertible
Bond”), to further extend the maturity date of the 3rd extended
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 13 March
2020 (date of extension) to 13 March 2023 (“4th extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

The 4th extended Maturity Date was considered to be
a substantial modification of terms of the 3rd extended
Convertible Bond as the discounted present value of the cash
flows of the 4th extended Convertible Bond was more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the outstanding
3rd extended Convertible Bond prior to the extension of
maturity date. As such, the 3rd extended Convertible Bond
was derecognised and the 4th extended Convertible Bond
was recognised. The fair value of the 4th extended Convertible
Bond as at 14 March 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$159,163,000. An extinguishment gain of approximately
HK$40,837,000 had been recognised in profit and loss during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

The 4th extended Convertible Bond (2019: 3rd extended
Convertible Bond) was valued by the directors of the Company
with reference to valuation report issued by ValQuest (2019:
ValQuest) as at 31 March 2020.
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AARESR ) - AR SR = REH A

RRfES 2 BB B — P EHAS6 @ A

mEmEEENY T _EF= A
+T=ZA(EHEHEHBEAE—F
—=F=Z A+ =8B FmREHEH
) - BRIERDIHBE REHBEAN - A
BB EFGERIRR B ERERFT

%4
= °

AR ENRLER AR ES 2RSSR
ECMRARERBE B LR 2
RITEE = RER AR EHFE LR
RE10%A £ - MEM KT EH
WARBE = REH AR ESFER 2
ERENR - Bt ERIEEREZR

A HA AT #2 I8 A& 55 30 FE SR 56 7Y )X AE H /]
B ES o R AR EHF R
—ECEF=RAFTWUAZAFENE
159,163,000 7L - HE—_ZT —TF =
A=+—BIFE ' £40,837,000/%
TTEBWEE B ER -

%@mﬁ%T%kf%L. —hF:

RIEHIR R ES ) BARRIES
ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ;i NE: BEIN_F
“EFE=-A=t—HAEAZHER
EHEITIHE



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

The movements of the 3rd extended Convertible Bond for the
years are set out below:

SREHR MR ESN TR EH)
%WJZZDT :

3rd extended Convertible Bond
FEZREHTRRES

REYZ 4
FEAERZ R

Balance at beginning of the year

Fair value change credited to the
profit or loss

(Gain)/Loss on translation of 3rd
extended Convertible Bond

ATEED)

T%ﬁﬂx%%%ﬁ]ﬁ%%ﬁﬁgz

denominated in a foreign currency (Yzs),/Eia
into the functional currency
Exchange adjustment arising on BHENGEEKRZ7

Wt AR 2 mE s 2
bEE 5 FE

translation of functional currency to

presentation currency and recorded

in other comprehensive income
Derecognition of maturity on

13 March 2020 TR
Balance at end of the year FREE
Analysed for reporting as: WEDPMA -

Current liabilities mEAE

FREEER| SRR 25

Difference between carrying amount
and maturity amount:

3rd extended Convertible Bond BAVEFE 2 EZIRER
at fair value AR ES

REIHS RN S5

Amount payable on maturity

BEINETHE 2 =T

ERREL

R-ZE-TF=H+=R3HE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TR
217,869 247,242
(17,869) (29,373)
(9,351) 16,340
9,351 (16,340)
(200,000) =
- 217,869

- 217,869

- 217,869

- (200,000)

- 17,869
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The movements of the 4th extended Convertible Bond for the FUNRER AR EAERNFE A2 EE)
year are set out below: Edlp N

4th
extended
Convertible
Bond

SEM RS

AR RS
2020
= i
HK$000
FRT

Recognition of 4th extended Convertible Bondon R —Z ~T4= 5+ A ({THI B H) 2

14 March 2020 (date of extension) EIRTER R PR E A 159,163
Fair value change credited to the profit or loss SABRATER (12,737)
Loss on translation of 4th extended Convertible BE P INEHE 2 BRI ES A

Bond denominated in a foreign currency into the  IHEEEHE 2 E51E

functional currency 2,549
Exchange adjustment arising on translation of BB G A 25| G EE WA

functional currency to presentation currency and  Efh 2 Eizs 2 [E H G %L

recorded in other comprehensive income (2,549)
Balance at end of the year FREH 146,426
Analysed for reporting as: WEDITA

Current liabilities mBEE -

Non-current liabilities FnBaFE 146,426

146,426

Difference between carrying amount and maturity — BREI{EER S| iS58 7 248

amount:
4th extended Convertible Bond at fair value BAFERE 2 B E R TR E S 146,426
Amount payable on maturity REIEAR e £ 58 (200,000)
(53,574)
None of the 3rd extended Convertible Bond or 4th extended BE-Z-_ZTEFR=_T-—NF=H
Convertible Bond had been converted into ordinary shares of =T—BHLEFE BEF=IREHA
the Company during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. AR E S E R EH A R ESE

BEERRARNREBR -



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

HK$’000

T

As at 1 April 2018 R-E—NFMNA—H 3,074

Exchange difference b =% (204)
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-ZZE—HhhFE=A=+—"H8BK

—E-NAFWMA—H 2,870

Exchange difference MR ERE (144)

As at 31 March 2020 R-EBE-_ZEHF=H=+—H 2,726

Mining activities may result in land subsidence or damage,
which could lead to losses to the residents of the mining areas.
Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required
to make compensation payments to the residents for their
losses resulting from land subsidence or damage, or to restore
the mining areas back to certain acceptable conditions.

Under existing legislation, the directors of the Company
believe that there are no probable liabilities that will have a
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group. The PRC government, however, has
moved and may move further towards the adoption of more
stringent environmental standards. Environmental liabilities
are subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the
Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation
efforts. These uncertainties include: (i) the exact nature and
extent of the contamination at various sites including, but not
limited to, coal mines and land development areas, whether
operating, closed or sold, (i) the extent of required cleanup
efforts, (iii) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies, (iv)
changes in environmental remediation requirements, and (v) the
identification of new remediation sites.

REREB A REEEUME TRER -
femA<cHAREs EREXEX -
RIBETFEMEEER - AREALIE
TlRIXBHEREK ZBRAEGH
BERELEE  HSRAKEERES
—E ARSI ©

RIFBRITED  RRAREZHETE
B4 (T fa) A] BE Y AN SR B BA SO SR
EEBERAEABETEZEME R
- FEBRFEELBAIE—FE
M AR 2 IRIRIEE - RRETH R
HEREZ TEERE YA e
AEBEGBFRRREHEREZEE
A o EMEERREE : (N T R
H(BREMRNEET - SAMKE
HE 25 N LR ) BRI R
ZHEHENEE  (\FE2RABFE
TEZIRE ¢ (i) BREA A #HE R
R KA (VRBEHERTEZE
2 R (v)RETE 7 B PR IR M b 2
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The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
clean up costs has been determined by the directors of the
Company based on their past experience and best estimate of
future expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures
to their net present value. However, in so far as the effect on
the land and the environment from current mining activities
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to revision in the future. The
amounts provided in relation to close down, restoration and
environmental clean up costs are reviewed at least annually
based upon the facts and circumstances available at the time
and the provisions are updated accordingly.

Notes

et

ARAEFEREREBELH LY
RRAZ 2w EMET - BBASTEHR
THREEREFEMETCHER - &
BRIRNFENAEE - A - RE
B RIFIEE BT XZii@&f&iﬁ%’s

RAKHEETRE H‘J?FHF'%Z$Z
ERTRBERARRIELIER] - ZLEAET -

@E&f&iﬁ/ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁhZ%ﬁ‘ﬁéQ\
BEREERERZCFERBAME
B - AR RESE R o

2020 2019
—BCEH —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRT TAT

At the beginning of the reporting  FA ¥R BARI R 1A R

period

Issued during the reporting period R/ HAR 2 3417 0]
Repayment of a promissory note  {EiE74& {24 (i

FESTERRF SR

Accrued effective interest expenses

Carrying value at the end of the R¥R&EHIBARIF 2 REE
reporting period (iii)
Face value, at the end of the RFEFEERF2EE
reporting period
Analysed by: DR
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Current liabilities mENAE

6,764 -
(2,400) -
247 -

4,611 -

4,800 =

2,211 =

2,400 =

4,611 -
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(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 3 promissory
notes with principal amount of HK$2,400,000 each
(“Promissory Note 17, “Promissory Note 2” and
“Promissory Note 3”, together “Promissory Notes”)
were issued by the Company to the Vendor of Harbour
Group as part of the acquisition consideration upon
the completion of the Group’s acquisition of Harbour
Group on 23 April 2019 with a fair value of approximately
HK$6,764,000 (aggregate principal amount of
HK$7,200,000) based on the professional valuation
performed by Peak Vision, as set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Promissory Notes
bear no interest. The maturity dates of Promissory Note
1, Promissory Note 2 and Promissory Note 3 are 15
business days after the audited consolidated financial
statements are issued by the auditors of the Harbour
Group for the year ended/ending 31 December 2018,
2019 and 2020, respectively. The effective interest
rates of the Promissory Note 1, Promissory Note 2 and
Promissory Note 3 were determined to be approximately
0%, 6.65% and 6.78% per annum as at acquisition date
(i.e. 28 April 2019), 0%, 0% and 8.1% as at 31 March
2020, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group fully
repaid the Promissory Note 1 with principal amount of
approximately HK$2,400,000 as it was mature.

Subsequent to 31 March 2020, the Group fully repaid the
Promissory Note 2 with principal amount of approximately
HK$2,400,000 as it was mature and approximately
HK$2,187,000 was settled by offsetting the guaranteed
profit compensation receivables.

(i)

(i)

RBE-_ZE-_ZEF=A=+—H
IEFE - ﬂ@ﬁé%%ﬁ%%ﬁ
6FTE - RAKEBEE=_Z—N
FNA -+ =HEKKEES
SEE - ARRRERERIEL 2
EEME WBEEBREHET
= AR e FE D 5l /&2,400,000%
TTZEEEBR([ANEER] -
r&ﬁ%#m&m&%%ﬁm

mEIERLER]) EQTE
,%’U 6,764,000 7 7T ( & /i\ BER
7,200,000/ 7T) * {EAEBD WKEE
RIE o HHAEBETGT R - EHE
Bl AHEROREHEEIZ
ﬂ%aﬂjﬁ%ﬁ%lﬁgﬁﬁ
HEHEE-ZT—/\F - -
FRIZFFTZ H:+—E
IFFE 7 REZEE VB RERE
15ELEREH - ANEE] -
EHEBEON AR BB B
FMERIKBEHEI ZE—NF
MAZ+=R)R=Z=FTF=
A=+—B53REF40%
6.65% K2.6.78% A 2 0% ~ 0% K
8.1%EE °

REBE_T_TF=-A=1+—H
IHFE - AEERREEDHZ
7N ¥ /5 #92,400,00078 JT 2 7
HEEA -
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2,400,000/ 7T 2 # 7, B2
i #92,187,0007% T E A {E K
FEMUR 5 A EFRIA o



For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZTF=A=+—-HLEE

2020
—EBF
HK$°000
FHERT
Right-of-use assets (Note 12) EREEEME12)
Leased properties HEYZE 2,777
Motor vehicles A 218
2,995
2020
—EBFE
HK$’000
THET
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current mE 1,905
Non-current IEME 1,333
3,238
In addition to the information disclosed in Note 7 and Note 12 Biz e Hﬁ%ﬂﬁgﬁﬁ?n}ﬂﬁ &mﬁﬂgz
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the E§Z BRI BHE-_FT-_FTFE=AH
following amounts relating to leases during the year ended 31 =+—H iﬁgm;%.fggﬁu‘rﬁ@a
March 2020: HE 2 RIE

2020
—g-%F

HK$’000
TR

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZITEER

Leased properties HEWME 1,330
Motor vehicles RE 347
1,677
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 March BE—_EZ-_TEF=A=+—HIEE
2020 was approximately HK$3,177,000. ZHERSRE#EEYN AS,177,000/

JC °
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Commitments under leases

The Group was committed to lease contracts in relation
to leased properties that have not yet commenced. The
related lease payments that were not paid and not reflected
in the measurement of lease liabilities were approximately
HK$367,000.

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which are payable as follows:

HEARE

AEBREEYHETLZEEES
2 REEOEARFAE o KT REKRR
FrEHEABER R ZEBEENK
#9/5367,00078 7T °

REBERBETAIHEH L EHE MR R
R At 2 AR TR & FRIA 2 FE A 1B 40
T

HK$'000

FHET

Within one year —FR 1,211
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEFhF(BEEERTE) 1,725
2,936

Lease liabilities:

HERE :

Present value
Lease of lease
payments payments

HENR HEMRZERE

2020 2020
—E-SF —E-%5F

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR

Amount payable: FERTEIA -
Within one year —FNR
More than one year, —FLA L - BTHBBRE

but not exceeding two years

Less: future finance charges B RRBEER

Total lease liabilities HEaEes

2,032 1,905
1,365 1,333
3,397 3,238

(159) =
3,238 3,238
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Deferred tax assets
The following are the major deferred tax asset recognised and
its movements during the current and prior reporting periods:

ELEBIREE
ERRBEREHEZERATIER
ERIAEEREZEMT

Accrued

expenses

EsEA

HK$’000

FHT

As at 1 April 2018 RZZE—NFMNA—A 7,310

Exchange realignment & X (484)
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-E—hF=ZA=+—HK

—ET-NFmA—H 6,826

Exchange realignment PEE 5 %8 (338)

As at 31 March 2020 NR-EBE-_EF=A=+—H 6,488

Deferred tax liabilities
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
and their movements during the current and prior reporting

EEBIRRE
ERRBEREHE I ERAEIER
EHIBREREESHMT

periods:
Other
Intangible temporary
assets  Inventories  differences Total
BREE 78 HUERER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THI THT
As at 1 April 2018 RZZ—-\FMA—H 5,774 (404) - 5,370
Exchange realignment B 5 5% (381) 26 = (355)
Acquisition of subsidiaries LEENGICERE)
(Note 36(2) 387 - - 387
(Credit)/Charge to profit or RERBREGIA), /1
loss for the year (1,165) 967 - (198)
As at 31 March 2019 and RZE-NE=A=+—HK
1 April 2019 “T-NFNA—H 4,615 589 - 5,204
Exchange realignment B 5 3% (208) (28) - (236)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36(0)) Yz FEahfHE A 71 (Hit:E36(b)) - = (685) (685)
Credit to profit or loss for the year FAFNER (89) (92) 263 82
As at 31 March 2020 R-BE-ZEF=A=+—-H 4,318 469 (422) 4,365
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For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and TERENME  ETELEHBEEE
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of FBEEREETERARAESE -
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax TSRS B B S AV IR R IE 4 e
balances for financial reporting purposes: DITEATR -

2020 2019

bt 222 —ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TEIT FHIT

Net deferred tax assets RIETIIE B E 5 2,065 2,009
Net deferred tax liabilities EERIEEEFE (786) (387)
1,279 1,622
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable BIEPBECEMSRE  B2TF )\
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC F—HA—HIE  BaPEHEQF
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation H AT B 2 5% B =R 2 IR BB FE
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial M - WERPEMMB AR RTER
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable Tom F (S 7 B = 5849115,582,000
to the accumulated taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries B (—Z— N 4F : 49184,688,00078
amounting to approximately HK$115,582,000 (2019: TC) A4R B B 75 3 3R 1 1 I AE A7 08 B
approximately HK$184,688,000) as the Group is able to control & JHRZNEE B Bl s | B8 (o] E i = %E
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is ZHER BEMEREREN A AR

probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in PR A]geEm o

the foreseeable future.
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(@

Major non-cash transactions

U

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, dividends of
approximately HK$1,010,000 were settled through
the current accounts with the NCI.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
entered into Transfer Agreement in respect of
intangible assets of Enlarged Kaiyuan Mine with
a total capital value at the inception of mining
right payables of approximately HK$81,231,000
and setting off the non-refundable deposits, non-
refundable deposits received and other payables
of approximately HK$2,351,000, approximately
HK$5,485,000 and approximately HK$1,906,000,
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
incurred payables of approximately HK$8,952,000
to the contractor for the addition of construction-in-
progress.

(i)

HE2_ZT_ZTF=F7
=+—BLEFE D
1,010,000 7 Z % B T8
BIEFE R R A RER P

TAEHR -

BHE_ZT_ZTF=A
=+—HIEFE  £&EE
PRI RERE 2 B
BEF L ERE BN
RERRBEVNIRBE R
& B & #9 81,231,000 /&
TC - WA REBIRES L
2,351,000 7t + B WTF
Al iR iE % € % 5,485,000
78T K B b BB A BRIE A
1,906,000/ 7T °

BHE_ZT -2 =7
=+—RLFE ~5E
MR BEEIIREAEN
R P SR IE #8,952,000/%8
=
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(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RMEITBEENEEEEH
activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from AEEREMEETHNEEES)
financing activities are as follows: BT

Non-cash changes

Translation ~ Translation ~ Gain arising
Additions of from from
through  Additions convertible  functional - modification  Issuance
Asat Net  Adjustment acquisition ~of property, bondinto ~ currency to of of Asat
1 April cash  onfransition of plantand  Changein  functional preseniation converfible promissory Interest 31 March

2019 flows toHKFRS16 subsidiaries  equipment  fairvalue  cumency  cumency bond notes  expenses 2020
fBEER
i Rt EiREE BETE  BERE  FEWA i
i

Z3-1E FeEfElz  EEME  RENX AYE  BES  E¥R  BESE: & a3
mA-A ! #2 MROGAE RBRAR 25 AUMEE KM ME  REEE FEEX ZA=t-R
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS$000
TEn A TEn TR TEn TR TR TR TR TR TEm TEn
(Note2)
(H2)

Year ended 31 March BE-E-5EZf

2020 St-ALEE
Itorest-bearng borowings ~ sFEEE 68,345 (3,709) - 4083 - - - (3,354) - - - 65,345
L ease fabilties BEEE - (1,42 2339 553 1,768 - - - - - - 3238
Convertle bond ERRRATENRLE

esignted as financial ERNRE £RER

libiies at FVPL LIERES 27869 - - - - (30,606) (6,802) 6,802 (40,837) - - 14642
Promissory notes AHEE - (2.400) - - - - - - - 6,764 u7 461

286,214 (7581) 2389 4616 1768 (30,606) (6,80 3448 (40837) 6,764 A7 2962
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33. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

33. HttRERERFE (&)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) RETBELENEEBEEH
activities (continued) (&)
Non-cash changes
Faks 2]
Tranlafion  Gain arsing
Translation from from
Adustment ~ Addtions ~ Addftions of ofconvertble ~ functional  modificaion  Issuance
Asat Net on fhrough ~ property, bondinto  cumencyto of of Asat
1 Aol cash  tansfonto  acousfon  plantand  Changen  funcional  presentation  convertble  promissory Inferest 31 March
2019 fows  HKFRS16  ofsubsideres  equipment  farvalie  cumency  cumency bond noles  expenses 019
H8EE
EARRR
R EER. HETR  BERY  BEAR R
I B BN RBME RENR e RERED  EHB  RERE: B EhE
mA-R B8R WELORE  RGRRE 29 uEE s M HHEE  NERR B8
HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKBOOD  HKBOD0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOD0  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKS000
féin Tt TR TR TR TEr TR ThRr A TR TR TR
(Note 2)
(i)
Vearended 31 Mercn 2019 HE-F-NEZF
S-ALEE
Merestbeang borowings 518155 63417 - - - - - ™) - - B3
Converle bond EEBRATEIRTE
designate s franci ERMREZSHER
libilties at FVPL LT ER U720 - - - - 16340 (16340) - - AT
U712 68417 - - - 16340 (16412 S il
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(@

Categories of financial instruments

(@ ==®mMTEEH

2020
—ECEF

—_—=T=

HK$’000
TR

Financial assets measured HEHEK AT EZ
at amortised cost: EMEE :
Trade and other receivables U E T E b FE U SR IR 14,410
Security deposit RiBEE -
Restricted bank balances ZRR BRI TAEBR 73,760
Cash and cash equivalents HekHeFEERE 161,366
249,536
Financial assets measured at FVPL: BAFES R EIBREA
BRI & REE
Principal Guaranteed Fund REES -
Contingent consideration receivables  FEW sk AR AE 6,186
6,186
Financial liabilities measured at BREEN AT EZ 28
amortised cost: &:
Trade and other payables FER B R B A FE S FRIE 25,642
Promissory notes B 4,611
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,238
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 65,345
Mining right payables e ER A AE FRIA 83,503
182,339
Financial liabilities designated B RIEATESRILA
as at FVPL: BaANREzemAans
Convertible bond AT AR ES 146,426

2019

—E-NF

HK$'000
TET

6,615
5,506
77,612
278,814

368,547

60,236

60,236

21,405

68,345

89,750

217,869
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include security
deposit, contingent consideration receivables, financial
assets measured at FVPL, trade and other receivables,
restricted bank balances, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, promissory notes, lease
liabilities, interest-bearing borrowings, mining right
payables and convertible bond. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The directors of the Company
manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency expenditures, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the directors of the Company
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Certain receivables, cash and cash equivalents, payables
and convertible bond of the Group are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the group
entity to which they relate.

(b)

BERSEE B ERBEER

AEEZTESBT ABERE
e BRHARE  BRQF
BIIRYAEBRENGREZ SRE
=~ RS R E AR WA
XRFBIRITHEES B MREF
BHE - BNERREMEMNRK
B ARERE  HERE  FR
B8 - BN ERIBRERIR A K AT
BES - ZELBTAFERS
AR - EZEEmMTA
Mz AR EETSER (%
Rk - MEREREERRR)
EERRLREESRR - 2{F]
PRAKEZ F R < BUREMN T3 »
ARREEERERERZERA
G+ DAREGR K B BLA RUBEREUE

Bt o

AREETHBRRAEGINER
F o SAREEAZINERR o K
KB EERINELIPHE - A
m - ARBEFERINERR -
WNBHEEEELHERINE
R o

o

AEFBETREFE - RE R
TFHEEAR - BAFIAN AR
EFENREER 2 HRMES
BIASN 2 EHEEHE
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate.

(b)

Assets BE
Liabilities afE
Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency
risk of HKS.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity to
a10% (2019: 10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
each group entity’s functional currency. 10% (2019:
10%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year end for a 10% (2019: 10%) change in foreign
currency rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in loss for the year and increase in accumulated
losses of the Group (2019: decrease in profit for the
year and increase in accumulated losses of the Group)
where each group entity’s functional currency weaken
10% (2019: 10%) against HK$. For a 10% (2019: 10%)
strengthening of each group entity’s functional currency
against HK$, there would be an equal and opposite
impact.

HHRREREBAERREXR
(%)

TRETAEEN RS EE
R R AREERIEES
Moz B HEZ BESBEM
EEZEBRAR -

2020 2019
—_ 7 —= ﬂE :g_j-bfﬁ
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
68,445 133,675
(152,261) (221,018)
HREZEDHT
laﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁﬁzwmm
TRAVNNEBEEEHBTLLE
BEERE2EEE Efﬂﬁ
10% (= — ﬁﬁi1m@2m@
B 2 10%(ZZF—NF : 10%)5

mEE AEAEW%Eﬁ%MH

ST G R - WiEE
Fﬁ%%E?T%é@mEZﬂ
it o BURE D ITEBIEAINE T
Bz REEEBIAR  WHINE
ERZ10%(=ZZF—NF : 10%)
BEFENFRIBE - B85
EER e ER B TiRE
10%(ZF—NF 10%)F » ~
RAgBE TN AEEFEAEEE N
FEFEEEMN(ZE—NF
REBFARFRD KRS
BB - W %l%%zm%
BB THEION(ZE—AN
£ :10%) Blﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬁaﬁ@
WRBR L -
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

(b)

Profit or loss and accumulated losses

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances, restricted bank balances,
security deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL and
interest-bearing borrowings carried at prevailing market
rate. The Group has not used any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group has not
formulated a policy to manage the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year.

If interest rate had been 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
increase and accumulated losses as at the reporting date
would decrease by approximately HK$364,000 (2019:
increase the Group’s profit and decrease accumulated
losses by approximately HK$1,247,000). This was
mainly attributable to the exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank balances of the Group.

NIk e R & RETE1R

HERREERAERBEEK

(%)

BURE ST ()
2020 2019
—B-FF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THT
(8,382) (8,734

AEEBEAZBBAERT S
KR ZRITHEER - XIRBIRTT
faER - REBEEE - BAFEIIR
WERZNEE 2 & REE MG
BREZRERENERERE - K
S B EERMEMITER A
HOF R o 7 5 (B30 48 1) T BX
REBEM=RL -

BT
TXZHRES N TIREIENTAE
T AR HRE AR A RE 2 XE
RETE - MO RENEE
HEERE 2 AEESRTAR
REFEHREE -

WFELEHRH"TE0E%(ZF
— N : 0.5%) - MmATH H &
HUERTE  AAEEBE-F
—EFZA=1+—HILFEZE
BEM - MRS BBz 25
518 15 L #9364,000/8 T (==
—NF  AEERFIE I RET
BRI 491,247,000 7T) © &=
DRAAAEEMEH ZEF X
SRITHE R 2 FIRER ©
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ﬁﬁ

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

The Group was required to estimate the fair value of the
Convertible Bond (see Note 28) at the end of the reporting
period with changes in fair value to be recognised in the
profit or loss. The fair value adjustment would be affected
either positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in the Company’s share market price.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below had been determined based
on the exposure to the Company’s share price risk at
the reporting date only. If the Company’s share price
had been 5% (2019: 5%) higher and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the
year (as a result of changes in fair value of the Convertible
Bond) would increase and accumulated losses would
increase by approximately HK$2,069,000 (2019: the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year would decrease and
accumulated losses would increase by approximately
HK$5,803,000) during the year ended 31 March 2020.
If the input of share price to the valuation model of the
derivatives embedded in the Convertible Bond had been
5% lower while all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year (as a result of changes
in fair value of convertible bond) would decrease and
accumulated losses would decrease by approximately
HK$2,069,000 (2019: the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year would increase and accumulated losses would
decrease approximately HK$4,010,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

(b)

HHRREREBAERREXR
(%)

REBAERRE PR AREEFT
B Es (RHTE28) 2 AF
B TRBmNERE A FER
8 - RAHEABRKZ (AR ERE)
ARRIROHEZSH ZIEEKRE
EEE o

SR EAT

TREBE AR R TR

Wia%%%XZthMf
AR ATRE L FE%(—F

—ﬂi 1 5%) - AT R R
HRTE  AAKEREBE—F

—EFEZA=ZF+—HULFEZF
MR T % 518 (ThIR B A R (E
FZRVFEED)BIGN - MR
=T E5 18 15 3% hn 492,069,000 7 JT
ZZE-NF  AEENFARK
Fiig s T iR > I Rt 518 1638
H0#95,803,000/ 7T ) ° it Al A%
EENESITE T AGEEREM
2R B8 AR 5% - AT
ﬁﬁﬁtﬁ%{”&%?“ BIAREE
REZE EF=fA=+—
Eltif;ZEMﬂméréﬁam
FREURBESRZ AFEEE)
1A - T RETEEAS T KL
2,069,000/ L (= —NF : &
S BN F AR R TS I &
ZETIB1E SR 2 #4,010,000%
JL) °
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and b) BHEEMREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (#&)
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group MEERSESREMMES  ANE
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash BERTAFES MRS EE
equivalents deemed adequate by the directors of the EERARNRIEEZEREBRAZK
Company to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate ¥ oARE l%f@%{#iﬁ% R
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. VRS MERB 2 TE
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TREFEAEBSRABERGE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The WEHBE 2B - B@IERTY
tables have been drawn up based on the contractual ERAEEEEER T B
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on B BESHABEZAAARENR
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to BEmEmMRE - 5| REFEFS
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash EXFEHERE -
flows.
Within ~ More than
1year  1yearbut Total
oron  lessthan 2yearsto Over  undiscounted  Carrying
demand 2 years 5years 5years cashflows  amount
-FRg  BBA-F AEERS
EEX EIRWE WEERE AHEE MEAH REfE
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000
TAL TAL Thr TAL ThL TAL
As at 31 March 2020 R-Z-EF=A=1-H
Trade and other payables SR REMENTIE 25,642 = = = 25,642 25,642
Promissory notes AR ZE 2,400 2,400 - - 4,800 4,611
Lease liabities HERE 2,032 1,365 - - 3,397 3,238
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) &t &4 & (k) 65,345 - - - 65345 65345
Mining right payables N FERIE 10,128 10,128 30,384 91,131 14,771 83,503
Convertiole bond designated s~ #;E AR AT EFIRT
financial iabilties at FVPL ERAEE eREEL
miakES - - 200,000 - 200,000 146,426
105,547 13,893 230,384 91,131 440,955 328,765
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=R= + E
Trade and other payables EAEFREMENT 21405 = = = 21405 21,405
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) st 2 EE (i) 68,345 - - - 68,345 68,345
Convertible bond designated as ~ #65F AR AT BRI
financial liabilties at FVPL ERAREHEEL
RRES 200,000 - - - 200,000 217,869
289,750 - - - 289750 307,619
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) MEEREEEZREE
policies (continued) (#&)

Note: The amounts repayable under bank loan agreements that MizE: B4R TIRITE GBI ER
include a clause that gives the bank an unconditional right BENERZRITER MHEE
to call the borrowings at any time are classified under the THEREEZRBEIEA—F
category of “within 1 year or on demand”. However, the N EESK | - AT - EIRE
management does not expect that the bank would exercise FEERIT A EITEZEERE
such right to demand the repayment and thus, the borrowings, FEER - Bt - BIEHEER
which included the related interest, would be repaid according BEAMNEEGIRIBIRITER
to the below schedule as set out in the bank loan agreements BT E A LA N R T LAE
as follow: =

More than
Within 1 year but Total
1 year or less than 2 years undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years  tob5years cash flows amount
—FR®  BBE-F KERRS
EER AIRWE WERLF REEE FHE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET THL FHT FHT TET
As at 31 March 2020 RZBZZF=A=t-H
Interest-bearing borrowings STEEE 65,722 957 407 67,086 65,345
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-hE=A=+-H
Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 5,536 67,596 - 73,132 68,345

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the REEE M BIRARERN S HE

consolidated statement of financial position, which is net EREETN fs?\ﬂfﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ\ R

of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum AEBESANEERRE - IR

exposure to credit risk without taking into account the
value of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Trade and bills receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

qu&FﬁHEEﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂ{Zf
RENEE-

EWEF R BN TS

K%l{%éﬁi RAREBEEN
F=ZTIRP - ARBWBRERRA
Eﬁﬁ%?ﬂ:ﬁﬂ%fki%éﬁ%}f‘%
XIERRERT WO - BUAE
MBS R - MARBEMARE
FIERRRERR I TEKX -
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and country in which customers
operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser
extent. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based
on an extensive credit rating and individual credit limit
assessment which is mainly based on the Group’s own
trading records.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the past
three years and available press information, adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as well as
the loss upon default in each case. The directors of the
Company consider the ECL of these financial assets to be
insignificant after taking into account the financial position
and credit quality of the counterparties. Since the Group
trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties,
there is no requirement for collateral.

The credit risk in respect of trade and bills receivables
regarding coal mining business is insignificant as the
Group’s sales to coal customers are largely done on
payment in advance basis.

(b)

HERREERAERBEEK
(%)

EWE RN ()
AEBEEHNEERRERR
EEPHERSKRERATE -
BEFREMETERBERNED
RipreEEERRE - BRE
BE - EFOERERENERE
HEEFRREAERBEREET
Al - ZAHEEEERAEES
BHX 5L

KRG TRREEERER - A&H
EEFZEFEREENEOREX
FMEXEER Bt BE=E
FEMNBEEREEBBRERK
ARHmTEN  UREFARE
HRTE MR R M F 5 82 FRiE
TEROBEREERRTAHE -
RET R F IO BN REE
BER ARAEFARZER
REEMNBEHEEBRYTE
R o ARAEEERERR RE
BEENE=IRH  WEFK
R o

BRARRERETS 2 RS 7R N B
EBRFIRZEERBRIETERX -
RERAKERRKES ZHE
REBDRIAN FRIBELE(E,
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The Group’s customer base regarding renewable
energy business and IT Services business consists of
a wide range of customer and the trade receivables
are categorised by common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment. The expected loss rate used in the provision
matrix is calculated for each category based on historical
observed loss rates over the expected life of the trade
receivables and adjusted for current and forward-
looking factors to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
estimate on future economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a concentration
of credit risk as approximately 49% of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest trade
debtor and its affiliated companies, and approximately
83% of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s five largest trade debtors and their affiliated
companies, respectively.

(b)

HHRREREBAERREXR
(%)

JEWE R IEWER (&)
REEBHEBAERIEME
RRBEB 2P ERB A
BEL 2 BPHEK - BUERIEHE
FErRERFEHETHE - ZER
BEREREPRES NG
FrE BIHARIBmEE ) - AEEE
R AR RN E R ETE
FEEEE  UBREBERSHREBE
2 EE B RS REE
WEEIEREBTEEEEL
S BEBB - USEBABEB
ZAIEM A= RS BIRRIEL
B o BBBI A 2 TEAEER
ﬂﬁfﬁmﬁﬁZﬁ%i%W%
E—JEE%‘%EETE B FEAE
C WARRE B R ATBE M A R
ﬁﬁ% LA BRTE W £R 3B 1 BUR
RSB AR« IR B AR ]
DLW R IR 2 TR EAGE B 2 R 2RAS
B2 GET =R -

BREASBEMEERBBKRER
ZIEERRZ E LB BIBNER
BUEREMFE20HKE -

R-FB-FHF=A=t—H" &
SENEERRSET - RERK
49% K FEM B SRR TR IR S
l?ﬁ%ﬂ%fiﬁk}\&ﬁ )N
BVFRIE - N #)83%H) FE W B TR A8
ﬁﬁEJEH&ZX%@ﬂKT%%ﬁ%A
K EEH B A BRRRIR o
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Trade and bills receivables (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables of by due date is as follow:

34. TR IA(A)
b) FHEABEEEERBE
(%)
=EmEp (&)
EWE RN ()
RERSHR - RAHERHE D
Z R E RIS DTN T -

2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET AT

Not yet due

Past due:
Within 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 — 90 days
Over 90 days

Less: Loss allowance

EH -
30HA
31E60H
61Z%90H
90H LAk

R

3,070 =

2,413 =
1,287 =

769 =
1,175 =

5,644 -

8,714 =

(51) -

8,663 =

Annual Report 2019/20 £

217
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BHEREEEEREEK
policies (continued) (#8)
Trade and bills receivables (continued) JEYE T FEN =15 (48 )
The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL FRBEEFNERERNEE
for trade receivables using a provision matrix is as follows: B RIFEEESEERNT
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amounts  allowance amounts
EHERE AREE HERE REFE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
% FAT FHT FHET
As at 31 March 2020 R-BZEF
=A=+—H 0.59 8,714 (61) 8,663
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF
=A=+-H = = = =
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade REER-_ZZFR-_ZT—N

receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. The
movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is as
follows:

At the beginning of the reporting period 7k BA 4]

Additions through acquisition of BRKENBARIANE
subsidiaries

Charge of loss allowance EEEEER

At the end of the reporting period RIRERR

Other receivables

The Group considers that the other receivables have
low credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and low risk of default. No impairment on the other
receivables is recognised based on the measurement on
12-month ECL.

= A=+ BUMBHLEE
WSROI, - R A
BERDIT

2020 2019
—ECEHE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THTT
44 -
7 -
51 -

H b fE M E
HRERARBHEEE S AR
RHABITEARNRERERME
EBRENBORRE  BAKRER
REMERFIAENEERRER
& o Wﬁﬁ%ﬁ$+fﬂﬂﬁ%

15 B 55 18 1 38 H 4t B MR
'fﬁo

R
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Security deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL,
restricted bank balances and cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers the credit risk in respect of security
deposit, financial assets measured at FVPL, restricted
bank balances and cash and cash equivalents is minimal
because the counter-parties are authorised financial
institutions with high credit ratings.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement date

° Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly

° Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability

The Group uses an independent valuer to perform
valuations of financial instruments which are categorised
into Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Valuation reports with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement are prepared by the independent valuer at
each interim and annual reporting date, and are reviewed
and approved by the financial controller. Discussion of the
valuation process and results with the financial controller
is held twice a year to coincide with the reporting dates.

(b)

BEERBEREERERBEXR
(%)

wERE ~ BN FEIFLER
wABEZTHEE - XIRFIR
TR RAEZ RAZFERE
AEERSERARERES - 2R
FEIRLAEBRARIE 2 S/
BE  XRHBITERMRE R
ReHERBNEERRKRTE
W AAHFHREESARS
R R & B

ASKEIABEHRATIEZ BT
A EEERN-F-TER—
T AEZA=t—H2ATE
L HEAHT -

TREVAKEERTEZAF
B RS PREERFREE
HEEZ NFEAFE  XDES
BERPEMEERE135 [ AF
BEIMREZ=ZB2FERE
o R FEFEDRZFRTY
B2EMTEEEMBRAR
BeABRENBEMHERERT

s FELAERER A
SEAEERRERFNIE
REENBEEERTS
FEVIR(E CRIEHE)

s FEBR BRIFEBH
BAEMESHIRE A
B BERBENEERX
AR ERNE AR

e FZELA(REEBR) :E
ESXRBEBNTABEREA
(=1

AEEF BB EEMEDER
RTEERE-_RRE=HFz&
BT RETHE - #AQFER
BRI 2 AERE BB
BN EF R FERE AR
B4 WM TS ARESER B ML -
WEA HRE A HEMGRES
R iR EBIE R AR o
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

b) HHEEMBEEEEZREE
(&)

Fair value measurements categorised

into
AV EFESE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
DYHE E—#& et 1 FE=
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT FHAT THT THT
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-ZF
=R=t+-H
Recurring fair value REMATEFE
measurements
Financial assets measured BATEY R EEE
at FVPL NEBZ CREE
Contingent consideration FEW S AR AE
receivables 6,186 - - 6,186
Financial liabilities EE B A TEYBRY
designated as at FVPL TEEENEE &/
=0
Convertble bond ¥ AR~ THES R
designated as financial VHEBEABREY
liabilities at FVPL ERAB TR
R EH 146,426 - - 146,426
As at 31 March 2019 R=B-h%F
=H=+—H§
Recurring fair value BEEATETE
measurements
Financial assets measured WAFEYBRITERR
at FVPL NEEZ eMEE
Principal Guaranteed Funds RAES 60,236 = 60,236 =
Financial liabilities EEARATENIRY
designated as at FVPL EBRRNEE &R
BE
Convertible bond FEE RE A TES R
designated as financial VHEBEAREY
liabilities at FVPL ERAE TR
(&5 217,869 - - 217,869
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

The fair value of the Principal Guaranteed Funds is
determined by reference to the price quoted by the
bank at initial subscription and adjusted for any change
in relevant interest rates credit rating and/or holding
period of the Principal Guaranteed Funds, if the impact is
material.

The fair value of the convertible bond is determined
with reference to the fair value of the liability component
and conversion option component, calculated using
discounted cash flows and binomial model, respectively.
The assumptions adopted for the valuation of the
convertible bond are as follows:

(i) The estimation of risk free rate has made reference
to the yield of Exchange Fund Bill with same
duration as the convertible bond;

(i)  The estimation of volatility for the underlying share
price has considered the historical price movements
of the Company;

(i) ~ The discount rate was determined based on the
Company’s credit rating and comparable corporate
bonds with similar maturity and credit risk for which
the range of comparable yield to maturity as of date
of valuation was determined and the median has
been adopted; and

(iv)  The estimation of dividend yield is based on
historical dividend payment of the Company.

(b)

BEERBEREERERBEXR
(%)

HEZZ-_TER-_ZT—NF=
A=+—HIEFE F—HESE
o BB - ol A oaE
HE=R - AEEZBUERAER
NI G AR A RS FTEE 2 A
EELZ EREER -

RAES 2 AFETSERITH
)2 REEEs 2 BIEEE - A
MFIEERIRR, HRAES
HRE R (B ER) 2
SEE (TR -

ABEREFAFE2REERD
SRR DR RR S
mE R ZEAREEERANE
ZAFEEE - AIBRRESGE
RN BT

0 EERERANKRTI2EFHE
AR (B 25 AR [R) 2 1 EE &
&R EW b

iy MEREREZGETES
BN ZBEERE

(i) BARIBDREBEARRZE
BRI R EF BRI
BREERRZAELR
ARESFMETE A&
HEARESEME @ OF
EREER Z AT E &R E
H SR - ST ERERM
HIFPAIER K

vy BREERZMEFHDIERAER
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Major parameters adopted in the calculation of the fair
value are summarised below:

(b)

BEERBEREERERBEXR
(%)

SN TAGFELAN T £ BT
FEAT -

As at As at

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

R=Z=Z=F RZZE—NEF

=A=+—H —A=1+—H

Stock price Az fE HK$0.12 HK$0.24

0.12%8 7T 0.247 7T

Exercise price 1TEE HK$0.20 HK$0.20

0.205& T 0.20/8 7T

Risk free rate 45 [ | =R 0.62% 1.44%

Discount rate BhIR R 18.8% 9.4%

Dividend yield fi% 8 & 0% 0%

Time to expiration B HARE RS 2.95 years 0.95 years

2.95% 0.95%F

Stock price volatility N 70.97% 64.00%
The significant unobservable input used in the fair value NEEAERA Zij(TTEﬂ

measurement is expected stock price volatility. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected stock price volatility. If the expected stock price
volatility has been 5% (2019: 5%) higher with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s loss for the year
would increase and accumulated losses would increase
by approximately HK$2,339,000 (2019: decrease in
the Group’s profit and increase accumulated losses by
approximately HK$3,080,000) during the year ended 31
March 2020. If the expected stock price volatility has
been 5% lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s loss for the year would decrease and
accumulated losses would decrease by approximately
HK$2,389,000 (2019: increase in the Group’s profit
and decrease in accumulated losses by approximately
HK$3,048,000) during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The movements during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019 in the balance of financial asset and financial
liability of Level 3 fair value measurements are set out
in Note 16 and Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

R ABBERTRHARERRE
FEFERBHREKE E*E
B - IERRER IR E5% (=

T—NF :5%)  MATAEME
BHRTE  AIAKEREE

—E-EFE=-A=+—HILEE
ZEANEBEL L 2T EER
#h1#92,339,000/8 (= — N,
F AEERRF GRS KRR
JE518 & 1 hn 493,080,000/ 7T) °
fix 78 B AR (B R 0@ SR 1K5% + AT
EHME ST TE  AAEE
REBEE—E-_TF=ZA=+—H
IFFEZFABEERD KA
51815 R L #92,389,000/8 7T ( —
T—NF - AEERY RN
& 25T E 18 R 2> #93,048,000
BIT) ©

E=RRNVFEFECZCREER
CRIBEABRZEE S -_ZTF
r—E-NF=R=1+—HIEF
E2E) D RENERE T %R
FT16 & Mi7E28 ©
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(@) Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (@) KREETBHmEREME S IHE
financial statements, the significant related party BN EREEALTRSWT ¢

transactions are as follows:

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

CSIL Limited (formerly known as ZHBEBR A HERAF
China Sonangol International Limited) ([ 22 BIRR 1) (I EEi)
(“CSIL”) (Note i)

- rental expenses (Note ii) — & (KD = 630
Notes: BEE
i) CSIL is an intermediate holding company of the Company. 0] ZTHEERARNAR Z PN R
NG
(ii) Operating lease commitment for future minimum lease (ii) R IR B % Fp BIBR 5T 32 2 TR
payments under non-cancellable operating lease with CSIL HEETHE  AREMNRKIER
was nil (2019: approximately HK$630,000). EREEEHEREAS(Z

T— A4 : #9630,00087T) °

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) TEEIEAESH
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other FRARNBEERAEMTIEESIE
members of key management personnel during the year is KE 2T :
as follows:

2020 2019
SR =~
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T

Basic salaries, allowances and other ~ EL7ZR#H; 4 - 285 & H b 58 2
short-term employee benefits EERF 11,491 4,414
Contributions to defined TFERAEFRETEIHE
contribution plan 36 45
11,527 4,459
The remuneration of directors of the Company was AAREEHFWHFWNEESL
determined by the remuneration committee having regard B E 2 BAREETHBE%

to the performance of individuals and market trends. BiE -
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(@

Acquisition of NEFIN Leasing

On 10 August 2018, Radiant Day, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with NEFIN Holding Limited and
Mr. Lim Hong Teo (together referred to as the “NEFIN
Vendors”), pursuant to which Radiant Day agreed
to purchase, and the NEFIN Vendors agreed to sell
90% equity interest in NEFIN Leasing and its wholly-
owned subsidiary at an aggregate consideration
of US$1,350,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$10,530,000). The transaction completed on 8
October 2018 as all conditions in the sale and purchase
agreement were fulfilled.

NEFIN Group is principally engaged in renewable energy
solutions and solar farm development in Malaysia.
The directors of the Company are of the view that the
acquisition will further enhance the Group’s expansion
of innovative and renewable energy business. The
acquisition constituted a business combination and had
been accounted for using the acquisition method under
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

(GY)

Wigs e REE
RZZE—NFENA+AH #H
(ApmzzEKBAR) &
NEFIN Holding Limited 7 7 £
EE(HEBRFERER T
BB Bt BEREK
MR E S RELEMER
AERE2EK B A R0%HI I
# - #(E51,350,0005 7T (17
£ #910,530,000/8 7T ) - AR
BERZMITANMB KGR
BERK - MZRHIN_T—N\F
+RAN\BZEMK e

LR REN S RASEERE
A BERRRTT R AR
BEIFMBERR - ARRESER
= WIESETHERE — P s iER
REME 2B R A BAERIRE
%o WESHEEXET AN - I
AR IR E 8 I 15 3R &5 £ HI S8 357
EBARARBEN
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(@

Acquisition of NEFIN Leasing (continued)

(GY)

The following summarises the consideration paid and the
amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of

NEFIN Group at the date of acquisition:

Wi FTRERIEE (&)

VAT B a3 sE TR S B O Ui B AR
ENRERABAEENFASE
BESH

HK$’000
FAET
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets  Fi A TR EERIRIEERE>
acquired and liabilities assumed: ERERERE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE K& 5,636
Intangible assets — renewable energy service EEE - BERERREEL
contract 1,618
Bank balances and cash BITHEBREIRE 207
Trade and other receivables WS SR e ELAth FE W R IR 353
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE (387)
Trade and other payables FERTE SR & B FE R SRR (93)
Total identifiable net assets AR B EEFEARE 7,334
Non-controlling interests EIS T T (1,083)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEE BB 4,229
Total consideration HERE 10,530
Satisfied by: XA :
Cash BE 10,530

Analysis of the net outflows in respect of the acquisition of

NEFIN Group is as follows:

U R RERE 2R FRE S
W

HK$’000

FAT

Cash and cash equivalents acquired EESNEe MREEFEER 207
Cash paid BB (10,530)
(10,323)

The directors of the Company have engaged Roma
Appraisal Limited (“Roma”) to provide assistance in
determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of
NEFIN Group. Roma has reviewed the methodologies,
the key valuation parameters and business assumptions

adopted.

ARRIESRBESERNEA
RAB(ES]) EBETHER
SEEERABZRFE -ES
EFRAERRE L - TEFEZ
BUARBRBRRETER
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(@

Acquisition of NEFIN Leasing (continued)

The non-controlling interests were measured at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of NEFIN Group’s identifiable net
assets as at 8 October 2018.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the growth and profit potential in the expansion of
innovative and renewable energy business. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

Since acquisition and up to 31 March 2019, the acquired
business has contributed revenue of approximate
HK$391,000 and contributed a loss of approximately
HK$45,000 to the Group.

If the business combinations effected during the year
ended 31 March 2019 had been taken place as at 1 April
2018, the revenue and profits of the Group would be
increased by approximately HK$587,000 and decreased
by approximately HK$83,000, respectively.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the NEFIN
Vendors have agreed to guarantee to the Company that
the audited net profit of NEFIN Technologies, prepared in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board,
International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia
for the relevant financial period by the auditors appointed
by the Company (“NEFIN Net Profit”) for each of the
financial years ended 30 September 2019, 30 September
2020, 30 September 2021, 30 September 2022 and 30
September 2023 (each such 12-month period is referred
to as a “NEFIN PG 12-Month Period”) shall be no less than
HK$526,500 per annum (the “NEFIN Guaranteed Profit”).

(GY)

Wi FTRERIEE (&)
FIER R VIRAREEETA
RO D IEFEREER —F
—N\E+ANBZABREEF
BZOHEREHETE

WHRESHES 28 TR AR
Ko R] B A REIR R Bk R B
TR NPT ER o TEEANL B 2 R RS
B AAHBRASH -

BUWBUAREEE T —NE=
A=+—8  FBEEALE
B Yk BB 49391,00008 T B
B E5184945,000 7T °

WREE=T—NEF=A=+—
BULEREBZ EBAN T
— N\ A— B L - AIAKE
ol RO D B R
#)587,0007% 7T & 4983,000/8 7T °

BEEHR R - FeeREACER
BERARRRE  HEZZ—N
FAA=+HE  ZZT=-ZTFANA
=+tH ZZE=Z—FhLA=+
A - 2T —FhA=F+RAK=
To=FNA=+THILEWERE
E(&1218 B BEE A [ #aeR
1218 A& FIRFEHELD - A2
AR ZHARIE SR AR
FHAERIR Ee M8 2 5 R P 0 Bt
T E AR - BB RS 2R
FERAa —E—NFRaEZ
1 F 1R % Z NEFIN Technologies
AR AR 2 AR AT
(FFhgeRER ) - BT RE
526,500 7T ([ ¥ 8LIR IR 58 )
) e
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(@

(b)

Acquisition of NEFIN Leasing (continued)

In the event that the Net Profit during the NEFIN PG-12
Month Period is less than the NEFIN Guaranteed Profit,
the NEFIN Vendors unconditionally and irrevocably
undertake and guarantee, as a continuing obligation,
to pay such shortfall on each of the 15th Business Day
after the date of issue of the audited report of NEFIN
Technologies for the relevant NEFIN PG-12 Month
Period within 15 business days after the issue of the
audited financial statements by the auditors of NEFIN
Technologies appointed by the Company for the relevant
NEFIN PG-12 Month Period.

According to the audited financial statements of NEFIN
Technologies for the year ended 30 September 2019
(“FY2019”), the Net Profit of NEFIN Technologies for
FY2019 was approximately HK$91,500 and lower
than the NEFIN Guaranteed Profit by approximately
HK$435,000. The shortfall amount was recognised
as guaranteed profit compensation receivables. In the
view of the directors of the Company, the guaranteed
profit compensation receivables in related to the
NEFIN Guaranteed Profit for the subsequent period is
insignificant as at 31 March 2020.

Acquisition of Harbour Group Holdings

On 11 March 2019, (i) Ample Talent entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party, the Vendor of Harbour Group, pursuant to which
the Vendor of Harbour Group has conditionally agreed
to sell, and Ample Talent has conditionally agreed to
purchase 80% equity interest in Harbour Group Holdings
at an aggregate consideration of HK$35,712,000; and (i)
Ample Talent and Harbour Group Holdings entered into
a subscription agreement, pursuant to which Harbour
Group Holdings has conditionally agreed to issue and
allot to Ample Talent, and Ample Talent has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for 450 ordinary shares of Harbour
Group Holdings, representing approximately 4.5% of the
total number of shares of Harbour Group Holdings in issue
as at the date of subscription agreement at an aggregate
subscription price of HK$2,008,800. Upon completion of
the above transactions, Ample Talent held 80.86% equity
interest in Harbour Group Holdings.

(GY)

(b)

Wig# e REE (&)

fiwi¥rae IR 1218 A s FIR7E B 2
FEANERFTBEIRIR BB A » #8e
TRE J7 S I AT S M R
MRE - AERBEERR  RAR
RIBLAEREFTAE IR 1218 A B FIRE
B3RS Z 1F Z NEFIN Technologies
ZERD B RIS R
BISEL 2 AR - X FNEFIN
Technologies A8 &8 # 86 JR 12 1E A
w AR B R A EZREEL
HHg v B1I5EZEAZTES
B o

18 # NEFIN Technologies# &= —
T-hFHLA=+BILEFE(=
Z-NEFPREFRE ) 2 EEZH
75 # 3% * NEFIN Technologies —
T-NFHRFEZHEFNN R
91,5008 7T + RN L RIRE R
F#9435,0004 7 2 & F e
A PEWUR B ) M EFRIH © &
NEEERA - REFEFER
R RS T 2 AR 78 % I8
EBRER -_E-_TF=A=1+—
B REX o

W BE BB AR
R-ZE—AE=A+—8  ()#®
BASEBYE = HBEEE
BRIV EEWZE Bt B
BEBEFEKRHEREHE -
muEeREIRTFREEES
EIERE80% AR E - AREA
35,712,000/ 7T : K ()18 8l1%
BEESERTVRERE - B
b BB ERE IR E RS
BIIRE TR - M EEIRA
1§14 B B R B SR 45008 &
BR(BENRRERHZBBRES
B BTG B EHI4.5%) -
AR (8 452,008,800/ 7T © A
TR IR F% - WS RIREE
BB EEAL80.86% A% HE
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(b)

Acquisition of Harbour Group Holdings
(continued)

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the
consideration for the sale and purchase of the sale shares
shall be the sum of HK$35,712,000, which shall be settled
by Ample Talent to the Vendor of Harbour Group in the
following manner:

(@  on the date of the sale and purchase agreement, the
Ample Talent paid to the Vendor of Harbour Group
a sum of HK$3,571,200 in cash as a refundable
deposit and partial payment of the consideration;
and

(b) at the completion date of sale and purchase of the
80% equity interest in Harbour Group Holdings,
Ample Talent shall pay to the Vendor of Harbour
Group (i) a further sum of HK$24,940,800 in cash;
and (i) the remaining amount of HK$7,200,000 by
means of the issue of the Promissory Notes by the
Company to the Vendor of Harbour Group.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Vendor
of Harbour Group has agreed to guarantee that the Net
Profit for PG 12-Month Period shall be no less than the
Guaranteed Profit. In the event that the Net Profit during
the PG 12-Month Period is less than the Guaranteed
Profit, the Vendor of Harbour Group unconditionally and
irrevocably undertakes and guarantees, as a continuing
obligation, to pay the Shortfall Amount. The detail is set
out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Harbour Group consists of Harbour Group Holdings,
Harbour Group Singapore, Harbour Group Consulting,
HGH Technology, Mountain Managed Cloud and
Vanguard Business. Harbour Group is principally engaged
in the provision of IT Services mainly in Hong Kong with
expanding business in United Kingdom, Malaysia and
Singapore. The directors of the Company are of the view
that the acquisition can broaden the Group’s revenue
base and benefit from the diversified return in future. The
acquisition constituted a business combination and had
been accounted for using the acquisition method under
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

(b)

WiEE s ()

BEEE RS  BEEFAERMM
RIB# 535,712,000/ 7T © ¥
WEAIEUAT AR AESEE
BN

@ REEBZBL wEa
HRABEEEEE L XN
3,571,200 e - EA
RERS MRENTD
3 &

(b) NEEBEIEIB0%AHE
RSTAK BB - B BIIR A
MESEBREF()ZNS
— £ 5 21 24,940,800 /&
TTHIRE » R()FEBBEAR
RARIABGEEE 5 ET
A ERE T AR
7,200,000/ 7T °

REEEWHZ  BEEEEIC
RIEMRE dEARE+T @A

BRI AL F 45 R D MR B R F o
fith s FMR &+ — 18 A BRI A0 45 F)
DRRFERF - BEEBEHE
14 R A B s AR S
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B o BHEFABEHNERAVERE
Bi3E16 o
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(b)

Acquisition of Harbour Group Holdings (b)

(continued)

On 23 April 2019, the acquisition of Harbour Group
Holdings was completed and Harbour Group has become
subsidiaries of the Group since then. The consideration
paid and the amounts of the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed of Harbour Group are as

WiEE s ()

RZE-—NFNHNA=-+=8 "3
BRI E Rk 0 BESRE
AUt AASE 2B AR 7
BEBE MBI RFTIEAR
RIEENFTAEEESENT

follows:
HK$’'000
FAT
Total identifiable assets acquired and FREB AT Bl & & & FTRiE
liabilities assumed, at fair value: BEAE  BRATENE:
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E YN ] 589
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables FE U & 3R B B R Y SR IE 13,906
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR MRS 6,027
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables ERERREMMEFRIE (6,132)
Income tax payables S FSEL (427)
Bank overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings  #817# % kit BEE (4,112
Lease liabilities HEBE (653)
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE (685)
Total identifiable net assets, at fair value B EERELAHE  ROAFENE 9,613
Non-controlling interests eI (1,840)
Gooduwill arising on acquisition (Note 14) Wk B 4 2 B (FffdaE14) 24,148
Net consideration (fair value) REFH(AFH) 31,921
Satisfied by: XA :
Cash e 30,521
Promissory Notes (Note 30) #H E IR (M97E30) 6,764
37,285
Less: Vo
Fair value of contingent consideration R ARE 2 A TE(HIRE16)
receivables (Note 16) (5,364)
Net consideration (fair value) REFE(QATE) 31,921
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(b)

FoRF-A=t-HLEFE

Acquisition of Harbour Group Holdings
(continued)
Analysis of the net outflows in respect of the acquisition of

(b) WiEEBEER(E)

Eyﬂﬁlﬁ%/%/i% Elpd LR ryitanbecs |

Harbour Group is as follows: SR -
HK$'000
FAT
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BEESNES MRS EEIAR 6,027
Cash paid BNRE (30,521)
(24,494)

The directors of the Company have engaged Peak Vision
to provide assistance in determining the fair value of the
assets and liabilities of Harbour Group in accordance
with HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. Peak Vision
has reviewed the methodologies, the key valuation
parameters and business assumptions adopted.

The non-controlling interests were measured at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the Harbour Group’s identifiable
net assets as at 23 April 2019.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the growth and profit potential in the expansion of IT
Services business. None of the goodwill recognised is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The total transaction costs of approximately
HK$3,370,000 have been excluded from the
consideration transferred and included in administrative
and other operating expenses of approximately
HK$3,296,000 and approximately HK$74,000 in the profit
and loss during the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2020, respectively.

Since acquisition and up to 31 March 2020, the acquired
business has contributed revenue of approximate
HK$53,304,000 and contributed a profit of approximately
HK$3,936,000 to the Group.

If the business combinations effected during the year
ended 31 March 2020 had been taken place as at 1 April
2019, the revenue and profits of the Group would be
increased by approximately HK$4,757,000 and increased
by approximately HK$401,000, respectively.

ARREERRERBEREBERTBV RS LR
FIRATENERDEETEEEEEENR
BEZRAFE - RECARBRAITE - £
zzpﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂluﬁﬁiﬁj‘“ﬁﬁ%@ °

FRER S E?z:zfﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁztmﬁﬂ axl=]
/E;/l . \—? j-LEEP_qH + EZ—J-H&
MEEFEZCHRACHEE -

WHEEREL 2B IR EMBERE %
%%E%E%é)?&&‘}éﬁ}ﬁé%ljﬁﬁﬁ TRHAS M O R
REE A A LAHIBR PG T ©

T R AR#)3,370,00008 TE R HERE
R YRR ABE=ZZ—NLFRZ
E_TFZAZT—HIEFEZEZHH
TR R E b 4E 2 B F 473,296,000 7T & 49
74,0007 7T °

QH&ZE%LAX&EI ToTF=A=1—

BB RASEERE AR
53,304,000,%E&Ex:x/m%IJ,%'73,936,000,5
JC °

WRBE—_E-FTF=-A=-1T—HILFE
AR EHEHRZTE—NFNONA—B %
A - BN Bl A ik as Kos B i o RIS i 4Y
4,757,000/ 7T &2 £7401,000/8 7T ©



For the year ended 31 March 2020
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2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$000 HK$'000
TR TET

Contracted but not provided net
of deposit paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 in total.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The retirement scheme
contributions, which are based on a certain percentage of
the salaries of the PRC subsidiaries’ employees, are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year to which they are related
and represented the amount of contributions payable by these
subsidiaries to this scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$1,902,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,034,000)
represents contributions payable to the schemes by the Group
in respect of the current financial year.

ERTHMBE R (FER LB
¥ BEARBENZESE)

11,278 13,993

AEERERHELTESHEEN A
XEBERBEPEEZXEES LN
—IATEBEITCEEIEATESTE ([
Bestdl]) - afEestE A —TEHRB
VREABRZ EREEFURKETE -
BERELTE  BEREESSH
A E S RBWAS% R EIER - &
=9 ARBKRA S EA30,0008 T °
STEIERRENRS B o

ARBERBEXIZZMHBREARTE
BT & 2 B E R RE NG 82
B o RN EIESRIET BB A
AEEZHEE TADLEE » IR
HRBERFEREFASBRaEtEm
W KA - BESLFHE AR
e T2 AT Bl R E R

RigaEE R E M2 WS R
2 #Apk 7R #91,902,00058 T (ZE— N,
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2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FisE FEx FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BENEE 2,296 246
Investments in subsidiaries REBRRZRE 17 - =
2,296 246
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULH B A =) FRIB 17 212,838 164,544
Other receivables Hippeuzom 774 4,345
Cash and cash equivalents B RIES {Elﬁ B 68,350 129,056
281,962 297,945
Current liabilities REBAE
Convertible bond designated as ETEARANTENRTER
financial liabilities at FVPL mNEEERBECH
Bk ES 28 - 217,869
Other payables and accruals HifEMFRIB R EER 4,012 3,077
Lease liabilities HEaRE 974 _
4,986 220,946
Net current assets REEEFE 276,976 76,999
Total assets less current liabilites #EERFBHERS 279,272 77,245
Capital and reserves MRAS K & 6
Share capital (%N 27 76,537 76,537
Reserves (e 27 55,456 708
Total equity g 131,993 77,245
Non-current liabilities *RBaE
Convertible bond designated as EEARATENRITER
financial liabilities at FVPL mNEEZEHBECH]
BRI 28 146,426 —
Lease liabilities HEEE 853 =
147,279 -
279,272 77,245
The statement of financial position was approved and NFERAERBHESEeN _E—-F
22?2%196%1‘8;|?[§ubeetk3]glgt1)<§/ board of directors on 23 June 2020 NA-+ S AR RIERETE - W Hh
TR ATREKERE
Kwan Man Fai Wang Xiangfei
X E EAR
Director Director

EE EF
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Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and relevant to the Group and which
have not been early adopted in these consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to Definition of Material
HKASs 1 and 8
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!
HKFRSs 7 and 9

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions?®
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020

2 Effective to acquisitions occur on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
< The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company are in the process of assessing
the possible impact on the future adoption of these new/revised
HKFRSs, but are not yet in a position to reasonably estimate
their impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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In view of the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) in January 2020 in the PRC, the PRC authority
has taken nation-wide prevention and control measures. The
COVID-19 has certain impacts on the business operation of
the Group and the global economy in general. The extent of
such impacts depends on the duration of the pandemic and
the implementation of regulatory policies and relevant protective
measures. The Group would closely monitor the development
and status of the outbreak of the COVID-19 and continue
to assess its impacts on the financial position and operating
results of the Group and take necessary actions to mitigate any
potential impact brought by the outbreak of COVID-19.

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group was not able to estimate the financial
impact of these event in the future.

ENPER B _FF-AER_-F
—NEFHTI A ([COVID-19]) + F
Bl & M8 B 72 2 B &6 B Y SR ER B H5 4
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
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A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years is set out below.

REVENUE

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

Exchange (loss)/gain, net
Finance costs

Supplemental resources fee
Change in fair value and gain arising

from modification of

convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL

Change in fair value of contingent
consideration receivables

Impairment loss on goodwill

Impairment loss on property,

plant and equipment

Impairment loss on intangible assets

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expenses

(Loss)/profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

gz

- pgil

(B R), WP

BB

BRERE

HBET BELTEIK
YHEBEARIEL S
BB A AREES
ZOVHEEHREL
Wk

AR EZ
ATHERE)

BEREBR

nE - BER
RHRERE

B BERERR

AT (&IR), &7
FSHRX

FR(BR), &
AT AL

Z/NGTE/ ZSUN
Sl S

2020
—g-%f

-

HK$’000
TR

127,989
8,269
(4,672)
(6,952)
(85,688)

71,443

3,009
(3,831)

(18,422)
(6,182)

(24,604)

(33,089)
641

(32,448)

REERBEAEVBREFESAMES &
EXRBEBEIHMESIINT -
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1t—-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016
—T-NEFE —E-N\F ZEtF ZT—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHAT FTHET TET FTHET
75,625 182,445 73,024 59,841
12,359 35,509 13,053 19,209
(6,175) 8,866 (11,490) (7,101)
(964) - (176) (187)
29,373 14,374 56,034 (73,449)
- (3,511) - (3,105)
- (12,618) - (8,907)
34,593 42,620 57,421 (73,540)
(5,750) (5,942) (9,154) (6,068)
28,843 36,678 48,267 (79,608)
17,923 50,349 42,480 (85,924)
11 - - -
17,934 50,349 42,480 (85,924)



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY E & B EHEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

As at 31 March
R=A=1+-—H

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
bt 2l —T—HF T\ —T—+tF —T—F
GLEOOIN  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR FET FHT FET T

Total assets BEE 519,326 536,144 493,720 448,504 456,185
Total liabilities meE (366,261)  (351,461)  (328,004)  (333,137) (383,298
Net assets BESFE 153,065 184,683 165,716 115,367 72,887
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